INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{n} \times 9^{n}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

-

.

University of Alberta

The source and fate of protons in postischemic hearts

By



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduates Studies and Research in partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Pharmacology

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2000

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59623-0

Canadä

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Que Liu

Title of Thesis: The source and fate of protons in postischemic hearts **Degree:** Doctor of Philosophy Year this Degree Granted: 2000

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

1621 Forbes Way Edmonton, AB T6R 2P5

Date: September 2, 2000

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled "The source and fate of protons in postischemic hearts" submitted by Que Liu in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Gany D. Lopaschuk, PhD

Alexander S. Clanachan, PhD

Joe Casey, PhD

Bozena Bielkiewicz-Vollrath, PhD

Grant N. Pierce, PhD

September (1, 2000

Abstract

Introduction: Intracellular acidosis is one of the major triggers for ischemia/ reperfusion injury. This is because the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE1) is activated during reperfusion, resulting in intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload. High rates of fatty acid oxidation during reperfusion may contribute to NHE1 activation by increasing proton (H⁺) production due to an uncoupling of glycolysis with glucose oxidation. This is associated with poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. The present studies determined if increased H⁺ production delays the recovery of intracellular pH (pH_i) during reperfusion and whether reducing H⁺ production or inhibiting NHE1 can improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency.

Methods: An isolated working heart model for measurement of pH_i by ³¹P-NMR was developed. Hearts perfused with [5-³H/U-¹⁴C]glucose (5.5 mM) ± [1-¹⁴C]palmitate (1.2 mM) were subjected to 30 min aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia and 40 or 50 min of reperfusion.

Results: In the presence of palmitate, glucose oxidation was inhibited, causing an increased H^+ production from uncoupled glucose metabolism. Treatment with T_3 stimulated glucose oxidation, reduced H^+ production and improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. If hearts were perfused with glucose alone, or with dichloroacetate (to stimulate glucose oxidation), which significantly reduced H^+ production by improving the coupling of glucose metabolism, accelerated pH_i recovery and improved recovery of cardiac function and efficiency were seen during reperfusion. Inhibition of NHE1 by cariporide also improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency, despite a slower recovery of pH_i . H_2O_2 did not decrease pH_i by improving the coupling of glucose metabolism.

Conclusion: An increased H^+ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism, due to the presence of a high level of fatty acid, significantly delays the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion and contributes to the poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Either reducing H^+ production or inhibition of NHE1 improves the recovery of cardiac efficiency and contractile function. The recovery of pH_i *per se* is not critical for the recovery of cardiac mechanical function and efficiency. It is the clearance of H^+ via the NHE1 that contributes to ischemia/reperfusion injury.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Gary Lopaschuk for his guidance and kind support during my graduate studies, Sandy Clanachan for his valuable input into my work, Bozena Bielkiewicz-vollrath, Joseph R Casey and my examining committee. I would also like to thank John Docherty for his kind help in ³¹P-NMR studies.

I deeply appreciate all the support from my family. Especially, thank you mom and my wife, Catherine Hu, my sister, Xiaoli Liu, who does not understand what I was doing, but cared so much. Thank you my best friend Judith Altarejos, Laura Atkinson, Fadīi Khadour, Jun Sakamoto. I appreciate all of your time and help.

Finally, I would like to thank all my friends throughout my graduate studies, especially: Ro hit Moudgil, Ken Strynadka, Heather Fraser.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table of contents

Chapter	page
(1). Introduction	1
1. Cardiac energy metabolism and the source of H^+	3
1.1 Energy substrate metabolism	4
1.1A Fatty acid metabolism	5
1.1B Glucose and lactate metabolism	7
1.1C Substrate competition	13
1.2 Source of H ⁺	15
2. Fate of H^+ and cardiac contraction function	18
2.1 Roles of NHE in regulation of pH_i and the recovery of	
cardiac mechanical function in postischemic hearts	19
2.1A Structure and localization of NHE1	20
2.1B Regulation of NHE1 activity	21
2.1C NHE1 activity in ischemia and reperfusion	24
2.2 Monocarboxylate carrier and coupling of glucose	
metabolism	29
2.3 Na ⁺ -HCO₃ ⁻ co-transporter	31
2.4 Cl ⁻ -HCO₃ ⁻ exchanger	32
2.5 Vacuolar-H ⁺ ATPase	33
3. Determination of pH _i by ³¹ P-NMR spectroscopy	34
4. Targets for pharmacotherapy: Effects of alteration of energy	

metabolism on pH_i and postischemic recovery of cardiac function 37

Bibliography	51
(2). General experimental methods	72
1. Materials	73
2. Isolated working heart perfusions	73
3. Determination of pH _i by ³¹ P-NMR spectroscopy	76
3.1 Isolated working heart model for ³¹ P-NMR and	
energy metabolism measurements	76
3.2 Experimental conditions for ³¹ P-NMR study	79
4. Measurement of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and	
palmitate oxidation	80
5. Calculation of H ⁺ production from glucose utilization	82
6. Calculation of tricarboxylic acid cycle acetyl-CoA production	82
7. 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and acetyl-CoA	
carboxylase (ACC) assays	82
7.1 Extraction of AMPK and ACC	82
7.2 ACC assay	83
7.3 AMPK assay	84
8. Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase assay	84
9. Pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) assay	86
10. Determination of CoA ester	87
11. Statistical analysis	88
Bibliography	92

(3). Acute effects of triiodothyronine on glucose and fatty acid	
metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic rat hearts	95
1. Introduction	96
2. Methods	98
3. Experimental Protocol	99
4. Results	99
4.1 Effects of T_3 on cardiac mechanical function of	
isolated working hearts subjected to 30 min	
of global no-flow ischemia	99
4.2 Effects of T_3 on glycolysis, glucose oxidation,	
and palmitate oxidation during reperfusion	
of hearts after ischemia	101
4.3 Effects of T_3 on H^+ production rate from glucose	
metabolism	102
4.4 Effects of T_3 on rates of TCA cycle activity	102
5. Discussion	103
Bibliography	118
(4). High levels of fatty acids delay the recovery of pH_i and cardiac	
efficiency in postischemic hearts by inhibiting glucose oxidation	124
1. Introduction	125
2. Methods	127
3. Experimental protocol	128
4. Results	128

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

4.1 Effects of palmitate on baseline cardiac function	128
4.2 Effects of palmitate on the recovery of cardiac	
function and efficiency	129
4.3 Effects of palmitate on glucose metabolism and	
H ⁺ production	129
4.4 Effects of palmitate on the recovery of pHi	130
4.5 Effects of DCA on the recovery of cardiac	
function and efficiency	131
4.6 Effects of DCA on glucose metabolism, H ⁺	
production from glucose metabolism and	
pH _i recovery following ischemia	132
4.7 Effects of palmitate and DCA on the	
recovery of energy phosphates	134
5. Discussion	134
Bibliography	154
(5). Cardiac efficiency in postischemic hearts is improved by either inhibit	ing
Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange or reducing intracellular H ⁺ production	159
1. Introduction	160
2. Methods	161
3. Experimental Protocol	162
4. Results	162
4.1 Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery	
of cardiac function and efficiency	162

4.2 Effects of CAR and DCA on glucose metabolism	
and calculated H ⁺ production	163
4.3 Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of pH_i	
and high energy phosphates	164
5. Discussion	166
Bibliography	183
(6). Effects of H_2O_2 on energy metabolism and pH_i in isolated	
working rat hearts	189
1. Introduction	190
2. Methods	192
3. Experimental Protocol	193
4. Results	193
4.1 Effects of H_2O_2 on cardiac mechanical function	194
4.2 Effects of H_2O_2 on glycolysis and glucose and	
palmitate oxidation	194
4.3 Effects of H_2O_2 on pH_i	195
4.4 Effects of H_2O_2 on malonyl-CoA content and	
MCD activity	195
4.5 Effects of H_2O_2 on AMPK and ACC activity	196
4.6 Effects of H_2O_2 on ratio of TCA cycle activity	
to cardiac work	196
5. Discussion	196
Bibliography	215

(7). General discussion & conclusions	221
Bibliography	230
(8). Future directions	232
Bibliography	236

List of tables

Table	page
1-1. Beneficial effects of NHE inhibitors in the ischemic myocardium.	50
2-1. Comparison of cardiac function between normal working rat	
heart model and working rat heart model for ³¹ P-NMR.	91
3-1. Effects of T_3 on the recovery of mechanical function of	
postischemic working rat hearts	114
3-2. Effect of T_3 on active and total pyruvate dehydrogenase	
activity in hearts reperfused following ischemia.	115
3-3. Effects of T_3 on steady state rates of glycolysis, glucose	
oxidation, and H^{\star} production from glucose utilization	
before and after ischemia.	116
3-4. Effects of T_3 on the source of trica r boxylic acid cycle	
acetyl-CoA production from glucose and fatty oxidation	
in aerobic and postischemic hearts.	117
4-1. Effect of 1.2 mM palmitate on the recovery of mechanical	
function of isolated working rat hearts subjected to global	
no-flow ischemia.	150
4-2. Effects of 1.2 mM palmitate on rates of glycolysis, glucose	
oxidation, and H^{+} production from glucose metabolism	
during reperfusion of ischemic hearts.	151
4-3. Effects of DCA on the recovery of mechanical function	
of isolated working rat hearts subjected to global no-flow ischemia.	152

4-4. Effects of DCA on rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and	
H ⁺ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion	
of ischemic hearts perfused with glucose+palmitate.	153
5-1. Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of mechanical	
function following ischemia of isolated working rat hearts.	181
5-2. Effects of CAR and DCA on rates of glycolysis, glucose	
oxidation, and H^{+} production from glucose metabolism	
during reperfusion of ischemic hearts.	182
6-1. Effects of H_2O_2 on the mechanical function of isolated	
working rat hearts.	212
6-2. Effects of H_2O_2 on steady-state rates of glucose	
oxidation, glycolysis, palmitate oxidation and H ⁺	
production in isolated working hearts.	213
6-3. Effects of H_2O_2 on TCA acetyl-CoA production	
per cardiac work (CW) from glucose oxidation	
and palmitate oxidation in isolated working hearts.	214

List of figures

Figure	Page
1-1. Overall of the pathways of myocardial energy	
substrate metabolism.	45
1-2. Pathways of glucose metabolism and generation of H^+ .	46
1-3. Regulation of the activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH).	47
1-4. Essential versus nonessential fuels.	48
1-5. Putative topological model of 815-amino acid NHE1.	49
2-1. Isolated working rat heart model for ³¹ P-NMR and	
energy metabolism studies.	89
2-2. Original ³¹ P-NMR spectra under control conditions	
(A), after 20 min of ischemia (B) and after 25 min of	
reperfusion (C) in hearts perfused with glucose,	
palmitate and cariporide.	90
3-1. Effects of T_3 on the recovery of cardiac work (A),	
and cardiac efficiency (B) of isolated working hearts	
subjected to 30 min of global no-flow ischemia.	111
3-2. The effects of T_3 on the time course of glycolysis (A),	
glucose oxidation (B), in hearts reperfused after 30	
min of global no-flow ischemia	112
3-3. The effects of T_3 on the time course of palmitate in	
hearts reperfused after 30 min of global no-flow ischemia.	113

4-1 Effects of palmitate on the recovery of cardiac work (A)	
and cardiac efficiency (B) of isolated working rat hearts	
reperfused after ischemia.	143
4-2.Effects of palmitate on the time-course of glycolysis	
(A) and glucose oxidation (B).	144
4-3. Effect of palmitate on pH _i during ischemia and	
reperfusion in isolated working hearts.	145
4-4. Effects of DCA on the recovery of cardiac work	
(A) and cardiac efficiency (B).	146
4-5. Effects of DCA on the time-course of glycolysis	
(A) and glucose oxidation (B).	147
4-6. Effect of DCA on pH _i during ischemia and reperfusion.	148
4-7. PCr, ATP and Pi as percent of baseline values in hearts.	149
5-1. Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of cardiac work	
(A) and cardiac efficiency (B) of isolated working hearts	
reperfused after global no-flow ischemia.	177
5-2. Effects of CAR and DCA on the time-course of glycolysis	
(A) and glucose oxidation (B).	178
5-3. Effects of CAR and DCA on pH _i during ischemia and reperfusion.	179
5-4. PCr, ATP and Pi as percent of baseline values versus time	
in ischemic and postischemic hearts.	180
6-1. Effects of H_2O_2 on cardiac work (A) and cardiac efficiency	
(B) in isolated working rat hearts.	204

6-2. The effect of H_2O_2 on coronary flow during aerobic	
perfusion in isolated working rat hearts.	205
6-3. Effects of H_2O_2 on the time course of glycolysis (A),	
glucose oxidation (B), and palmitate oxidation (C)	
in isolated working rat hearts.	206
6-4. Effect of treatment with H_2O_2 on pH_i in isolated working rat hearts.	207
6-5. Effects of H_2O_2 on PCr, ATP and Pi contents in isolated working	
rat hearts.	208
6-6. Effect of H_2O_2 on malonyl-CoA level in isolated working rat hearts.	209
6-7. Effects of H_2O_2 on MCD activity in isolated working rat hearts.	210
6-8. Effects of H_2O_2 on AMPK and ACC activities in isolated	
working rat hearts.	211

List of abbreviations

- ACC: acetyl CoA carboxylase
- ADP: adenosine diphosphate
- AE: Cl⁻-HCO₃⁻ exchanger
- AMP: adenosine monophosphate
- AMPK: 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase
- ATP: adenosine monophosphate
- CA: carbonic anhydrase
- CAR: cariporide
- CoA: coenzyme-A
- CPT I: carnitine palmitoyltransferase I
- CPT II: carnitine palmitoyltransferase II
- CVR: coronary vascular resistance
- DCA: dichloroacetate
- FID: free induction decay
- GAPDH: glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- H⁺: proton(s)
- LDH: lactate dehydrogenase
- LPL: lipoprotein lipase
- MCD: Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase
- MCT: monocarboxylate carrier
- MVO₂: Myocardial O₂ consumption
- NAD⁺: nicotinamide adenine nucleotide

- NADH: dihydronicotinamide adenine nucleotide
- NCE: Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange
- NHE: Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger
- NHE1: housekeeping isoform of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger
- NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance
- PCr: phosphocreatine
- PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase
- PDHa: active PDH
- PDHt: total PDH
- PFK: phosphofructokinase
- pH_i: intracellular pH
- Pi: inorganic phosphate
- T₃: 3,5,3'-triiodo-L-thyronine
- TCA: tricarboxylic acid
- VLDL: very low-density lipoprotein

Chapter 1

Introduction

A reduction in blood flow to the heart (termed cardiac ischemia) depresses cardiac contractility. These severe reductions in blood flow potentially lead to cell death. This is a serious condition, but it can usually be treated successfully by an early restoration of blood flow (reperfusion), either by by-pass surgery, thrombolytic drugs or angioplasty. However, reperfusion does not always result in a complete recovery of contractile function. It is well known that reperfusion is accompanied by detrimental manifestations known as "reperfusion injury" (see 1 for review). Reperfusion injury refers to an event associated with reperfusion that had not occurred during the preceding ischemic period and can be entirely attenuated by an intervention given during ischemia and reperfusion. It classically includes myocardial stunning, reperfusion arrhythmia and lethal reperfusion injury. This research is concerned with mechanisms that limit the beneficial actions of reperfusion, particularly the sources and the consequences of the excessive production of protons (H⁺) during the critical early period of reperfusion. Specifically, both the production (source) and clearance (fate) of H⁺ in isolated working hearts were pharmacologically altered under carefully controlled conditions of energy supply and demand. In this way, the effects of intracellular H⁺ on cardiac mechanical function and efficiency during reperfusion were investigated. A greater knowledge of the role of H⁺ in reperfusion will help us to formulate strategies to improve the treatment of patients with ischemic diseases.

1. Cardiac energy metabolism and the source of H⁺

As with most living tissue, heart muscle utilizes energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), at a rate of about 200 μ mol • g dry wt⁻¹ • min⁻¹. As the content of ATP is normally about 30 μ mol • g dry wt⁻¹, ATP must be resynthesized as quickly as it is consumed²⁻⁴. Without continuous replenishment, intracellular stores of ATP would be exhausted in < 1 min. This concept finds its expression in the ATP cycle simply depicted in the following equations:

ATP
$$\leftrightarrows$$
 Adenosine diphosphate (ADP) + inorganic phosphate (Pi) + H⁺ (1)
ADP + phosphocreatine (PCr) + H⁺ \leftrightarrows ATP + creatine (2)

The main source of ATP in heart muscle is oxidative phosphorylation of ADP in the respiratory chain. The enzymes of oxidative metabolism are located within the mitochondria. Because of the high energy turnover in heart muscle, the cell volume occupied by mitochondria in myocytes is greater than seen in most other tissues⁵.

During ischemia, oxidative metabolism is inhibited and intracellular acidosis occurs (see 2,3 for review). A number of studies have demonstrated that the recovery of cardiac contractile function is impaired during reperfusion due to the presence of intracellular acidosis (see 1-3 for review). The major source of H^+ during anaerobic metabolism is the hydrolysis of glycolytically produced ATP¹⁻³. The purpose of this thesis research was to re-evaluate this proposal and expand it, taking into account how glucose metabolism might influence H^+ production not only during ischemia but also during reperfusion. The fate of H^+ and its consequences on ion homeostasis were also considered.

1.1 Energy substrate metabolism

Cardiac contractile function is sustained by the hydrolysis of ATP produced mainly from the metabolism of both carbohydrates and fatty acids (Fig. 1-1). ATP production under normal aerobic conditions arises predominantly from the mitochondrial oxidation of acetyl coenzyme-A (CoA), derived from carbohydrates (primarily glucose and lactate), free fatty acids and to a lesser extent, ketone bodies and amino acids^{6,7}. Glucose metabolism (glycolysis and glucose oxidation) is an important source of energy. Glycolysis has the advantage of producing ATP without the requirement of oxygen. Although glycolysis only contributes 5-10% of the overall ATP supply in the normal aerobic heart⁷, it is well known that glycolytic ATP production has a special role in maintaining ion homeostasis within the myocyte^{8,9}. The other major part of glucose metabolism is glucose oxidation, in which pyruvate derived from glycolysis is taken up by mitochondria and decarboxylated by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) to form acetyl CoA, which is further metabolized by the mitochondria, eventually leading to ATP production. The major source of intramitochondrial acetyl CoA arises from the β -oxidation of fatty acids.

Furthermore, as the contribution of fatty acid oxidation as a source of acetyl CoA production increases, the contribution of glucose oxidation as a source of acetyl CoA decreases¹⁰.

1.1A. Fatty acid metabolism

Fatty acids represent the body's main fuel reserve. Because oxidation of long-chain fatty acids releases more than six times as much energy as the oxidation of an equal molar amount of glucose, and because glucose is readily converted into fatty acids, fatty acids represent a substantial, if not the predominant, fuel source for heart muscle^{2,3}.

Fatty acids are present in the blood either as unesterified (free fatty acids), or esterified as triacylglycerols, phospholipid or cholesterol esters. Albumin is a carrier protein in blood plasma, which increases the solubility of free fatty acids. Fatty acid esters (i.e. triacylglycerols) are carried in the blood by carrier molecules. Chylomicrons are triacylglycerol-rich particles formed by epithelial cells of the small intestine. Very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles are also a source of fatty acids for the heart. These particles are synthesized in parenchymal liver cells. Once in the coronary circulation, fatty acids are released from chylomicrons and VLDL particles by the action of a vascular endothelium-bound enzyme, lipoprotein lipase (LPL). The fatty acids bind to albumin and are transported into the myocyte where they are used primarily as energy substrates.

The mechanism by which fatty acids enter the myocyte is not clearly defined. A group of membrane-spanning fatty acid transport proteins has been identified in heart muscle^{11,12}. However, at high concentration, it is reported that fatty acids can passively enter the cell^{12,13}. Once inside the cell, the majority of fatty acids enter the mitochondria to undergo β-oxidation. The activation of longchain fatty acids to long-chain fatty acetyl-CoA esters occurs in the myocyte via an energy-dependent process catalyzed by long-chain fatty acyl-CoA synthetase, an outer mitochondrial membrane-bound protein. Activated long-chain fatty acyl-CoA can also be used for triacylglycerol synthesis in the heart. Fatty acyl-CoA, which is not shunted towards triacylglycerol synthesis, is transported into the mitochondria. This is achieved by carnitine-mediated translocation involving carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT I), carnitine acyltranslocase, and carnitine palmitoyltransferase II (CPT II). Upon entry into the mitochondrial matrix, fatty acids undergo β -oxidation to yield acetyl-CoA, NADH and H⁺, and FADH₂. Acetyl-CoA enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to produce further reducing equivalents for the electron transport chain, and ATP is subsequently generated (Fig 1-1).

The CPT I system is inhibited by physiologic concentrations of malonyl-CoA, the product of acetyl-CoA carboxylation, and was first characterized in the liver, where malonyl-CoA serves as a signal regulating the relative rates of fatty acid oxidation, ketogenesis, and triglyceride synthesis¹⁴. Although the heart is not a lipogenic organ, malonyl-CoA is present there¹⁵, and the inhibition of cardiac CPT I by malonyl-CoA has been demonstrated¹⁶. Although there is no direct evidence, it is speculated that malonyl-CoA may play an important role in substrate competition between fatty acids and glucose. It is noteworthy that, in the isolated perfused working heart, glucose suppresses the oxidation of [¹⁴C]octanoate, a short-chain fatty acid that does not require the CPT system for transport across the inner mitochondrial membrane¹⁷. It is possible that acetyl-CoA production from glucose oxidation may inhibit fatty acid oxidation (see 1.1C section for details). It is also noteworthy that ischemia reverses the inhibition of CPT I by malonyl-CoA, most likely through a modification in elaborate, thus making available increased amounts of palmitoyl-carnitine for possible oxidation on reperfusion¹⁸.

1.1B. Glucose and lactate metabolism

Glucose uptake

One of the other major energy substrates for the heart is glucose. Generally, glucose is transported into myocytes by a facilitative transporter (GLUT 1), which may be responsible for basal glucose uptake. Insulin can increase glucose uptake by activating the translocation of GLUT 4 transporters from intracellular pools to the plasma membrane^{19,20}. In normal heart muscle, cardiac work, the availability of alternate substrates as well as plasma glucose and insulin concentrations, act in concert as the most important factors regulating glucose uptake²¹. Ferrannini et al²² found that hyperinsulinemia specifically enhances glucose uptake, converts fuel reliance from fatty acids to carbohydrate

7

without changing O₂ consumption, and does not affect cardiac hemodynamics and external work in human heart. Myocardial glucose uptake is also determined by the dietary state²³, by O₂ availability²⁴⁻²⁶ and by hormones that, in addition to insulin and glucagon, include catecholamines²⁷ and thyroid hormone²⁸. The exact mechanisms by which the physiologic environment regulates glucose uptake are not yet clear. Once inside the cell, glucose is phosphorylated by hexose kinase and can then be shunted to glycogen synthesis or shuttled through glucose phosphate isomerase and into glycolysis.

Glycogen turnover

A storage form of glucose in the myocardium is glycogen. Glycogen is a large molecule with a branched structure and a molecular weight of about 107 kDa²⁹. Although glycogen is more abundant in cardiac than skeletal muscle, the function of the large amount of glycogen in cardiac muscle (up to 2% of the cell volume) is not entirely clear³⁰. Glycogen granules are abundant in the cytoplasm of cardiac myocytes throughout fetal development³¹, and glycolysis is the predominant source of ATP production immediately after birth³². The high concentration of glycogen in fetal cardiac muscle may explain why the heart can maintain its contractile activity in the face of severe hypoxia³³. The glucose preference of the newborn heart suggests that the fetal and newborn heart rely on glucose as the main substrate for energy production.

The control of glycogen metabolism is complex in that the synthetic pathway (involving glycogen synthase) and the degradative pathway (involving glycogen phosphorylase) are separate. The combined effects of protein phosphorylation and dephosphorylation on glycogen synthase and phosphorylase provide an interlocking system by which hormones (such as epinephrine) and mechanical activity (through Ca²⁺) can control the net flux of glucose-1-phosphate into and out of the glycogen stores^{34,35}. Epinephrine-induced cAMP formation promotes protein phosphorylation and simultaneously inhibits glycogen synthesis while stimulating glycogen breakdown, whereas stimulation of protein dephosphorylation by insulin shifts the balance toward glycogen synthesis.

Excess rates of glycogen breakdown during ischemia have been considered deleterious to the recovery of contractile function³⁶. It has been reported that glycogen depletion and the attenuation of intracellular acidosis during ischemia are important factors in delaying irreversible injury and reducing infarct size in a rat model of myocardial preconditioning^{3,37,38}. However, other investigators found the opposite: enhanced glycogen stores improved contractile function in the postischemic heart^{39,40}. It is speculated that glycogen has a physiologic role apart from its role as fuel reserve that may involve its role as an "anchoring molecule" for other macromolecular cell constituents⁴¹.

Glucose and lactate metabolism:

Glucose metabolism can be separated into two pathways (Fig.1-1,1-2). The first pathway involves the anaerobic catalysis (glycolysis) of one glucose molecule to two pyruvate molecules. The rate-limiting step of this pathway during aerobic perfusion of the heart is catalyzed by phosphofructokinase (PFK). During situations where oxygen supply is limited (ischemia or hypoxia), the enzyme glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) becomes rate-limiting⁴². Pyruvate from glycolysis can pass into a second pathway where it is metabolized by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) to form acetyl-CoA for the TCA cycle. Alternatively, pyruvate can be reduced by NADH to form lactate, or be transaminated to form alanine or be carboxylated to form oxaloacetate. Lactate and most of the alanine are formed in the cytosol by near-equilibrium reactions, and both metabolites may be washed out from the cell. In well-oxygenated, working heart muscle, the bulk of pyruvate, however, enters mitochondria for oxidation. For every glucose molecule that passes through glycolysis to produce two pyruvate molecules, 2 ATP are produced.

Lactate and pyruvate can be transported into cell via a monocarboxylate carrier (MCT)⁴³ (see section 2.3 for details). Lactate is oxidized by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) to form pyruvate and NADH and further utilized for energy production. The exact contribution of lactate to overall ATP production in the heart is a matter of controversy. Worth of mention, the inner mitochondrial membrane represents a barrier to charged molecules. Specific transporter

mechanisms are required to enable transport of specific metabolites through the lipid bilayer. Monocarboxylate carrier of inner mitochondrial membrane is the transporter of pyruvate. Once pyruvate enters the mitochondria, it may undergo either decarboxylation to acetyl-CoA or carboxylation to oxaloacetate. The capture of metabolically produced CO_2 from the pyruvate dehydrogenase reaction to form acetyl-CoA provides an example for the efficient use of one substrate providing two precursors for citrate synthesis and efficient recycling of CO_2^{44} .

Regulation of glycolysis

Lack of O₂, clinically encountered in the context of ischemia, enhances flux through the glycolytic pathway that in turn augments substrate level phosphorylation of ADP and the formation of lactate. Other stimulants of flux through the glycolytic pathway are increases in cardiac work, short term exercise⁴⁵, hypertrophy⁴⁶ or sustained hypertension⁴⁷.

The catabolism of glucose-6-phosphate in the glycolytic pathway exhibits two major control sites: PFK and GAPDH. Allosteric control of PFK provides for large changes in catalytic activity: PFK activity is increased by insulin, ADP, AMP, Pi, fructose 1,6 bis-phosphate, fructose 2,6 bis-phosphate, cAMP, and ammonium ions. PFK activity is decreased by ATP, intracellular acidosis, PCr, and citrate (see 48,49 for review). During ischemia, GAPDH becomes ratelimiting for glycolysis. The activity of GAPDH is decreased by NADH and 1,3diphosphoglycerate, while insulin, AMP, ADP, glucose 1-phosphate and fructose 6-phosphate increase its activity⁴⁸.

Oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate assumes a central position in the regulation of fuel supply to the heart. A system of intricate control mechanisms governs both activation and inactivation of PDH (Fig.1-3). Like most mammalian tissues, heart muscle possesses both active (dephosphorylated) and inactive (phosphorylated) pyruvate dehydrogenase, of which normally about 20% is in the active form⁵⁰. The relative amount of active PDH (PDHa) increases with an increase in workload. PDHa may decline to only 1% to 5% of total PDH (PDHt) during starvation and in diabetes⁵¹, that is, when noncarbohydrate substrates become the main fuel for respiration. Both PDH kinase and PDH phosphate phosphatase are probably active *in vivo*, and the relative proportion of active PDH must therefore be dependent on the relative activities of kinase and phosphatase as well as the intramitochondrial concentration of the effectors of these enzymes.

PDH, which irreversibly commits glucose-derived carbon to oxidation by the TCA cycle, is highly regulated in oxidative heart tissue (Fig.1-3). During reperfusion, heart muscle is exposed to high levels of fatty acids^{52,53}. Increased plasma free fatty acid concentrations promote increased intramitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation, raising acetyl-CoA/CoA and NADH/NAD⁺ ratios. This activates PDH kinase, which phosphorylates and inactivates PDH (see 54 for review). PDH is also subject to feed-forward regulation whereby increased concentrations of glycolytically-derived or LDH-derived pyruvate inhibit PDH kinase and thus activate PDH by allowing the PDH phosphatase activity to predominate^{55,56}. Another mechanism of regulation of PDH in the heart is activation by increased workload or β -adrenoceptor agonism⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹, which facilitate provision of energy from carbohydrates for contractile work. This is probably mediated by an increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ concentration, thereby activating PDH phosphatase and raising PDH activity⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹.

1.1C. Substrate competition

Because of the omnivorous nature of the heart, glucose, lactate, fatty acids, ketone bodies are converted to acetyl-CoA and compete for the fuel of respiration. The relative predominance of one fuel over another depends on the arterial substrate concentration (which, in the case of fatty acids, ketone bodies, and lactate, can vary over a wide range), on hormonal influences, on workload, and on O₂ supply⁶. Although fatty acid oxidation can be almost completely suppressed when ketone bodies are abundant⁶⁰, there is a constant rate of carbohydrate use. The need for glucose or lactate is most likely due to the need for pyruvate carboxylation and anaplerosis to replenish the TCA cycle intermediates⁶⁰. This is because pyruvate (from glucose or lactate) can generate both acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate for the citrate synthase reaction, while fatty acids and ketone bodies can only provide acetyl-CoA (Fig.1-4). It has been shown that lactate at the relatively high concentration of 40 mM suppresses

glucose uptake by 90% in the isolated working rat heart, whereas β -hydroxybutyrate at the same concentration suppresses glucose uptake only by 64%⁶¹. These findings suggest that the fuels for cardiac energy metabolism can be grouped into essential fuels, which provide both acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate and include glucose, lactate, pyruvate and into nonessential fuels, which provide only acetyl-CoA and include fatty acids of all chain lengths, ketone bodies and amino acids⁶⁰.

Fatty acids are the preferred fuel for respiration in the fasted state⁶², but even in the presence of high concentrations of fatty acids or ketone bodies, a certain amount of glucose continues to be oxidized⁶³. Thus, glucose oxidation appears to be important for cardiac function. From the studies of Randle et al^{64,50}, we know that there is a hierarchy of fuel selection: the oxidation of fatty acids suppresses glucose oxidation (through inhibition of PDH). Almost 20 years later, Taegtmeyer et al⁶³ showed that the reverse is also the case: glucose suppresses the oxidation of long-chain fatty acids. Furthermore, Lopaschuk et al⁵² have shown that fatty acid levels in the blood are markedly elevated after myocardial ischemia. Many factors could account for these high levels of plasma fatty acids, including endogenous and exogenous catecholamine release, heparin administration, cardioplegic agents, and the volume or metabolic status of the patients. High rates of fatty acid oxidation inhibit glucose oxidation, which results in a marked imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation⁶⁵. This is associated with poor recovery of cardiac function. Although the importance of
Many factors contribute to the selection of energy-providing fuels for the heart. According to Krebs et al⁶⁷, these factors may be classified under the following three main categories: 1) concentration of the fuel in the tissue; 2) the presence of the enzymes required for degradation; 3) the kinetic properties of the key enzymes, especially of those that initiate the release of energy. Each of these three main factors depends on a variety of components. The entry of fuels into the cell, as well as synthesis and degradation of stored fuel reserves, is controlled by hormones such as insulin and epinephrine and by other environmental factors, with cAMP and a cascade of intracellular signals acting as second messengers.

1.2. Source of H⁺

During ischemia, when the supply of O₂ becomes limiting for oxidative phosphorylation, both fatty acid and carbohydrate oxidation decrease and ATP production is impaired. Glycolysis and glycogenolysis initially increase in an attempt to compensate for this decrease in ATP supply. Anaerobic glycolysis, while potentially beneficial due to its ability to generate ATP in the absence of O₂, may also be detrimental. During severe ischemia the beneficial effect of

glycolysis is overshadowed by the accumulation within the myocardial cell of glycolytic by-products, particularly H⁺ and lactate^{65,68,69}.

While considerable debate has focused on the potential benefits or harm associated with glycolysis uncoupled from glucose oxidation during ischemia, relatively little attention has been paid to the importance of this coupling during the critical period of reperfusion.

When glucose is metabolized by glycolysis followed by oxidation, with the associated synthesis and hydrolysis of ATP, the net production of H^+ is zero. This is because the extra H^+ derived from ATP produced by glycolysis combines with pyruvate and is transported into the mitochondria via the monocarboxylate carrier (see 70 for review) and is consumed in the TCA cycle to produce NADH, which is further utilized for ATP production. However, if glycolysis is uncoupled from glucose oxidation such that the rate of glycolysis exceeds that of glucose oxidation, there is a net production of two H^+ per molecule of glucose that passes through glycolysis that is not oxidized^{8,65} (see following equation).

H⁺ production from glucose metabolism:

1. Glycolysis + aerobic disposal of pyruvate

glucose \rightarrow 6 CO₂ + 6 H₂O

2. Glycolysis + no aerobic disposal of pyruvate

glucose \rightarrow 2 lactate⁻ + 2 H⁺

16

 H^+ production rate = 2 × (glycolysis rate- glucose oxidation rate)

In the presence of high levels of fatty acicls, which preferentially inhibit glucose oxidation, the uncoupling of glycolysis and glucose oxidation, even in the absence of ischemia, is a major source of H⁺ production^{8,65,71}. In most clinical situations of reperfusion, the heart muscle is exposed to high levels of fatty acids and this is associated with poor recovery of cardilac function^{52,53}. If hearts are aerobically reperfused after ischemia, fatty acid oxidation guickly recovers to rates that can equal or exceed the preischem ic rate^{7,72,73}. The fatty acid oxidation rate during reperfusion of ischemic hearts is high due to a "dysregulation" of this pathway. Previous studies have shown malonyl CoA, a potent inhibitor of CPT 1⁷⁴, is a key factor requilating changes in fatty acid oxidation in the postischemic heart^{75,76}. This occurs due to a decrease in malonyl CoA production by acetyl CoA carboxylasse (ACC), which is inhibited by 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷. During reperfusion AMPK is activated, while ACC is inhibited. A decrease of production of malonyl CoA occurs, resulting in an acceleration of fatty acid oxidation⁷⁵⁻⁷⁸. High rates of fatty acid β-oxidation dramatically inhibits glucose oxiciation^{65,72}, which results in a marked imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation. Therefore, uncoupling of glycolysis from glucose oxidation, which is enhanced during ischemia, persists during reperfusion. The resulting continued production of H⁺ may maintain intracellular acidosis developed d uring ischemia and slow the recovery of intracellular pH (pH_i) during reperfusion. This may explain the

17

depressed cardiac contractile function that has been noted during reperfusion^{72,78}. The poor recovery of cardiac function in postischemic hearts may occur either by a direct action of acidosis on the contractile apparatus^{79,80} or indirectly via an increased consumption of ATP for the correction of the associated ionic imbalances^{81,82}. Thus, while a minimal level of glycolysis is essential for cell survival, excessive rates of glycolysis can be detrimental. Although the detrimental effects of intracellular acidosis generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism during ischemia are well demonstrated, no studies to date have directly assessed the actual contribution of H⁺ production from glucose metabolism to the recovery of cardiac efficiency (Cardiac work/MVO₂) and rates of recovery of pH_i during reperfusion.

2. Fate of H⁺ and cardiac contractile function

To maintain contractility, the cardiac cell needs to regulate its pH_i closely, considering the dramatic effects of changes in pH_i on ionic conductances, metabolic processes, Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ homeostasis, and myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity^{79,80,83}. In cardiac cells, as in any given cell, steady-state pH_i is strictly maintained within a narrow range at relatively alkaline values (7.1-7.2). To regulate its pH_i, the mammalian cardiac cell possesses at least five membrane ionic transporters. The activation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE)⁴³, the Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ co-transporter⁴⁴, the lactate-H⁺ co-transporter⁸⁴, or the vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase⁸⁷ induces intracellular alkalinisation, while activation of the Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻

exchanger triggers acidification⁸⁸. Among these different pH regulating ionic transporters, the NHE has been the most studied in various tissues including the This is because NHE plays an important role in the regulation of heart. intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ levels during reperfusion (see the following section). The physiologic significance of other H^+ extrusion pathways is less clear. However, the activities and relative importance of each of these H⁺ extrusion pathways may be influenced by: 1) level of expression of the protein, 2) individual ionic transmembrane gradients. 3) regulation in response to a number of neurohumoral and transduction factors, and 4) drug-induced alteration of activity. The mechanisms for regulating the fate of myocardial H^{+} may assume greater importance in the etiology of mechanical dysfunction under conditions of high levels of fatty acids, that enhance H⁺ production due to inhibition of glucose oxidation and subsequent impairment of the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation. Such conditions are present clinically and were mimicked in the present studies (see Chapter 2).

2.1 Roles of NHE in regulation of pH_i and the recovery of cardiac mechanical function in postischemic hearts

NHE plays a critical role in the regulation of pH_i by removing H⁺ that are continuously generated during ischemia and reperfusion. NHE1, the so-called housekeeping isoform, is ubiquitously distributed in most tissues and is the primary NHE subtype found in the mammalian cardiac cell⁸⁹⁻⁹¹. There are at

present five known NHE isoforms in the plasma membrane of mammalian cells⁸⁹⁻

⁹¹. The function of NHE is the regulation of pH_i and cell volume through extrusion of H⁺ in exchange for Na⁺ influx in a 1:1 stoichiometric relationship, rendering the process electroneutral⁹². Although NHE is a major regulator of pH_i it may share this function with a number of other cellular homeostatic pH regulatory systems, as referred to above. Whereas the localization of the other NHE isoforms appears to be restricted to the plasma membrane, the possibility that NHE6 is a mitochondrial isoform suggests that this subtype may regulate mitochondrial function particularly with respect to intramitochondrial Na⁺ and H⁺ levels⁹³. This also suggests that NHE6 may play an important role in the regulation of energy metabolism.

2.1A. Structure and localization of NHE1

Fig. 1-5 represents the putative topological model for the mammalian NHE1, which consists of the following 2 principal domains: a 500–amino acid transmembrane domain and a 315–amino acid highly hydrophilic carboxyl-terminus cytoplasmic domain. The number of membrane-spanning units differs according to NHE isoform type. NHE1 contains 12 such spanning regions that are critical for the maintenance of NHE1 function in terms of H⁺ extrusion. The hydrophilic cytoplasmic region plays an important role in modulation of the exchanger, especially through phosphorylation-dependent reactions⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶. Although the predicted molecular mass of NHE1 is 91 kDa, the protein is glycosylated and its apparent molecular mass is 110 kDa.

A recent study suggested that NHE1 is localized primarily in the intercalated disk region of atrial and ventricular myocytes in close proximity to connexin 43 and, to a lesser degree, at the transverse tubular system⁹⁷. The significance of such localization of NHE1 is not clear, but it may implicate the exchanger in cell-to-cell ion-dependent communication via gap junctions, as well as the regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels through proton-dependent modulation of Ca^{2+} channels in transverse tubules.

2.1B. Regulation of NHE1 activity

Intracellular acidosis is the major stimulus for NHE1 activation⁹⁸. However, its activity is inhibited by increased extracellular H⁺, by analogues of amiloride including dimethylamiloride (DMA) or newly investigated agents such as HOE694, HOE642 (cariporide) or EMD 85131⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹. Intracellular Na⁺ ([Na⁺]_i) is unlikely to be a major regulator within the physiological range (7 to 16 mM)⁹⁸, although about a 10-fold concentration difference across the membrane occurs ([Na⁺]₀/[Na⁺]_i = 142/16). The NHE1 has a steep relationship between the internal pH and activity⁹⁰. At low pH_i (pH≤6.5), the exchanger is maximally active. The Hill coefficient of activation in the myocardium is near 3, steeper than in some other cell types⁹⁰. This results in maximal activation over a narrow pH range¹⁰².

Phosphorylation of NHE1 by protein kinases

The regulation of NHE isoforms by various kinase pathways has been studied in both native tissues as well as in tissues deficient in endogenous exchanger activity. Pouysseyur's group first demonstrated that the NHE1 is a phosphorylated glycoprotein under *in vivo* conditions¹⁰³. Increased phosphorylation was observed after stimulation by thrombin or EGF and was associated with cytoplasmic alkalization, suggesting enhanced Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Phosphorylation was restricted to serine residues, and purification and trypsin digestion of NHE1 yielded similar phosphopeptides for both stimuli¹⁰⁴.

Phosphopeptide mapping of NHE1 and expressed deletion mutants revealed that the major phosphorylation sites all mapped to the cytoplasmic segment, while the transmembrane segments do not appear to be phosphorylated^{105,106}. Several isoforms of NHE have been found to be activated or inhibited by stimulation of tyrosine kinase receptors (see 90,107 for review). Stimulating protein kinases PKA, PKC or PKG either directly or via upstream receptors coupled to heterotrimetric G-proteins will also regulate NHE1 activity¹⁰⁷. This includes receptors for β -adrenoceptor agonists which are coupled to protein kinase A, angiotensin II and several drugs acting on PKC, and atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) which leads to stimulation of PKG¹⁰⁷. PKG seems to be essential for the action of ANP on NHE since cGMP, generated from GTP by particulate guanylate cyclase coupled to the ANP receptor, has no direct effect on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange, in contrast to an apical Na⁺ channel which is directly regulated by cGMP¹⁰⁸.

Calcium/calmodulin (CaM)

It has been shown that NHE1 itself is also a Ca²⁺/CaM-binding protein (see 90, 107 for review) and direct phosphorylation of NHE1 by Ca²⁺/CaM/PK II has been shown using an *in vitro* phosphorylation assay¹⁰⁹. Binding experiments with CaM-sepharose and dansylated calmodulin⁶⁹ showed that NHE1 binds CaM in a strictly Ca²⁺-dependent manner. Two different binding sites, one with a high affinity (Kd~20 nM) and one with a relatively low affinity (Kd~350 nM), could be identified and located to amino acids 636-656 (termed region A), and amino acids 664-684 (termed region B), respectively^{109,110}. These regions are rich in positively charged amino acids (Arg, Lys, His) and almost completely lack negatively charged amino acids (Asp or Glu), a common feature of many calmodulin binding proteins. The high affinity CaM-binding region A is involved in the activation of NHE1 in response to growth factor and osmotic stress, the direct binding of Ca²⁺/CaM to region A may be a key event in the Ca²⁺-involved activation of NHE1. It is hypothesized that CaM-binding region A functions as an "autoinhibitory domain" and that Ca²⁺/CaM activates NHE1 by binding to region A and thus abolishing its inhibitory effect¹⁰⁶.

ATP dependence of NHE1

In all cases studied to date, the exchange reaction appears to be reversible and driven solely by the transmembrane chemical gradients of H^+ and Na⁺ (H⁺ gradient is the major force). Transport is generally believed to be

passive, not requiring expenditure of metabolic energy. However, it is now well established that in intact cells depletion of ATP induces a marked depression of the rate of exchange^{111,112}. The mechanism whereby ATP modulates NHE1 remains obscure. Although speculative, it is possible that very low ATP levels in the ischemic myocytes counter the stimulatory effect of intracellular acidosis on NHE1 activity.

H⁺ sensor

It is well known that intracellular acidosis is the major activator of NHE1. However, the detailed mechanisms regarding H⁺ activation of NHE1 is not clear. It has been suggested that approximately 60% of proton-removal capability of the cardiac cell is accomplished via NHE1¹¹³. NHE1 activity is regulated by hormones, paracrine/autocrine regulators, and mechanical stimuli such as hyperosmotic challenge, mostly via phosphorylation reactions⁹⁹, resulting in increased affinity of the so-called H⁺ sensor^{105,106} (Fig. 1-5). Although the nature of this sensor, which is responsible for the exquisite sensitivity of NHE1 to changes in pH_i, is poorly understood, there is evidence¹⁰⁰ that H⁺ binding triggers a protein conformational change within an NHE1 oligomer resulting in NHE1 activation. The sensitivity of the H⁺ sensor is mainly regulated by distinct regions of the C-terminal, and agonists that activate NHE1 via phosphorylation reactions shift the pH_i -NHE1 activity curve toward the alkaline range, that is, there is greater activity at less acidic pH_i. It is thought that somewhere between amino acids 515-595 reside the amino acids required for maintenance of "normal" intracellular H⁺ sensitivity¹¹⁴.

2.1C. NHE1 activity in ischemia and reperfusion

The contribution of NHE1 to pH_i regulation under normal aerobic conditions is controversial as a number of studies indicate that the system does not operate when pH_i is within normal limits. Undoubtedly, NHE1 plays an important role in the regulation of pHi and cardiac function in the ischemic and reperfused myocardium. Ischemia-induced acidosis represents the major stimulus for NHE1 activation with further stimulation by phosphorylationdependent processes. In addition to activity, NHE1 mRNA levels are also increased in both the ischemic myocardium as well as in hearts exposed to cardiotoxic ischemic metabolites,^{115,116} including lysophosphatidylcholine¹¹⁶, suggesting that a cardiac insult increases NHE1 expression. There are extensive data showing that NHE1 has a critical role in the postischemic heart. During reperfusion, extracellular pH quickly recovers, while pH_i remains low. This results in a H⁺ gradient across the plasma membrane and NHE1 is hyperactivated. Efflux of H⁺ by NHE1 is rapid and is accompanied by increases in intracellular Na⁺. Since Na⁺-K⁺ ATPase is inhibited due to ATP depletion during ischemia, the accumulation of Na⁺ leads to Ca²⁺ overload via Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange (NCE)¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁰.

The cardiac NCE mediates the counter-transport of 3 Na⁺ for 1 Ca²⁺ across the sarcolemmal membrane. It is a bidirectional transport process, capable of moving Ca²⁺ in either direction across the sarcolemma, depending on membrane potential and the transmembrane gradients of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺. There are 2 possibilities for the mode of operation of the NCE during ischemia/reperfusion¹²¹. First, NCE may continue in the normal, Ca²⁺ efflux. mode during ischemia⁶⁸. In this mode, accumulation of intracellular Na⁺ due to activation of NHE slows down intracellular Ca²⁺ efflux, resulting in intracellular Ca^{2+} overload. Second (reverse mode). NCE could operate in the Ca^{2+} influx mode during ischemia/reperfusion¹²¹, leading to increased intracellular Ca²⁺. Under this condition, intracellular Na⁺ efflux due to huge accumulation of Na⁺ triggers Ca²⁺ influx during ischemia/reperfusion. NCE involvement in ischemia and reperfusion injury has recently been suggested by the finding that such injury is enhanced in hearts of mice overexpressing this exchanger¹²¹. The fact that injury is exacerbated in mice that overexpress NCE could also be taken to suggest that this exchanger actively participates in injury possibly by increasing Ca^{2+} influx through a reverse mode process.

It has been suggested¹²² that activation of the NHE1 at the time of reflow represents a major component of reperfusion injury. This would contribute to restoration of pH_i . On the basis of the concepts discussed in the preceding section, the concomitant Na⁺ influx would increase [Ca²⁺]_i through the NCE.

Surprisingly, there is still uncertainty as to whether inhibiting NHE1 during ischemia accenuates intracellular acidosis. One study showed that the NHE1 inhibitor, DMA, resulted in greater acidification during ischemia and slower recovery from acidosis after reperfusion¹²². Although this is strongly suggestive for a role of NHE1 in the regulation of pH_i during ischemia per se, other investigators have failed to demonstrate this effect with ethylisobutylamiloride or HOE642 despite the ability of these drugs to attenuate Na⁺ loading and improve ventricular recovery¹²³. This may have arisen because of the ability of other pHregulatory processes, such as the Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ exchanger or the lactate-H⁺ cotransporter, to compensate for NHE1 inhibition. It remains controversial whether activation of NHE1 occurs during ischemia or during reperfusion or both. There are two possible mechanisms that may contribute to the above discrepancy: 1) Different degrees of ischemia may differentially affect NHE1 activity. During mild ischemia, NHE1 may be activated due to less extracellular H⁺ accumulation. In contrast, during severe ischemia, NHE1 could be inhibited due to extracellular H⁺ overload. It is not clear whether lactate itself, one of the major metabolic products of ischemia, affects NHE1 activity. 2) Intracellular ATP levels play an important role in the maintenance of activity of NHE1^{111,112}. Although NHE1 mediated flux of Na^+ and H^+ across the membrane is a passive process. depletion of intracellular ATP content has been shown to inhibit its activity^{111,112}. Thus, during severe ischemia, the dramatic decrease in ATP may inhibit NHE1 activity. Therefore, inhibition of this exchanger may not affect the concentrations of intracellular Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and H⁺. In contrast, NHE1 activity may be more active

during reperfusion due to partial recovery of ATP production. However, the role of the extent of recovery of ATP production and content on NHE1 activity has not been addressed.

A number of experimental and clinical studies have demonstrated that inhibition of NHE1 can significantly improve cardiac function after ischemia. As summarized in the Table 1, these effects include enhanced contractility, reduced hypercontracture, and a decrease in the incidence of arrhythmia. Cariporide, a potent NHE1-selective inhibitor, exerts dramatic protective effects in various experimental models and in terms of numerous parameters under both *in vitro* and *in vivo* situations. This may explain the relatively rapid development of this drug for clinical use as a cardioprotective strategy. Likewise, the benzoylguanidine compound EMD 85131 has recently been shown to exert potent infarct-reducing effects in a canine occlusion-reperfusion model, which has also resulted in its entry into the clinical arena¹²⁴.

Recently, the GUARDIAN (Guard During Ischemia Against Necrosis) study, a Phase II/Phase III double-blind, randomized placebo-controlled study of >11,500 patients, assessed different doses of cariporide (HOE642) in individuals with acute coronary syndromes¹²⁵. This study failed to demonstrate an overall significant attenuation (10%) of the 2 primary events, mortality and incidence of myocardial infarction; however, favorable effects among the 3 major subgroups were observed in those patients receiving the highest dose (120 mg every 8

28

hours) of the drug, including a significant event rate reduction in high-risk patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. These results are therefore encouraging, especially given that the study also represented a dose-finding component, and overall support the concept that NHE1 inhibition represents a safe, therapeutic approach for cardioprotection that undoubtedly deserves further attention.

Studies by Maddaford et al¹²⁶ have confirmed cardioprotective properties of DMA and it has been reported that DMA improves cardiac efficiency without altering glucose metabolism⁷⁸. Thus, manipulation of the fate of H⁺ via NHE pathway affects the recovery of mechanical function independent of H⁺ production from glucose metabolism.

2.2 Monocarboxylate carrier (MCT) and coupling of glucose metabolism

Efflux of H⁺ may also occur by MCT that is stimulated by intracellular H⁺ and lactate overload produced by glycolysis⁸⁶. Efflux of H⁺ by MCT may have a potential advantage since the deleterious consequences of Na⁺ accumulation are avoided. Studies by Wang et al¹²⁷ have demonstrated the existence of two distinct MCT subtypes in heart cells (MCT1 and MCT2), with both of these carriers being present in the same myocyte. Both transporters have a stoichiometry of 1 lactate: 1H⁺. Three important conclusions can be drawn from characterization of MCT in the heart cell membrane: 1) MCT is able to transport

L-lactate acid into and out of the heart at rates sufficient to keep pace with the normal requirements of the heart. However, in the working heart using lactate as a major energy source, the transporter may operate close to its maximal capacity, and under extreme conditions, such as during hypoxia and severe ischemia, the carrier may actually limit the rate of lactic acid efflux from the heart¹²⁷. In the hypoxic heart, the rate of lactate efflux can significantly exceed calculated maximal rates of lactate efflux by the carrier⁸⁶. Presumably, any efflux of lactate in excess of that catalyzed by the carrier must occur by free diffusion under this condition. 2) The relatively low K_m value of the carrier for pyruvate (<0.2 mM) may explain why pyruvate efflux from the perfused heart occurs at a rate faster than L-lactate (K_m=2 mM) at the same intracellular concentration¹²⁸. The physiologic significance of this is not clear. 3) Of importance, the presence of MCT in mitochondria enables rapid entry of pyruvate (instead of lactate) and H⁺ into the mitochondria when they are to be oxidized (see 129 for review). This is very important for glycolysis coupling with glucose oxidation since 2 H⁺ produced from glycolysis combined with 2 pyruvate enter the mitochondria and are consumed by the TCA cycle to produce NADH, which is further utilized for ATP production.

In ischemia, the rate of glycolysis increases as the heart seeks to maintain tissue ATP concentrations to drive contraction and preserve ionic homeostasis. In severe ischemia, the lack of blood flow does not allow the lactic acid that is transported out of the cell to be carried away. Thus, inhibition of net lactic acid efflux from the cell rapidly ensues, because efflux and influx rates soon equilibrate. Meanwhile, pyruvate can not be oxidized and is therefore converted into lactate via LDH (glycolysis uncoupled with glucose oxidation) within the cytoplasm. As lactate accumulates within the cell, it may itself have detrimental effects on ionic homeostasis and heart function,¹³⁰⁻¹³² but the greater effect is through the concomitant buildup of H⁺ and consequent decrease in pH_i. This is known to inhibit glycolysis and hence limit further ATP production, as well as having a direct effect on the contractile machinery^{133,134}.

During reperfusion, pH_i returns to normal through the operation of H⁺ extrusion pathways. Because lactic acid efflux from the cell is a necessary consequence of increased glycolysis, it would seem likely that MCT may also be regulated in this manner. It is clear that heart cells contain at least 2 MCT isoforms, MCT1 is confined to the intercalated disk region⁸⁸ (similar to NHE1) and is used to transport lactate, pyruvate into cells for oxidation and between cells through the intercalated disks. Other MCT isoforms may be more important for the loss of lactate and H⁺ during ischemia and reperfusion. It will be interesting for future studies to identify the "heart specific" isoform and characterize its kinetic properties and substrate specificity in order to see how these may relate to the physiologic and pathologic function of the heart and cardiac glucose metabolism.

2.3 Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ co-transporter

A Na⁺- and HCO₃⁻ - dependent transporter is present in cardiac myocytes that increases pH_i by neutralizing intracellular protons^{85,135}. However, as in the case of NHE1, activation of this system may also cause Na⁺ and hence Ca²⁺ overload. Previous studies have shown that it is involved in the regulation of myocardial pH_i¹³⁶, but it may have a lesser role in the regulation than NHE1. It is estimated that in normal myocytes, the contribution of the total efflux of H⁺ equivalents by the NHE1 and of the Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ co-transporter carriers to be 69% and 31%, respectively, at pH_i 6.90, and 67% and 33%, respectively, at pH_i 6.75⁸⁵. It is possible that Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ co-transporter may play a greater role in the regulation of pH_i in the presence of NHE1 inhibition. A recent study has shown that simultaneous inhibition of NHE1 and Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ co-transporter is needed to protect myocardial cells against reoxygenation-induced hypercontracture¹³⁷. That suggests that inhibition of this co-transporter may attenuate Na⁺ and subsequently Ca²⁺ influx.

2.4 Cl⁻-HCO₃⁻ exchanger (anion exchanger, AE)

AEs mediate the transmembrane flux of the anions, Cl⁻ and HCO₃⁻. The AE family is comprised of at least three members, AE1, AE2, and AE3¹³⁸. Although extensively studied in a number of cell types, little is known about the role and regulation of the cardiac isoform, AE3⁸⁸. AE activity may cause acidification or alkalization dependent on the concentration gradients of HCO₃⁻ and Cl⁻¹³⁹. The Cl⁻ gradient (Cl⁻₀/Cl⁻_i =105/50) favors Cl⁻ influx, HCO₃⁻ efflux and

hence cytoplasmic acidification. However, indirect evidence suggests that AE3 in contracting hearts may cause alkalization via HCO_3^- influx¹³⁹.

The critical role for the CO_2/HCO_3^- buffer system for pH homeostasis is dependent on carbonic anhydrase (CA), an enzyme that catalyses the hydrationdehydration of CO_2/HCO_3^{-140} . The CA isoform present in the heart is CAIV¹⁴¹, which is linked extracellularly by a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol anchor to the plasma membrane¹⁴². CAIV has an important role in facilitating the recovery of pH_i after reperfusion of ischemic heart¹⁴¹. This is because freely diffusible CO_2 may rapidly move out of the cell and be converted to HCO_3^- by CAIV. The extracellular HCO_3^- can then be exchanged for intracellular CI⁻ by AE3 proteins, leading to cellular alkalization. Thus, under conditions of mechanical work and high level of glucose and fatty acid oxidation which generates large amount of CO_2 , AE3 activity would be expected to be beneficial by reducing intracellular acidosis and the potential for Na⁺ accumulation by NHE1.

2.5 Vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase

Recently, a newly identified H⁺-extruding process, vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase, was found to operate in cardiomyocytes¹⁴³. Vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase has been described in a variety of cell types, being responsible for the acidification of intracellular compartments, such as synaptic vesicles, lysosomes, and endosomes¹⁴⁴. Vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase has been detected in the plasma membranes of some types of cells, thereby maintaining the cytosolic pH by extruding H⁺ out of the cells¹⁴⁴. Previous studies also show that vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase may play an important role in cardiomyocyte protection during ischemia by reducing intracellular acidosis, which can prevent apoptosis and NHE1-induced Ca²⁺ overload¹⁴³. It is possible that vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase mediated H⁺ efflux may spare Na⁺ overload via NHE1 and thereby attenuate Ca²⁺ influx via NCE. Evidence supports the hypothesis that acidosis itself contributes to apoptosis. There are also reports showing that (1) intracellular acidification precedes apoptosis in neutrophils¹⁴⁵ and Jurkat cells¹⁴⁶ (2) apoptotic cells have lower pH_i compared with normal cells¹⁴⁷ and (3) acidic endonuclease (DNAse II), which becomes active at pH 6.8 and below, is involved in apoptosis¹⁴⁸. However, a remaining question is whether activation of vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase improves the recovery of cardiac mechanical function and cardiac efficiency in postischemic hearts. The relationships between vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase and other H⁺ extrusion pathways which contribute to the regulation of pH_i are unknown.

3. Determination of pH_i by ³¹P-NMR spectroscopy

The method of measuring pH_i through ³¹P-NMR has become invaluable to cardiac research because it offers unique opportunities to examine the pH of the heart noninvasively. To help in understanding this method, the following provides a brief background.

NMR arises as a consequence that certain nuclei have an odd number of protons giving them what is known as *net nuclear spin*. Some examples of nuclei with net spin are ¹H, ²H, ¹⁵N, ¹⁷O, ³¹P, ¹³C and ²³Na. Because the nucleus is charged, its spin causes a small magnetic field producing a *magnetic moment*, meaning that they behave like a magnet that spins around its magnetic axis. When a nucleus with a non-zero magnetic moment is exposed to a constant magnetic field, it tends to align its magnetic axis preferentially with this field but its rotation prevents a straightforward alignment of the magnetic axis. The overall result is analogous to a spinning top that opposes reorientation of its axis and begins to wobble. In other words, the nuclear magnetic axis begins to process with a frequency that is characteristic for each nucleus.

It is possible to irradiate the sample with an alternating electromagnetic field in the radiofrequency (RF) range of typically 10-100 MHz (depending on the nucleus and the magnet's field strength). When the RF frequency is identical to the precession frequency, resonance occurs. A small fraction of nuclei in their ground state absorb energy then and are excited to the higher state. When the RF pulse is ended, the ratio of excited to ground state nuclei returns to what it was before. This return can be monitored electronically, again through RF circuitry. A mathematical (Fourier) analysis of the time course of this decay--free induction decay (FID) provides the information of the resonance frequencies of the nuclei.

35

The purpose in NMR is to determine the exact resonance frequency of the nuclei and the intensity at each frequency. NMR provides information about the chemical environment of the nucleus because, as part of an atom, the nuclei is surrounded by electrons which partly shield the imposed magnetic field. Thus the effective local magnetic field, B_L , sensed by the nucleus is altered compared to the external applied field, B_o :

$$B_L = B_0(1-\delta)$$

where the correction δ , referred to as the shielding tensor, is independent of B_o but is only a function of the chemical/electronic environment of the nucleus.

Therefore, two identical nuclei with different chemical environments will experience different B_L 's and can be shown to have different positions (*chemical shift*) in the NMR spectrum, caused by their chemical environment. The chemical shift is normally given as the fraction, in parts per million or ppm, of the reference frequency derived from a standard compound. The advantage of this frequency normalization is that the frequency scale of the NMR spectrum becomes independent of the field strength of the NMR machine.

Measurement of cellular pH is mainly based on an analysis of the cellular phosphate content. In living systems Pi exists predominantly as either HPO_4^{2-} or $H_2PO_4^{-}$. The rate of equilibration between these two forms is much more rapid than the nuclear precession frequency. Therefore, the two phosphate forms are only visible as one resonance, the frequency of which depends on the pH_i^{149} .

Typically the calculation of pH_i uses the chemical shift of the Pi peak from ³¹P spectra. Since the PCr signal does not change with pH_i, it is a useful reference to determine precisely the pH-dependent shifts of the phosphate peaks.

Pi is not the only nucleus available for measuring cytoplasmic pH. The 2,3-diphosphogluconate (2,3-DPG) is also a good candidate¹⁴⁹. However, the signals emanating from Pi and from 2,3-DPG can overlap to a significant degree, making the spectrum in this region uninterpretable. Red blood cells contain significant quantities of 2,3-DPG, which means that circulating blood interferes with measurements of the intracellular phosphate signal. It is therefore impossible to measure reliably the pH_i of the heart *in vivo*. That is the major reason that the isolated working heart, perfused with oxygenated crystalloid solution instead of blood, was used in this study. To overcome further contaminating resonances, it was important to reduce or eliminate the concentration of Pi in the perfusion medium. In the present studies, KH₂PO₄ was omitted from the Krebs-Henseleit solution.

4. Targets for pharmacotherapy: Effects of alteration of energy metabolism on pH_i and postischemic recovery of cardiac function

Intracellular acidosis is one of the major triggers for ischemia and reperfusion injury. During reperfusion, NHE1 is hyperactivated and plays an important role for the recovery of cardiac function and regulation of pH_i in postischemic hearts. It is estimated that H⁺, which are continually generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism during reperfusion^{65,72,78}, is the one of the most important activators for NHE1. Reducing H⁺ production during reperfusion by improving coupling of glucose metabolism has been shown to improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency^{72,78}. As the increases in intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ levels that arise after activation of the NHE1 and NCE require ATP to restore ion homeostasis^{81,82}, either inhibition of NHE1 or reducing H⁺ production may lead to an improved efficiency in the utilization of energy for contractile work. Furthermore, previous studies have shown that inhibition of NHE1 improves the recovery of cardiac efficiency and preserves PCr content during reperfusion^{81,82}. Control of pH_i by Na⁺-independent systems offers the advantage of reducing acidosis without causing adverse effects on Na⁺ gradients. The present studies focus on both the source and fate of H⁺ on the recovery of mechanical function and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion after ischemia.

High plasma fatty acid concentrations have been shown to increase the severity of ischemic damage in a number of different experimental animal models of cardiac ischemia, and has also been linked to a depression of mechanical function during reperfusion in postischemic hearts^{65,72,78}. It is estimated that

A number of different approaches can be used to manipulate energy metabolism in the heart. One way to increase glucose metabolism and decrease fatty acid metabolism in the heart is to decrease circulating fatty acid levels. A decrease in the level of fatty acids will improve the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation and subsequently reduce H⁺ production. This is because a lower level of fatty acid oxidation can reduce the ratios of acetyl CoA/CoA and NADH/NAD⁺, and reduce the inhibition of the rate-limiting enzyme for glucose oxidation, PDH. Another approach to decrease the detrimental effects of fatty acids is to stimulate glucose oxidation by direct activation of PDH. Stimulation of glucose oxidation will improve the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation and thereby reduce H^+ production^{72,78}. Dichloroacetate (DCA) is a stimulator of glucose oxidation, which activates PDH by inhibition of PDH kinase¹⁵⁰. Previous studies have shown that DCA increases glucose oxidation, decreases H⁺ production from glucose metabolism and improves cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion of ischemic hearts^{72,78}. However, whether these changes in H⁺ production translate into changes in pH_i has not been determined. Small clinical trials have shown that DCA has beneficial effects in the treatment of angina¹⁵¹ and congestive heart failure¹⁵². Stimulation of glucose oxidation by ranolazine and trimetazidine can inhibit fatty acid oxidation and both of these

agents have cardioprotective properties (see 153 for review). L-carnitine can also stimulate glucose oxidation by decreasing intramitochondrial acetyl-CoA/CoA ratio¹⁵³. Worthy of mention, hyperthyroidism is closely associated with a high level of energy metabolism, especially glucose utilization¹⁵⁴. Although the effects of thyroid hormone are thought to be due to changes in myocardial gene expression, attention has recently focused on acute actions of 3,5,3'-triiodo-L-thyronine (T₃). A number of basic and clinical studies have shown that treatment with supraphysiological concentrations of T₃ has cardioprotective effects in postischemic hearts (see 155 for review). It is possible that the beneficial effects of T₃ on the recovery of cardiac mechanical function is due to its activation of glucose oxidation with an associated reduction of H⁺ production. In the present studies, the effects of T₃ on glucose metabolism, H⁺ production and the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency in postischemic hearts were investigated.

Improving coupling between glycolysis and glucose oxidation by inhibiting excessive rates of glycolysis is another approach to decrease H⁺ production. Previous studies showed that adenosine inhibits glycolysis and improves the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation, decreases proton production from the hydrolysis of glycolytically derived ATP, and improves cardiac efficiency during reperfusion^{156,157}. In the present studies, the effects of inhibition of glycolysis on intracellular H⁺ and pH_i were also investigated. It is well known that glycolysis is inhibited by H₂O₂ generated free radicals¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰. This means that H⁺ production may be reduced. However, recent studies have shown that intracellular acidosis

develops in cultured endothelial cells and myocytes subjected to H_2O_2 overload^{158,159}. It is widely accepted that H_2O_2 depletes intracellular high energy phosphate contents. Since the activity of NHE1 and vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase both rely on ATP^{111,112,143}, it is estimated that the above H⁺ extrusion pathways are blocked in H_2O_2 -treated cells and this may be the major reason responsible for intracellular acidosis in H_2O_2 -treated hearts. However, in cultured cells, glucose metabolism is very low and glucose is often the only energy substrate available to the cells ^{158,159} which, of course, does not reflect the status of normal energy metabolism. Furthermore, energy metabolism is closely associated with workload. We therefore re-investigated the effects of H_2O_2 on pH_i and intracellular H⁺ production in isolated working hearts under more physiological conditions of energy supply and demand.

Experimental approach

An isolated working heart model, perfused with both fatty acids and glucose was applied in the present studies. This is because fatty acids are the major fuel for the heart and in this model, the heart was subjected to physiological workloads. Therefore, the status of normal energy metabolism is well reflected. ³¹P-NMR was also used since it is the gold standard for the measurement of pH_i. The advantage of this technique, compared with pH-sensitive fluorescent dyes (SNARF or BCECF), which are widely applied in isolated cells, is that it is non-invasive and can be applied to pH studies on whole ischemic and postischemic hearts. The sensitivity of the method is also high

41

enough to resolve time-courses as rapid as a few minutes. Meanwhile the dynamic change of energy phosphate contents can also be monitored. This is a tremendous help and provides a time course of metabolic events. In the present studies, an isolated working heart model in which both energy metabolism and ³¹P-NMR measurement could be made was developed (see Chapter 2 for details). This allowed us to answer the question: will altering the source of protons change pH_i in isolated working rat hearts during reperfusion?

Optimizing energy substrate preference by the heart during reperfusion is an exciting approach to treating ischemic heart disease. However, the relationship between glucose metabolism and alterations in H⁺ production and clearance during ischemia and reperfusion is poorly understood. Direct evidence that decreasing H⁺ production by improving the coupling of glucose metabolism can accelerate the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion is lacking. Therefore the focus of this thesis was to address the relationship between a decrease in H⁺ production by pharmacologically improving the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation (stimulation of glucose oxidation, inhibition of glycolysis) and pH_i, cardiac mechanical function and efficiency in postischemic hearts. Since inhibition of fatty acid oxidation can also stimulate glucose oxidation and improve the coupling of glucose metabolism (see 153 for review), the effects of downregulation of fatty acid oxidation on pH_i, cardiac function and efficiency were also investigated.

Hypothesis

Both the source and fate of protons influence the recovery of mechanical function and cardiac efficiency in the reperfused postischemic heart. Inhibition of the source of H^+ during reperfusion by improving the coupling between glycolysis and glucose oxidation will increase the rate of recovery of pH_i and improve recovery of mechanical function and cardiac efficiency in the reperfused ischemic heart. Inhibition of NHE1 will improve the recovery of cardiac contractile function and efficiency during reperfusion, despite a slower recovery of pH_i.

Specific objectives

- To develop an isolated working heart model to measure pH_i by using ³¹P-NMR technique. This model needs to meet the requirements for measuring both cardiac energy metabolism (fatty acid and glucose metabolism) and pH_i (see Chapter 2 for details).
- 2. To determine the importance of glucose metabolism as a source of H⁺ by measuring the consequences of T₃ and DCA on rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, H⁺ production, recovery of pH_i, mechanical function and cardiac efficiency.
- 3. To determine the effects of inhibition of NHE1 on the fate of H⁺, as determined by the recovery of pH_i, as well as cardiac function and efficiency in postischemic hearts perfused with a high level of fatty acid, which facilitates H⁺ production by inhibiting glucose oxidation.

43

- 4. To evaluate the consequences of combined alteration of both the source and fate of H^+ on the recovery of pH_i , mechanical function and cardiac efficiency.
- To determine the effects of inhibition of glycolysis by H₂O₂ on H⁺ production, pH_i, cardiac function and efficiency in aerobic hearts perfused with a high level of fatty acid.

Figure 1-1. Overall pathways of myocardial energy substrate metabolism (see text for details).





Figure 1-2. Pathways of glucose metabolism and generation of H⁺.

Figure 1-3. Regulation of the activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH).

PDH is inactivated by phosphorylation which is catalysed by PDH kinase (PDHK). PDHK is activated by increases in the concentration ratios of acetyl-CoA/CoA and NADH/NAD⁺ and inhibited by dichloroacetate (DCA) or by pyruvate from glycolysis. Dephosphorylation of phosphorylated PDH (PDH-P) by PDH phosphatase which is activated by Ca^{2+} can activate PDH.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 1-5. Putative topological model of 815–amino acid NHE1 showing 12 transmembrane-spanning segments and hydrophilic carboxyl terminus, with indications of proposed regulatory sites¹⁰⁷. Localization of the putative H⁺ sensor that accounts for the sensitivity of NHE1 to pH_i has not been confirmed but likely resides in the lipophilic transmembrane region.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 1-1. Beneficial effects of NHE1 inhibitors in the ischemic myocardium

Improved recovery of left ventricular function after ischemia^{82,84}

Reduction in infarct size and necrosis⁸⁴

Reduced ischemia- and reperfusion-associated contracture⁸²

Attenuation of ion dyshomeostasis during ischemia and reperfusion

Reduced apoptosis⁸⁴

Reduction in ischemia- and reperfusion-induced arrhythmias⁸⁹

Preservation of high-energy phosphates ⁸²

Reduced postinfarction mortality⁸⁴

Reduced mortality and incidence of myocardial infarction after coronary bypass surgery*¹⁰⁷

Improved left ventricular function after balloon angioplasty*107

*Clinical study.
Bibliography

- Piper HM, Garcia-Dorado D., Ovize M. A fresh look at reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res 1998;38:291-3000.
- Taegtmeyer H, Roberts AFC, Rayne AEG. Energy metabolism in reperfused rat heart: return of function before normalization of ATP content. J Am Coll Cardiol 1985;6:864-870.
- 3. Taegmeyer H, Hems R, Krebs HIA. Utilization of energy providing substrates in the isolated working rat heart. *Biochem J* 1980;186:701-711.
- 4. Hinkle PC, Kumar MA, Resetar A, Harris DL. Mechanistic stoichiometry of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochemistry* 1991;30:3576-3582.
- 5. Page E, McCallister L. Quantitative electron microscopic description of heart muscle cells. *Am J Cardiol* 1973;31:172-176.
- 6.Neely JR, Morgan HE. Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. Ann Rev Physiol 1974;36:413-459.
- 7.Saddik M, Lopaschuk GD. Myocærdial triglyceride turnover and contribution to energy substrate utilization in isolated working rat hearts. *J Biol Chem* 1991;266:8162-8170.
- 8.Opie LH. Myocardial ischemia-metabolic pathways and implications of increased glycolysis. *Cardiovasc= Drugs Therap* 1990;4:777-790.

- 9. Vanoverschelde JLJ, Janier MF, Bake JE, Marshall DR, Bergmann SR. Rate of glycolysis during ischemia determines extent of ischemic injury and functional recovery after reperfusion. *Am J Physiol* 1994;267:H1785-1794.
- Randle PJ, Garland PB, Newsholme EA, Hales CN. The glucose fatty acid cycle in obesity and maturity onset diabetes mellitus. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1965 131(1):324-33.
- 11. Luiken JFP, Turcotte LP, Bonen A. Protein-mediated palmitate uptake and expression of fatty acid transport proteins in heart giant vesicles. *J Lipid Res* 1990;40:1007-1016.
- 12. Schaap FG, Van der Vusse GJ, Glatz JFC. Fatty acid-binding proteins in the heart. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1998;180:43-51.
- 13. Binas B, Danneberg H, McWHIR J, Mullins L, Clark J. Requirement for the heart-type fatty acid binding protein in cardiac fatty acid utilization. *FASEB J* 1999;13:805-812.
- 14.McGarry JD, Foster DW. Hormonal control of ketogenesis. *Arch Intern Med* 1977;137:495-501.
- 15. McGarry JD, Mills SE, Long CS, Foster DW. Observations on the affinity for carnitine and malonyl-CoA sensitivity of carnitine palmitoyl transferase I in animal and human tissues: demonstration of the presence of malonyl-CoA in non-hepatic tissues: demonstration of the presence of malonyl-CoA in non-hepatic tissues of the rat. *Biochem J* 1983;214:21-28.
- 16. Pauson DJ, Ward KM, Shug AL. Malonyl-CoA inhibition of carnitine palmitoyl transferase. *FEBS Lett* 1984;176:381-384.

- 17. Forsey RGP, Reid K, Brosnan JT. Competition between fatty acids and carbohydrate or ketone bodies as metabolic fuels for the isolated perfused heart. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1987;65:401-406.
- Pauly DF, Kirk KA, McMillin JB. Carnitine palmitoyl transferase in cardiac ischemia: a potential site for altered fatty acid metabolism. *Circ Res* 1991;68:1085-1094.
- 19. Pessin JE, Bell GI. Mammalian facilitative glucose transporter family: structure and molecular recognition. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1992;54:911-930.
- 20. Gould GW, Holman GD. The glucose transporter family: structure, function and tissue specific expression. *Biochem J* 1993;295:329-341.
- 21. Barrett EJ, Schwartz R, Francis C, Zaret B. Regulation by insulin of myocardial glucose and fatty acid metabolism in the conscious dog. *J Clin Invest* 1984;74:1073-1079
- Ferrannini E, Santoro d, Bonadonnar R, Natali A, Parodi O, Camici PG.
 Metabolic and hemodynamic effects of insulin on human hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1993;264:E308-315.
- 23. Russell RR, Nguyen VTB, Mrus JM, Taegtmeyer H. Fasting and lactate unmask insulin responsiveness in the isolated working rat heart. *Am J Physiol* 1992;263:E556-561.
- 24.Schwaiger M, Neese RA, Hansen H. Sustained nonoxidative glucose utilization and depletion of glycogen in reperfused canine myocardium. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1989;13:745-754.

- 25.Wisneski JA, Gertz EW, Neese RA, Gruenke LD, Morris DL, Craig JC. Metabolic fate of extracted glucose in normal human myocardium. *J Clin Invest* 1985;76:1819-1827.
- 26.Morgan HE, Henderson MJ, Regen DM, Park CR. Regulation of glucose uptake in muscle. The effects of insulin and anoxia on glucose transport and phosphorylation in the isolated perfused heart of normal rats. *J Biol Chem* 1961;236:253-261.
- 27.Clarke K, O'Conner AJ, Willis RJ. Temporal relation between energy metabolism and myocardial function during ischemia and reperfusion. *Am J Physiol* 1987;253:H412-421.
- Seymour AM, Eldar H, Radda GK. Hyperthyroidism results in increased glycolytic capacity in the rat heart: a ³¹P NMR study. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1990;1055:107-116.
- 29. Alonso MD, Lomako J, Lomako WM, Whelan WJ. A new look at the biogenesis of glycogen. *FASEB J* 1995;9:1126-1137.
- 30.McNutt NS, Fawcett DW. Myocardial ultrastructure. In: Lahger GA, Braddy A, eds. The Mammalian Myocardium. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1974:1-49.
- 31.Kim H, Kim D, Lee I, Rah B, Sawa Y, Schaper J. Human fetal heart development after mid-term: morphometry and ultra-structural study. *J Mol Cell Cardial* 1992;24:949-968.

- 32.Lopaschuk GD, Spafford MA, Marsh DR. Glycolysis is predominant source of ATP production immediately after birth. *Am J Physiol* 1991:262:H1698-1705.
- 33. Johnson M, Everitt B. In: Johnson M, Everitt B, eds. Essential reproduction.3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publ., 1988:275.
- 34.Laughlin MR, Fleming-Taylor J, Cresnik AS, Balaban RS. Regulation of glycogen metabolism in canine myocardium: effects of insulin and epinephrine in vivo. *Am J Physiol* 1992;262:E875-883.
- 35.Laughlin MR, Petit WA, Dizon JM, Shulman RG, Barrett EJ. NMR measurements of *in vivo* myocardial glycogen metabolism. *J Biol Chem* 1988;263:2285-91.
- 36. NeelyJR, Grotyohann LW. Role of glycotic products in damage to ischemic myocardium: dissociation of adenosine triphosphate levels and recovery of function of reperfused ischemic hearts. *Circ Res* 1984;55:816-824.
- 37. Wolfe CL, Sievers RE, Visseren FLJ, Donnelly TJ. Loss of myocardial protection after preconditioning correlates with the time course of glycogen recovery within the preconditioned segment. *Circulation* 1993;87:881-892.
- 38. Opie LH. The glucose hypothesis: relation to acute myocardial ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1970;1:107-115.
- 39. Apstein CS, Gravino FN, Haudenschild CC. Determinants of a protective effect of glucose and insulin on the ischemic myocardium: effects on contractile function, diastolic compliance, metabolism and ultrastructure during ischemia and reperfusion. *Circ Res* 1983;52:515-26.

- 40. Eberli FR, Weinberg EO, Grice WN, Horowitz GL, Apstein CS. Protective effect of increased glycolytic substrate against systolic and diastolic dysfunction and increased coronary resistance from prolonged coronary under perfusion and reperfusion in isolated rabbit hearts perfused with erythrocyte suspensions. *Circ Res* 1991;68:466-481.
- 41. Schneider CA, Taegtmeyer H. Fasting in vivo delays myocardial cell damage after brief periods of ischemia in the isolated working rat heart. *Circ Res* 1991;68:1045-1050.
- 42. Taegtmeyer H. Carbohydrate interconversions and energy production. *Circulation* 1985;72(Suppl IV):IV1-IV8.
- 43. Poole RC, Crammer SL, Halestrap AP, Levi AJ. Substrate and inhibitor specificity of monocarboxylate transport into heart cells and erythrocytes: further evidence for the existence of two distinct carriers. *Biochem J* 1990;269:827-829.
- Russell RR, Taegtmeyer H. Pyruvate carboxylation prevents the decline in contractile function of rat hearts oxidizing acetoacetate. *Am J Physiol* 1991;30:H756-762.
- 45. Gertz EW, Wisneski JA, Stanley WC, Neese RA. Myocardial substrate utilization during exercise in humans. *J Clin Invest* 1988;82:2017-2025.
- 46. Bishop SP, Altschuld RA. Increased glycolytic metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy and congestive heart failure. *Am J Physiol* 1970;218:153-159.
- 47.Taegtmeyer H, Overturf ML. Effects of moderate hypertension on cardiac function and metabolism in the rabbit. *Hypertension* 1988;11:416-426.

- 48. Brownsey RW, Boone AN, Allard MF. Actions of insulin on the mammalian heart: metabolism, pathology and biochemical mechanisms. *Cardiov Res* 1997;34:3-24.
- 49.Randle PJ, Garland PB, Hales CN, Newsholme EA, Denton RM, Pogson Cl. Interaction of metabolism and the physiological role of insulin. *Recent Prog Horm Res* 1966;22:1-41.
- 50.Randle PJ. Regulation of glycolysis and pyruvate oxidation in cardiac muscle. *Circ Res* 1976;38(supple I):I8-I15.
- 51.Kerbey AL, Randle PJ, Cooper RH, Whitehouse S, Pask HT, Denton RM. Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase in rat heart. *Biochem J* 1976;154:327-348.
- 52. Lopaschuk GD, Collins-Nakai R, Olley PM, Montague TJ, Mcneil G, Gayle M, Penkoske P, Finegan BA. Plasma fatty acid levels in infants and adults after myocardial ischemia. *Am Heart J* 1994;128:61-67.
- 53. Oliver MF, Kurien VA, Greenwood TW. Relation between serum-free-fatty acids and arrhymia and death after acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet* 1968;1:710-714.
- 54. Sugden PH., Bogoyevitch MA. Intracellular signaling through protein kinases in the heart. *Cardiovas Res* 1995;(30):478-492.
- 55. Behal RH, Buxton DB, Robertson JG, Olson MS. Regulation of the pyruvate dehydrogenase multienzyme complex. *Annu Rev Nutri* 1993;13:497-520.

- 56. Sugden MC, Holness MJ. Interactive regulation of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex and the carnitine palmitoyltransferase system. *FASEB J* 1994;8:54-61.
- 57. Denton RM, McCormack JG. The calcium sensitive dehydrogenase of vertebrate mitochondria. *Cell Calcium* 1986;7:377-386.
- 58. Hansford RG. Dehydrogenase activation by Ca²⁺ in cells and tissues. *J* Bioenerg Biomembr 1991;23:823-854.
- 59. Hansford RG. Role of calcium in respiratory control. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1994;26:44-51.
- 60. Taegtmeyer H. Carbohydrate interconversions and energy production. *Circulation* 1985;72:IV1-8.
- 61 Taegtmeyer H, Doenst T, Mommessin JI, Guthrie P, Williams CM. Further evidence for the importance of anaplerosis in the isolated working rat heart: a tracer kinetic study with [18F] fluoro-2-deoxyglucose (FDG) *Circulation* 1993;88(suppl I): I-284.
- 62.Rothlin ME, Bing RJ. Extraction and release of individual free fatty acids by the heart and fat deposits. *J Clin Invest* 1961;40:1380-1385.
- 63. Taegtmeyer H, Hems R, Krebs HA. Utilization of energy providing substrates in the isolated working rat heart. *Biochem J* 1980;186:701-711.
- 64. Randle PJ,Garland PB, Hales CN, Newsholme EA. The glucose fatty-acid cycle. Its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1963;I:785-789.

- 65. Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB, Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1993;264:135-144.
- 66. Sakamoto J, Barr RL, Kavanagh KM, Lopaschuk GD. Contribution of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase to the high fatty acid oxidation rates seen in the diabetic heart. *Am J Physiol* 2000;278(4):H1196-204.
- 67. Krebs HA, Williamson DH, Bates MW, Page MA, Hawkins RA. The role of ketone bodies in caloric homeostasis. In: Weber G, ed. Advances in enzyme regulations. *New York:Pergamon Press* 1971:387-409.
- 68. Tani M, Neely JR. Role of intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload and depressed recovery of ventricular function of reperfused ischemic rat hearts. Possible involvement of H⁺-Na⁺ and Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange. *Circulation* 1989:65:1045-1056.
- 69. Neely JR, Grotyohann LW. Role of glycolytic products in damage to ischemic myocardium. Dissociation of adenosine triphosphate levels and recovery of function of reperfused ischemic hearts. *Cir Res* 1984;55:816-824.
- Halestrap AP., Price NT. The proton-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family: structure, function and regulation. *Biochem J* 1999;343:281-299.
- 71. Allard MF, Schonekess BO, Henning SL, English DR, Lopaschuk GD. Contribution of oxidative metabolism and glycolysis to ATP production in hypertrophied hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1994;267:H742-H750.

- 72. Liu B, El Alaoui-Talibi Z, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of contractile function from mitochodrial TCA cycle activity and MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:H72-H80.
- 73. Lerch R, Tamm C, Papageorgiou I, Benzi RH. Myocardial fatty acid oxidation during ischemia and reperfusion. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1992;116:103-109.
- 74. Mcgarry JD, Woeltje KF, Kuwajima M, Foster DW. Regulation of ketogenesis and the renaissance of carnitine palmitoyltransferase. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 1989;5:271-284.
- Saddik M, Gamble J, Witters LA., Lopaschuk GD. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the heart. *J Biol Chem* 1993;268:25836-25845.
- Lopaschuk GD, , Gamble J. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase: an important regulator of fatty acid oxidation in the heart. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1993;72:1101-1109.
- 77. Kudo N, Barr AJ, Barr RL, Desai S, Lopaschuk GD. High rates of fatty acid oxidation during reperfusion of ischemic hearts are associated with a decrease in malonyl-CoA levels due to an increase in 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270:17513-17520.
- 78. Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.

- 79. Fabiato A., Fabioto F. Effects of pH on the myofilaments and the sarcoplasmic reticulum of skinned cells from cardiac and skeletal muscles. J Physiol (Lond) 1978;276:233-255.
- 80. Orchard CH. Kentish JC. Effects of changes in pH on the contractile function of cardiac muscle. *Am J Physiol* 1990;258:C967-C981.
- 81. Hata K, Takasago T, Saeki A, Nishioka T, Goto Y. Stunned myocardium after rapid correction of acidosis: increased oxygen cost of contractility and the role of the Na⁺-H⁺ exchange system. Circ Res 1994;74:794-805.
- 82. Hendrikx M, Mubagwa K, Verdonck F, Overloop K, Hecke PV, Vanstapel F, Lommel AV, Verbeken E, lauweryns J, Flameng W. New Na⁺-H⁺ exchange inhibitor HOE 694 improves postischemic function and high-energy phosphate resynthesis and reduces Ca²⁺ overload in isolated perfused rabbit heart. Circulation 1994;89:2787-2798.
- 83. Pierce GN, Czubryt MP. The contribution of ionic imbalance to ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1995;27:53-63.
- 84. Karmazyn M. The myocardial sodium-hydrogen exchanger (NHE) and its role in mediating ischemic and reperfusion injury. *Keio J Med* 1998;47(2):65-72.
- 85. Prigent KL, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Mongodin E, Feuvray D. HCO₃ dependent alkalinizing transporter in adult rat ventricular myocytes:
 Characterization and modulation. *Am J Physiol* 1997;273:H2596-H2603.

- Halestrap AP, Wang X, Poole RC, Jackson VN, Price NT. Lactate transport heart in relation to myocardial ischemia. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;80(3A):17A-25A.
- 87. Forgact M. The vacuolar H⁺-ATPase of clathrin-coated vesicles is reversibly inhibited by S-Nitrosoglutathione. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:1301-1305.
- 88. Linn SC, Askew GR, Menon AG, Shull GE. Conservation of an AE3 Cl⁻ /HCO₃⁻ exchanger cardiac-specific exon and promoter region and AE3 mRNA expression patterns in murine and human hearts. *Circ Res* 1995;76:584-591.
- 89. Wakabayashi S, Shigekawa M, Pouysségur J. Molecular physiology of vertebrate Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers. *Physiol Rev* 1997;77:51–74
- 90. Fliegel L, Fröhlich O. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger: an update on structure, regulation and cardiac physiology. *Biochem J* 1993;296:273–285.
- 91. Orlowski J, Grinstein S. Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers of mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 1997;272:22373–22376.
- 92. Aronson PS. Kinetic properties of the plasma membrane Na⁺-H⁺ exchanger. Annu Rev Physiol 1985;47:545–560.
- 93. Numuta M, Petrecca K, Lake N, Orlowski J. Identification of a mitochondrial Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger. *J Biol Chem* 1998;273:6951–6959.
- 94. Counillon L, Pouysségur J. Structure-function studies and molecular regulation of the growth factor activatable sodium-hydrogen exchanger (NHE-1). Cardiovasc Res 1995;29:147–154.

- 95. Kandasamy RA, Yu FH, Harris R, Boucher A, Hanrahan JW, Orlowski J. Plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms (NHE-1, -2, and -3) are differentially responsive to second messenger agonists of the protein kinase A and C pathways. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270:29209–29216.
- 96. Nath SK, Hang CY, Levine SA, Yun CH, Montrose MH, Donowitz M, Tse CM. Hyperosmolarity inhibits the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms NHE2 and NHE3: an effect opposite to that on NHE1. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:G431–G441.
- 97. Petrecca K, Atanasiu R, Grinstein S, Orlowski J, Shrier A. Subcellular localization of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger NHE1 in rat myocardium. Am J Physiol 1999;276:H709–H717.
- 98. Wu ML, Vaughan-Jones RD. Interaction between Na⁺ and H⁺ ions on Na-H exchange in sheep cardiac Purkinje fibers. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1997;29:1131–1140.
- 99. Bianchini L, Pouysségur J. Regulation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform NHE1: role of phosphorylation. *Kidney Int* 1996;49:1038–1041.
- 100. Kinsella JL, Heller P, Fröhlich JP. Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger: proton modifier site regulation of activity. *Biochem Cell Biol* 1998;76:743–749.
- 101. Bianchini L, L'Allemain G, Pouysségur J. The p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade is determinant in mediating activation of the Na^{+/}H⁺ exchanger (NHE1 isoform) in response to growth factors. *J Biol Chem* 1997;272:271–279.
- 102. Wallert MA, Frohlich O. Na⁺-H⁺ exchange in isolated myocytes from adult rat heart. *Am J Physiol* 1989;257:C207-C213.

- 103. Sardet C, Counillon L, Franchi A, et al. Growth factors induce phosphorylation of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, glycoprotein of 110 kD. *Science* 1990; 247:723-726.
- 104. Sardet C, Fafournoux P, Pouyssegur J. Alpha-thrombin, epidermal growth factor, and okadaic acid activate the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, NHE-1, by phosphorylating a set of common sites. *J Biol Chem* 1991; 266:19166-19171.
- 105. Wakabayashi S, Bertrand B, Shigekawa M. Growth factor activation and "Hsensing" of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 1 (NHE1). Evidence for an additional mechanism not requiring direct phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 1994; 269: 5583-5588.
- 106. Wakabayashi S, Bertrand B, Ikeda T, et al. Mutation of calmodulin-binding site renders the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE1) highly H⁺-sensitive and Ca²⁺ regulation-defective. *J Biol Chem* 1994; 269:13710-13715.
- 107. Karmazyn M, Gan XT, Humphreys RA, Yoshida H, Kusumoto K. The myocardial Na⁺-H⁺ exchange: Structure, Regulation, and Its role in heart disease. *Circ Res* 1999;85:777-786.
- 108. Light DG, Schwiebert EM, Karlson KH, et al. Atrial natriuretic peptide inhibits a cation channel in renal inner medullary collecting duct cells. *Science* 1989; 243:383-385.
- 109. Fliegel L, Walsh MP, Singh D, Wong C, Barr A. Phosphorylation of the Cterminal domain of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger by Ca²⁺/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. *Biochem J* 1992;282:139-45.

- 110. Bertrand B, Wakabayashi S, Ikeda T, et al. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 1 (NHE1) is a novel member of the calmodulin-binding sites. *J Biol Chem* 1994; 269:13703-13709.
- 111. Demaurex N, Romanek R, Orlowski J, Grinstein S. ATP dependence of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Nucleotide specificity and assessment of the role of phospholipids. J Gen Physiol 1997;109:117-128.
- 112. Cassel D, Katz M and Rotman M. Depletion of cellular ATP inhibits Na⁺/H⁺ antiport in cultured human cells. *J Biol Chem* 1986;261:5460-5466.
- 113. Lagadic-Gossman D, Buckler KJ, Vaughan-Jones RD. Role of bicarbonate in pH recovery from intracellular acidosis in the guinea-pig ventricle myocyte. *J Physiol* 1992;458:361-384.
- 114. Wakabayashi S, Fafournoux P, Sardet C, et al. The Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter cytoplasmic domain mediates growth factor signals and controls "H⁺- sensing." *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1992; 89:2424-2428.
- 115. Dyck JR, Maddaford TG, Pierce GN, Fliegel L. Induction of expression of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger in rat myocardium. *Cardiovasc Res* 1995;29:203-208.
- 116. Gan XT, Chakrabarti S, Karmazyn M. Modulation of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange isoform 1 mRNA expression in isolated rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1999;277:H993-H998.
- 117. Lazdunski M, Frelin C, Vigne P. The sodium/hydrogen exchange system in cardiac cells: its biochemical and pharmacological properties and its role in

regulating internal concentrations of sodium and internal pH. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1985;17:1029-1042.

- 118. Piwnica-Worms D, Jacob R, Shigeto N, Horres, Lieberman M. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in cultured heart cells: secondary stimulation of electrogenic transport during recovery from intracellular acido:sis. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1986;18:1109-1116.
- 119. Kim D, Cragoe EJ, Smith TW. Relations among sodlium pump inhibition, Na-Ca and Na-H exchange activities and Ca-H interactions in cultured chick heart cells. *Circ Res* 1987;60:185-193.
- 120. Siffert W, Akkerman JWN. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange and Ca²⁺ influx. *FEBS Lett* 1989;259:1-4.
- 121. Cross HR, Lu L, Steenbergen C, Philipson KD, Murphy E. Overexpression of the cardiac Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger increates susceptibility to ischemia/reperfusion injury in male, but not female, transgenic mice. *Circ Res* 1998;83:1215-1223.
- 122. Koike A, Akita T, Hotta Y, Takeyka K, Kodama I, Muurase M, Abe T, Toyama J. Protective effects of dimethyl amiloride against postischemic myocardial dysfunction in rabbit hearts: ³¹P-nuclear magnetic resonance measurements of intracellular pH and cellular energy. *J Theorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;112:765-775.
- 123. Navon G, Werrmann JG, Maron R, Cohen SM. ³¹P INMR and triple quantum filtered ²³Na NMR studies of the effects of inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange on

intracellular sodium and pH in working and ischemic hearts. *Magn Reson Med* 1994;32:556-564.

- 124. Gumina RJ, Mizumura T, Beier N, Schelling P, Schultz JJ, Gross GJ. A new sodium/hydrogen exchange inhibitor, EMD 85131, limits infarct size in dogs when administered before or after coronary artery occlusion. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1998;286:175-183.
- 125. Erhardt LR. GUARD During Ischemia Against Necrosis (GUARDIAN) trial in acute coronary syndromes. *Am J Cardiol* 1999 May 20;83(10A):23G-25G.
- 126. Maddaford TG, Pierce GN. Myocardial dysfunction is associated with activation of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange immediately during reperfusion. *Am J Physiol* 273(42):H2232-H2239.
- 127. Wang X, Levi AJ, Halestrap AP. Kinetics of the sarcolemmal lactate carrier in single heart cells using BCECF to measure pH_i. *Am J Physiol* 1994;H1759-H1769.
- 128. Poole RC, Halestrap. Transport of lactate and other monocarboxylates across mammalian plasma membranes. *Am J Physiol* 1993;264:C761-C782.
- 129. Halestrap AP, Price NT. The proton-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family: structure, function and regulation. *Biochem J* 1999;343:281-299.
- 130. Coetzee WA. Regulation of ATP sensitive potassium channel of isolated guinea pig ventricular myocytes by sarcolemmal monocarboxylate transport. *Cardiovasc Res* 1992;26:1077-1086.

- 131. Guo HS, Wasserstrom JA, Rosenthal JE. Lactate enhances sodium channel conductance in isolated guinea pig ventricular myocytes. *Am J Physiol* 1994;267:H1565-H1572.
- 132. Gwilt M, Norton B, Henderson CG. Pharmacological studies of K⁺ loss from ischemic myocardium in vitro-roles of ATP-dependent K⁺ channels and lactate-coupled efflux. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1993;236:107-112.
- 133. Eisner DA, Elliot AC, Smith GL. The contribution of intracellular acidosis to the decline of developed pressure in ferret hearts exposed to cyanide. J Physiol 1987;391:99-108.
- 134. Vaughan-Jones RD, Eisner DA, Ledere WJ. Effects of changes of intracellular pH on contraction in sheep cardiac Purkinje fibres. *J Gen Physiol* 1987;89:1015-1032.
- 135. Grace AA, Kirschenlor HL, Metcalfe JC, Smith GA, Weissberg PL, Cragoe JR, Vandenberg JI. Regulation of pH_i in the perfused heart by external HCO₃⁻ and Na⁺-H⁺ exchange. *Am J Physiol* 265:H289-H298.
- 136. Le Prigent K, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Feuvray D. Na⁺-HCO₃⁻ system activity in diabetic ventricular myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1996; 28:A67.
- 137.Schafer C, Ladilov YV, Siegmund B, Piper HM. Importance of bicarbonate transport for protection of cardiomyocytes against reoxygenation injury. Am J Physiol 2000;278:H1457-H1463.
- 138. Sterling Deborah, Casey JR. Transport activity of AE3 chloride/bicarbonate anion-exchange proteins and their regulation by intracellular pH. *Biochem J* 1999;344:221-229.

- 139. Kusuoka H, Marban E, Cingolani HE. Control of steady-state intracellular pH in intact perfused ferret hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1994;26:821-829.
- 140. Maren TH. Carbonic anhydrase in the animal kingdom. *Physiol Rev* 1967;23:595-781.
- 141. Vandenberg JI, Carter ND, Bethell HW, Nogradi A, Ridderstrale Y, Metcalfe JC., Grace AA. Carbonic anhydrase and cardiac pH regulation. *Am J Physiol* 1996;271:C1838-C1846.
- 142. Waheed A, Zhu XL, Sly WS. Membrane-associated carbonic anhydrase from rat lung. Purification, characterization, tissue distribution, and comparison with carbonic anhydrase IVs of other mammals. *J Biol Chem* 1996;271: C1838-C1846.
- 143. Karwatowska-Prokopczuk E, Nordlberg JA, Li HL, Engler RL, Gottlieb RA. Effect of vacuolar proton ATPase on pH_i, Ca²⁺, and apoptosis in neonatal cardiomyocytes during metabolic inhibition/recovery. *Circ Res* 1998;82:1139-1144.
- 144. Stevens TH. Structure, function and regulation of the vacuolar H⁺-ATPase. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1997;13:779-808.
- 145. Gottlieb RA, Giesing HA, Zhu JY, Engler RL, Babior BM. Cell acidification in apoptosis: granulocyte colony-stimulating factor delays programmed cell death in neutrophils by up-regulating the vacuolar H⁺-ATPase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1995;92:5965-5968.

- 146. Gottlieb RA, Nordberg J, Skowronski E, Babior BM. Apoptosis induced in Jurkat cells by several agents is preceded by intracellular acidification. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1995;93:654-658.
- 147. Li J, Eastman A. Apoptosis in an interleukin-2-dependet cytotoxic T lymphocyte cell line is associated with intracellular acidification. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270:3203-3211.
- 148. Barry MA, Eastman A. Identification of deoxyribonuclease II as an endonuclease involved in apoptosis. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1993;300:440-448.
- 149. Moon RB, Richards JH. Determination of intracellular pH by ³¹P magnetic resonance. *J Biol Chem* 1973;260:7276-7278.
- 150. Stacpoole PW. The pharmacology of dichloroacetate. *Metabolism* 1989;38:1124-1144.
- 151. Wargovich TJ, Macdonald RG, Hill JA, Feldman RL, Stacpoole PW, Pepine CJ. Myocardial metabolic and heodynamic effects of dichloroacetate. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1994;23:1617-1624.
- 152. Collins-Nakai RL, Suarex-Almazor M, Karmy-Jones R, Penkoske P, Teo K, Lopaschuk GD. Dichloracetic acid after open heart surgery in infants and children. *Can J Cardiol* 1995;11:106E.
- 153. Lopaschuk GD. Treating ischemic heart disease by pharmacologically improving cardiac energy metabolism. *Am J Cardiol* 1998;82:14K-17K.
- 154. Moller N, Nielsen S, Nyholm B, Porksen N, Alberti KG and Weeke J. Glucose turnover, fuel oxidation and forearm substrate exchange in patients

with thyrotoxicosis before and after medical treatment. *Clin Endocrinol* 1996;4:453-459.

- 155. Klemperer, JD, Ojamaa K, Klein I. Thyroid hormone therapy in cardiovascular disease. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 1996;4:329-336.
- 156. Finegan BA, Lopaschuk GD, Coulson CS, Clanachan AS. Adenosine alters glucose use during ischemia and reperfusion in isolated rat hearts. *Circulation* 1993;87:900-908.
- 157. Finegan BA, Lopaschuk GD, Ghandi M, Clanachan AS. Ischemic preconditioning inhibits glycolysis and proton production during ischemia and reperfusion in working rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1995;269:H1767-H1775.
- 158. Wu ML, Tsai KL, Wang SM, Wu JC, Wang BS, Lee YT. Mechanism of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl free radical-induced intracellular acidification in cultured rat cardiac myoblasts. *Circ Res* 1996;78:564-572.
- 159. Hu QH, Xia Y, Corda S, Zweier JL, Ziegelstein RC. Hydrogen peroxide decreases pH_i in human aortic endothelial cells by inhibiting Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. *Circ Res* 1998;83:644-651.
- 160. Janero DR, Herenuk D, and Sharif HM. Hydroperoxide-induced oxidative stress impairs heart muscle cell carbohydrate metabolism. *Am J Physiol* 1994;35:C179-C188.

Chapter 2

General experimental methods

1. Materials

D-[5-³H]glucose, D-[U-¹⁴C]glucose, [1-¹⁴C]palmitate were purchased from Du Pont-New England Nuclear. Bovine serum albumin (fraction V) was obtained from Roche. Hyamine hydroxide (methylbenzethonium; 1 M in methanol solution) was obtained from ICN Radiochemicals. T₃ was obtained from Sigma Chemical Company. DCA was obtained from BDH Chemical Ltd. Cariporide was provided by Hoechst Marion Roussel company. Dowex 1X4 anion exchange resin (200-400 mesh chloride form), Dowex AG50 WX8 (200-400 mesh, hydrogen form), and Dowex AG1X8 (200-400 mesh, acetate form), were obtained from Bio-Rad. ACS counting scintillant was purchased from Amersham Canada Ltd. Ecolite counting scintillant was obtained from ICN Biomedicals Canada Ltd. Acetyl CoA was obtained from Boehringer-Mannheim. The AMARA peptide used in the AMPK assay was synthesized by the Alberta Peptide Institute. [³²P]ATP and [¹⁴C]sodium bicarbonate were obtained from ICN radiopharmaceuticals. All other chemicals were reagent grade.

2. Isolated working heart perfusions

All animal protocols, housing, surgical manipulations, and euthanization were approved by the Health Sciences Animal Welfare Committee at the University of Alberta, and conform to the standards set by the Canadian Council of Animal Care. Rat hearts were quickly cannulated for isolated working heart perfusions as described previously¹⁻³. In brief, male Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, 0.30-0.35 kg) were anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (60 mg • kg⁻¹ IP) and hearts were quickly excised. The aorta of each heart was cannulated within 30 sec of removal from the rat and a retrograde perfusion at 37°C was initiated at a hydrostatic pressure of 60 mm Hg. Hearts were trimmed of excess tissue, and the pulmonary artery and the opening to the left atrium were then cannulated. After 15 min of Langendorff perfusion, hearts were switched to the working mode by clamping the aortic inflow line from the Langendorff reservoir and opening the left atrium at a constant preload pressure of 11.5 mm Hg. Perfusate was ejected from spontaneously beating hearts into a compliance chamber (containing 1 ml of air) and into the aortic outflow line. The afterload was set at a hydrostatic pressure of 80 mm Hg. The perfusate volume was 100 ml.

Spontaneously beating hearts were used in all studies. Heart rate and peak systolic pressure (PSP) were measured with a Gould P21 pressure transducer connected to the aortic outflow line. Developed aortic pressure was calculated as PSP minus diastolic pressure. Coronary vascular resistance (CVR, mmHg • min • ml⁻¹) was calculated as mean aortic pressure divided by coronary flow. Cardiac output and aortic flow were measured with Transonic T206 ultrasonic 2N probes in the preload and afterload lines, respectively. Coronary flow was calculated as the difference between cardiac output and aortic flow.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The O₂ contents of the perfusate were measured using YSI micro oxygen electrodes placed in the preload line and in a line originating from the cannulated pulmonary artery. Myocardial O₂ consumption (MVO₂) was calculated according to the Fick principle, using coronary flow rates and the arteriovenous difference in perfusate O₂ concentration. Cardiac work was calculated as the product of PSP and cardiac output. Cardiac efficiency was defined as a ratio of cardiac work to MVO₂. All working hearts were perfused with Krebs-Henseleit solution containing 2.5 mM Ca²⁺, 5.5 mM glucose, 3% bovine serum albumin (fraction V, Boehringer Mannheim), and 0.4 or 1.2 mM palmitate. Palmitate was prebound to the albumin as described previously⁴. The perfusate was recirculated and continuously gassed with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂, which provided pH around 7.35-7.45.

At the end of each perfusion protocol, hearts were quickly frozen with Wollenberger clamps cooled to the temperature of liquid N_2 . The atrial tissue was dried in an oven for 12 hours at 100 °C and weighed. The frozen ventricular tissue was weighed and powdered in a mortar and pestle cooled to the temperature of liquid N_2 . A portion of the powered tissue was used to determine the dry weight-to-wet weight ratio. The dried atrial weight, frozen ventricular weight, and ventricular dry weight-to-wet weight ratio were then used to determine the total dry weight of the heart.

3. Determination of pH_i by ³¹P-NMR spectroscopy

3.1 Isolated working heart model for ³¹P-NMR and energy metabolism measurements (for Chapters 4-6).

Isolated working heart models adapted for use within the confines of a magnet for NMR studies have been described previously^{4,5}. In the present studies, measurement of glucose metabolism using radiolabeled tracers required that the entire perfusion system be sealed⁶. The author developed a perfusion system that permitted efficient operation of a closed system within the confines of a high field magnet. The detailed tubing connection for the working heart has been shown previously^{4,5}. The cannula assembly for the working heart is illustrated in Fig. 2-1. This structure supports six perfusion lines: 1) a vacuum line to remove coronary effluent around the heart that was positioned so that the heart was always immersed by perfusate up to the level of the aorta, 2) an aortic outflow line, 3) a pressure transducer line that connects with the aortic outflow line close to the heart (not shown), 4) a vacuum line to remove extra perfusate from the oxygenator so that preload was kept at 11.5 mmHg, 5) a left atrial inflow line (for working heart perfusions), 6) a collection line for gas containing ¹⁴CO₂ that exited the oxygenator. The tubing connecting the cannula assembly and perfusion reservoirs comprise an approximately 104 cm "umbilical" that allows the cannula assembly to be inserted in the NMR magnet (clear bore of 10 cm) while the perfusion apparatus itself remains outside of the bore of the

magnet. The bottom part of the cannula assembly (heart chamber) was designed to fit within a 25-mm NMR tube. In addition, the aortic outflow line, after leaving the compliance chamber, proceeded out of the magnet and into the perfusate reservoir for recirculation. This aortic outflow line provided the resistance necessary to generate an 80 mm Hg hydrostatic pressure (afterload) on the heart. Perfusion lines were water-jacked to maintain perfusion temperatures of 37 °C. Total perfusate volume was 100 ml.

Perfusion of hearts within the NMR magnet was identical to the normal working heart perfusions (see previous section). After conversion to the working mode the heart was cautiously inserted into the NMR tube (outer diameter 25 mm). In general, arrhythmia, fluctuation and reduction of the aortic flow occurred during this experimental procedure, but disappeared quickly after hearts were adjusted within the magnet. It is noteworthy that one of the major problems described in previous studies of isolated working hearts designed for ³¹P-NMR^{4,5} was that the long tube connecting the heart within the magnet bore to the perfusion apparatus required a higher pressure in the hearts to overcome inertia and friction. This resulted in a dramatic depression of cardiac function compared with that seen in normal working hearts. To avoid this limitation, an oxygenator, which also functioned as a heat exchanger, was inserted into the magnet close to the heart chamber. Furthermore, the length of the oxygenator was increased to 37 cm (3.2 cm outer diameter), which efficiently increased the surface area in contact with carbogen. In order to diminish the resistance of perfusion system,

the inner diameters of the heart cannulae were enlarged (2.5 mm for aortic cannula and 3.0 mm for left atrial cannula). All working hearts were perfused with Krebs-Henseleit solution (same as normal condition) except that 1.2 mM KH_2PO_4 was replaced by 1.2 mM KCI (there was no change in cardiac function).

The effluents from the two vacuum lines (coronary effluent and oxygenator outflow) and the aortic outflow line were pumped into the perfusate reservoir and this created a positive pressure. In contrast, there was a negative pressure inside the heart chamber due to the perfusate that was removed. To normalize the pressure inside the heart chamber, another gas (95% O_2 and 5% CO_2) line was inserted into the chamber. This normalization of chamber pressure allowed the flow through the aortic cannula (without cannulated heart) to reach its normal range (90 to 100 ml • min⁻¹). To normalize the pressure inside the perfusate flow through the aortic cannula (without cannulated heart) to reach its normal range (90 to 100 ml • min⁻¹). To normalize the pressure inside the perfusate following metabolism section) and connected to the reservoir.

Previously, several problems remained after modification of the heart perfusion system that led to depressed cardiac function. In order to ensure magnetic field homogeneity, the heart must work while immersed within the perfusate. This causes an additional pressure on the heart that is not present under normal working heart conditions. This problem was solved by normalization of the pressure inside the heart chamber. A second problem was that the confines of the NMR tube impaired the movement of the heart during contraction and relaxation. This problem was solved by using a larger diameter NMR tube (25 mm), which did not significantly increase the signal to noise ratio (see Fig. 2-2 for spectra). With these modifications, there were no significant differences in cardiac function between hearts perfused under normal conditions and hearts perfused under the modified condition for ³¹P-NMR measurements (Table 2-1).

3.2 Experimental conditions for ³¹P-NMR study*

³¹P-NMR spectra were acquired using a Bruker Advance 500 spectrometer in conjunction with a 120 mm vertical bore 11.7 T magnet (Magnex, Oxford, U.K.). The working hearts were positioned within a 25 mm dual channel NMR probe (Morris Instruments). Field homogeneity was adjusted by shimming the proton signal using the ¹H channel and yielded line widths of approximately 0.1 ppm. ³¹P-NMR spectra were acquired at 202.4 MHz with a time resolution of 2.25 min (1.12 min at the end of ischemia and first 10 min of reperfusion), using a 60 °C pulse, and a 1.8 sec recycle time. Spectra were processed using WINNMR (Bruker) by summing 72 (or 36) free induction decays and subjected to Fourier Transformation following exponential multiplication (Line Broadening=30). The content of high energy phosphates was determined by intergration of the areas under the peaks. During an initial stabilization period of 30 min of aerobic perfusion, which included the time required for tuning of the probe and shimming of the magnet, baseline spectra were required before the onset of ischemia. pH_i was determined from the chemical shift of Pi relative to PCr with a calibration curve obtained by titrating Pi in a solution mimicking the intracellular milieu⁸. The rate of recovery of pH_i was defined as a ratio of the change in pH_i to the corresponding time period (until pH_i recovered to preischemic level) after ischemia and expressed as pH units • min⁻¹.

* ³¹P-NMR analysis was performed in collaboration with Dr. John C. Docherty, National Research Council, Winnipeg.

4. Measurement of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and palmitate oxidation

Glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were measured simultaneously by perfusing hearts with $[5-{}^{3}H/U-{}^{14}C]$ glucose^{6,7}. Rates of glycolysis were measured by quantitative determination of the amount of ${}^{3}H_2O$ liberated from the labeled $[5-{}^{3}H]$ glucose at the enolase step of glycolysis^{6,7}. ${}^{3}H_2O$ was separated from $[{}^{3}H]$ glucose and $[{}^{14}C]$ glucose (used to measure glucose oxidation, see following section) using chromatography columns containing Dowex 1x4 anion exchange resin (200-400 mesh) suspended in 0.4 M potassium tetraborate. The Dowex resin in the columns (resin volume of 0.4 ml) was extensively washed with H₂O prior to use. A 0.2 ml volume of perfusate was added to the column and eluted into scintillation vials with 0.8 ml of H₂O. Following addition of Ecolite scintillant, the samples were subjected to standard double isotope counting procedures to

detect 3 H₂O and residual [3 H/ 14 C]glucose. The Dowex columns were found to retain 98-99.6% of the total [3 H]glucose and [14 C]glucose present in the perfusate. The 3 H₂O was corrected for the small amount of [3 H]glucose that passed through the column. This could be accomplished since an equal amount of [14 C]glucose also passed through the column and could be used as an internal standard for the degree of [3 H]glucose contamination in the 3 H₂O sample. Correction was also made for the degree of spillover from [14 C] into the [3 H] counting window by measuring this degree of spillover using standards containing only [14 C]glucose. Glycolytic rates are expressed as nmol of glucose metabolized • min⁻¹ • g dry wt⁻¹.

Rates of glucose oxidation and fatty acid oxidation were measured in separate groups of hearts by quantitatively collecting ¹⁴CO₂ produced by the heart from [U-¹⁴C]glucose or [1-¹⁴C]palmitate in the perfusate, as described previously^{6,7}. ¹⁴CO₂ production included ¹⁴CO₂ released as a gas in the oxygenation chamber and ¹⁴CO₂ dissolved as H¹⁴CO₃⁻ in perfusate. The gaseous ¹⁴CO₂ was trapped in hyamine hydroxide solution through the exhaust line in the perfusion system (see Fig. 2-1). The dissolved ¹⁴CO₂ as H¹⁴CO₃⁻ was released and trapped on filter paper saturated with hyamine hydroxide in the central well of 25 ml stoppered flasks after perfusate samples were acidified by the addition of 1 ml of 9N H₂SO₄. Rates of glucose or fatty acid oxidation are expressed as nmol of glucose or palmitate metabolized • min⁻¹ • g dry wt⁻¹.

5. Calculation of H⁺ production from glucose utilization

If glucose passes through glycolysis to lactate and the ATP so formed is hydrolyzed, a net production of 2 H⁺ per molecule of glucose occurs^{7,9}. In contrast, if glycolysis is coupled to glucose oxidation, the net production of H⁺ is zero. Therefore, the overall rate of H⁺ production derived from glucose utilization was determined by subtracting the rate of glucose oxidation from the rate of glycolysis and multiplying by 2.

6. Calculation of tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) acetyl-CoA production

The rate of acetyl-CoA production for the TCA cycle was calculated based on 2 acetyl-CoA being produced from each molecule of glucose oxidized and 8 acetyl-CoA from each molecule of palmitate oxidized^{9,10}.

7. 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) assays

7.1 Extraction of AMPK and ACC

Approximately 200 mg of frozen tissue was homogenized in a buffer containing Tris • HCI (50 mM, pH 7.5 at 4°C), mannitol (0.25 M), NaF (50 mM),

sodium pyrophosphate (5 mM), EDTA (1 mM), EGTA (1 mM), dithiothreitol (1 mM), and the following protease inhibitors: phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (1 mM), soybean trypsin inhibitor (4 μ g • ml⁻¹), and benzamidine (1 mM). Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 g for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatant was brought to 2.5% (w/V) polyethylene glycol (PEG) with 25% (wt • vol⁻¹) PEG 6000 and was agitated for 10 min at 4°C. Samples were then spun at 10,000 g for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was then made up to 6% PEG 6000 (W/V) using a PEG 6000 stock and was stirred once again for 10 min at 4°C. This fraction was spun at 10,000 g for 10 min, and the precipitate was washed with homogenization buffer containing 6% PEG 6000 (W/V). This was followed by a final centrifugation at 10,000 g, after which the protein concentration in the supernatant was measured using a Sigma bicinchoninic acid protein kit.

7.2 ACC assay

ACC activity in the PEG 6000 fractions was measured using a CO₂ fixation method¹¹. Briefly, 5 μ l of the PEG fraction, containing 20 μ g of total protein, were added to a reaction mixture (final volume, 165 μ l) containing Tris • acetate (60.6 mM), BSA (1 mg • ml⁻¹), 2-mercaptoethanol (1.32 μ M), ATP (2.21 mM), acetyl-CoA (1.06 mM), magnesium acetate (5.0 mM), and NaHCO₃ (18.08 mM), pH 7.4. Samples were incubated at 37°C for 10 min, and the reaction was stopped by adding 25 μ l of 10% perchloric acid. Samples were then spun for 20 min at 3,500 g, and 160 μ l of supernatant were placed in minivials and dried in a fume hood overnight. H₂O (100 μ l), followed by scintillant, was added to the vials, and the

vials were counted. ACC activity was expressed as the amount of malonyl-CoA produced • min⁻¹ • mg protein⁻¹.

7.3 AMPK assay

AMPK activity was measured by following the incorporation of ³²P into a synthetic peptide¹¹. Briefly, 2 µl of the PEG fraction were added to a reaction mixture (final volume, 25 µl) composed of HEPES-NaOH (40 mM), NaCl (80 mM), glycerol (8%, wt • vol⁻¹), EDTA (0.8 mM), AMARAASAAALARRR (AMARA) peptide (200 µm), dithiothreitol (0.8 mM), [γ -³²P]ATP (200 µM), MgCl₂ (5 mM), and 0.18% Triton X-100. Samples were also incubated in the presence or absence of 200 µM AMP. This mixture was incubated for 3 min at 30°C. From this incubation mixture, 15 µl were spotted on 1-cm² phosphocellulose paper. The paper was then washed four times for 10 min each with 150 mM phosphoric acid, followed by a 5-min acetone wash. The papers were then dried and counted for radioactivity. AMPK activity was expressed as pmol ³²P incorporated into the AMARA peptide • min⁻¹ • mg protein⁻¹.

8. Malonyl-CoA decarboxylase (MCD) assay*

MCD activity was measured according to a protocol described by Dyck et al¹². The product of MCD, acetyl-CoA, was detected^{12,13}. Acetyl-CoA derived from MCD was incubated in the presence of [¹⁴C]oxaloacetate and citrate synthase (0.73 μ U • μ l⁻¹) to form citrate. The [¹⁴C]oxaloacetate was initially

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

produced by a 20-min transamination reaction performed at room temperature utilizing L-[U-¹⁴C]aspartate (2.5 μ Ci • ml⁻¹) and 2-oxoglutarate (2 mM)^{12,13}. One of the advantages of this assay was that extensive purification of MCD was not required before assay.

To initiate the MCD assay, heart homogenates were incubated in a 210 µl reaction mixture (0.1 M Tris. pH 8, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM malonyl-CoA) for 10 min at 37°C, in the presence or absence of NaF (50 mM) and NaPP_i (5 mM)¹². The reaction was stopped by the ad dition of 40 μ l of perchloric acid (0.5 mM), neutralized with 10 µl of 2.2 M KHCO₃ (pH 10) and centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 min to remove precipitated proteins. The incubation of the heart sample with malonyl-CoA allowed for the conversion of malonyl-CoA to acetyl-CoA, which was then combined with $[^{14}C]$ oxaloacetate (0.17 μ Ci · ml⁻¹) to produce ¹⁴Clcitrate. All reactions were carried out in the presence of *N*-ethylmaleimide, which removes excess CoA remaining in the latter stages of the reaction so that the citrate present cannot generate non-MCD-derived acetyl-CoA. Unreacted [¹⁴C]oxaloacetate was removed from the reaction mixture by the addition of sodium glutamate (6.8 mM) and aspartate aminotransferase (0.533 μ U • μ l⁻¹), followed by a 20-min incubation at room temperature. This allowed for transamination of unreacted [¹⁴Cloxaloacetate back to [¹⁴Claspartate. The resulting solution was then stirred in a 1:2 suspension of Dowex AG 50W-8X resin (100-200 mesh) and centrifuge d at 400 g for 10 min. The pelleted Dowex fraction removed [¹⁴C]aspartate, whereas the supernatant contained [¹⁴C]citrate.

The supernatant fraction was then counted for ¹⁴C present in the form of [¹⁴C]citrate. The amount of acetyl-CoA produced by MCD was then quantified by comparison to acetyl-CoA standard curves that had been subjected to the identical assay conditions as described above. MCD activity was quantified by comparison with acetyl-CoA standards.

* MCD assay was performed by Miss Jennifer Watson

9. PDH assay

Frozen ventricular tissue was weighed and powered with a mortar and pestle cooled in liquid nitrogen. The PDH analysis was performed using a modification of the radioisotopic-coupled enzyme assay developed by Constantin-Teodosiu et al.¹⁴ Frozen ventricular tissue samples were homogenized for 30 sec in the presence of 370 µl of 200 mM sucrose, 50 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM EGTA, 50 mM Tris-HCl, 50 mM NaF, 5 mM DCA, and 0.1% Triton X-100 (V/V) (pH 7.8). To measure total PDH activity, NaF was omitted from the homogenization buffer, and 10 mM glucose and 2.25 U hexokinase • ml⁻¹ were added to the buffer. The homogenate was then incubated for 15 min at 37 °C in the presence of 200 mM sucrose, 4.8 mM CaCl₂, 25 mM DCA, 50 mM KCl, 0.5 mM EGTA, 100 mM glucose, 2.25 U hexokinase, and 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4. The PDH assay for both active (PDHa) and total PDH (PDHt) was initiated by addition of 100 µl of homogenate to 480 µl of assay
buffer containing (in mM) 150 Tris-HCI,0.75 NAD⁺, 0.75 CoA, and 1.5 thiamine pyrophosphate, pH 7.8. The reaction was initiated by addition of pyruvate (30 µl of a 26 mM stock solution) to a final concentration of 1 mM. After 10 min, the reaction was terminated by the addition of 210 µl of 0.5 M perchloric acid. The solution was then neutralized and centrifuged, and the supernatant acetyl-CoA content was measured. Activity was based on the measurement of acetyl-CoA in which acetyl-CoA formed from the PDH assay (active or total) was converted to [¹⁴C]citrate in the presence of citrate synthase and [¹⁴C]aspartate. Sodium glutamate and aspartate aminotransferase were used to remove excess [¹⁴C]oxaloacetate after the citrate synthase reaction by transamination of unreacted oxaloacetate to [¹⁴C]aspartate from [¹⁴C]citrate. Acetyl-CoA content of supernatant samples was quantified by comparison with acetyl-CoA standard curves run in each experiment.

10. Determination of CoA esters*

Detection and quantification were performed by extracting CoA esters from powdered tissue into 6% perchloric acid (V/V) and measuring with a modified HPLC procedure¹⁵. Essentially, each sample (100 μ l) was run through a precolumn cartridge (C₁₈, size 3 cm, 7 μ m) and a Microsorb Short-one column (type C₁₈, particle size 3 μ m, size 4.6 \times 100 mm) on a Beckman System Gold HPLC. Absorbance was set at 254 nm and flow rate at 1 ml • min⁻¹. A gradient was initiated using buffer A (0.2 M NaH₂PO₄, pH 5.0) and buffer B (0.25 M NaH₂PO₄ and acetonitrile, pH 5.0) in a ratio of 80:20 (vol • vol⁻¹). Conditions were maintained at initial levels for 2.5 min (97% buffer A and 3% buffer B) and were changed thereafter to 18% buffer B over 5 min using Beckman's curve no. 3. The gradient was changed linearly at 15 min to 37% buffer B over 3 min and subsequently to 90% buffer B over 17 min. At 42 min the composition was returned linearly back to 3% buffer B over 0.5 min, and at 50 min column equilibration was complete. Peaks were integrated by the Beckman System Gold software package.

* HPLC analysis was performed by Mr. Ken Strynadka.

11. Statistical analysis

All data are presented as the mean \pm S.E.M. The data were analyzed with the statistical program Instat 2.01. Statistical comparisons between groups were carried out by ordinary or repeated measures ANOVA with post hoc Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons. When the data sets were unevenly distributed, the Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test were used to determine the significance of differences. Two-tailed values of p<0.05 were considered significant. Figure 2-1. Isolated working rat heart model for ³¹P-NMR and energy metabolism studies.

1.Vacuum line; 2. Plexiglass block; 3. Aortic outflow line; 4. Vacuum line; 5. Left atrial line; 6. ¹⁴CO₂ collection line (from oxygenator); 7. Pulmonary arterial cannula to measure MVO₂; 8. Left atrial cannula; 9. Heart chamber; 10. Aortic cannula; 11.Plastic support dowel; 12. Oxygenator (95% O₂, 5% CO₂);13. Perfusate reservoir; 14. Peristaltic pump; 15. ¹⁴CO₂ collection line (from perfusate reservoir);16. Left atrial line.



Figure 2-2. Original ³¹P-NMR spectra under control conditions (A), after 20 min of ischemia (B) and after 25 min of reperfusion (C) in hearts perfused with glucose, palmitate and cariporide. pH_i was determined from the shift difference between Pi and PCr. PCr resonance was set to 0 ppm.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Table 2-1. Comparison of cardiac function between normal working rat heart model and working rat heart model for ³¹P-NMR.

Normal working hearts (n=4)	Working hearts for ³¹ P-NMR (n=4)
246±8	233±8
125±3	130±13
81±8	70±13
49±3	50±4
27±2	21±2
	Normal working hearts (n=4) 246±8 125±3 81±8 49±3 27±2

Values are means \pm SEM of the number of hearts indicated. Hearts were perfused with glucose (5.5 mM) and palmitate (1.2 mM). Values were taken after 30 min of aerobic perfusion.

Bibliography

- 1. Neely JR, Rovetto MJ. Techniques for perfusing isolated rat hearts. *Methods Enzymol* 1975;39:43-60.
- 2. Taegtmeyer H, Hems R, Krebs HA. Utilization of energy-providing substrates in the isolated working rat heart. *Biochem J* 1980;186:701-711.
- Saddik M, Lopaschuk GD. Myocardial triglyceride turnover and contribution to energy substrate utilization in isolated working hearts. *J Biol Chem* 1991;266:8162-8170.
- Barbour RL, Sotak CH, Levy GC, Chan SH. Use of gated perfusion to study early effects of anoxia on cardiac energy metabolism: a new ³¹P-NMR method. *Biochemistry* 1984;1923:6503-6062.
- Assadnazar H, Zimmer G, Freisleben HJ, Werk W, Leibfritz D. Cardioprotective efficiency of dihydrolipolic acid in working rat hearts during hypoxia and reoxygenation. *Drug Res* 1993;43:425-432.
- Lopaschuk GD, Barr RL. Measurements of fatty acid and carbohydrate metabolism in the isolated working rat heart. *Mol & Cell Biochem* 1997;172:137-147.
- Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB, Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1993; 264:135-144.

- 8. Moon RB, Richards JH. Determination of intracellular pH by ³¹P magnetic resonance. *J Biol Chem* 1973;260:7276-7278.
- Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.
- 10.Liu B, el Alaoui-Talibi Z, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of contractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity and MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:H72-H80.
- 11. Kudo N., A. J. Barr, R. L. Barr, S. Desai, and G. D. Lopaschuk. High rates of fatty acid oxidation during reperfusion of ischemic hearts are associated with a decrease in malonyl-CoA levels due to an increase in 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270: 17513-17520.
- 12. Dyke JRB, Barr AJ, Barr RL, Kolattukudy PE, Lopaschuk GD. Characterization of cardiac malonyl-CoA decarboxylase and its putative role in regulating fatty acid oxidation. A M J Physiol 1998;275:H2122-H2129.
- 13. Voilley N, Roduit R, Vicaretti R, Bonny C, Waeber G, Dyck JRB, Lopaschuk GD, Prentki M. Cloning and expression of rat pancreatic β-cell malonyl-CoA decarboxylase. *Biochem J* 1999;340:213-217.
- 14. Constantin-Teodosiu D, Cederblad G and Hultman E. A sensitive radiosotopic assay of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in human muscle tissue. Anal Biochem 1991;198:347-351.

15. Lopaschuk GD, Witters LA, Itoi T, Barr R, Barr A. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase involvement in the rapid maturation of fatty acid oxidation in the newborn rabbit heart. *J Biol Chem* 1994;269:25871-25878.

Chapter 3

Acute effects of triiodothyronine on glucose and fatty acid metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic rat hearts

A version of this Chapter has been published

(Liu Q, et al. Am J Physiol 1998;275(38): E392-E399)

1. Introduction

It is well known that thyroid hormone regulates metabolic and physiological functions in cardiac tissue (see 1 for review). The direct effects of L-triiodothyronine (T₃), the biologically active form of the hormone, on cardiac cells can be nuclear or extranuclear in nature (see 1 for review). Nuclear effects are delayed in onset and are brought about by binding of thyroid hormone to nuclear thyroid hormone receptors. *In vivo*, hyperthyroidism can cause an increase in heart rate, contractility and cardiac output, thus raising the inotropic state of the heart which is accompanied by high level of energy substrate metabolism, especially glucose utilization^{2,3}. Although these effects of thyroid hormone are thought to be the result of changes in myocardial gene expression, attention has recently focused on acute, non-nuclear mediated actions of T₃ (see 4 for review).

Extranuclear effects of thyroid hormone are rapid in onset, are not altered by inhibition of protein synthesis, and are mediated by thyroid hormone binding to plasma membrane receptors (see 4, 5 for review). Various lines of evidence have documented that T_3 can act as a vasodilator and positive inotrope *in vitro*^{4,5}. The recognition of these effects has resulted in treatment strategies using T_3 that target specific clinical conditions associated with impaired cardiovascular performance and low serum T_3 concentration, including heart failure, cardiac surgery and acute myocardial infarction^{1,4,6,7}. In clinical, as well as experimental

96

trials, improved myocardial recovery in response to acute T_3 supplementation has been demonstrated after myocardial ischemia and cardiopulmonary bypass⁷⁻⁹. The mechanisms responsible for the cardioprotective effects of T_3 have yet to be defined.

In most clinical situations of reperfusion after ischemia, heart muscle is exposed to high levels of fatty acids (see 10 for review). When hearts are aerobically reperfused after ischemia, glucose oxidation is suppressed, due to high rates of fatty acid ß-oxidation. This results in a marked imbalance between rates of glycolysis and glucose oxidation^{11,12}. In severely ischemic myocardium, production of protons (H⁺) from the hydrolysis of glycolytically derived ATP is a major contributor to acidosis^{3,13}. Clearance of H⁺ via the NHE1 in aerobically perfused hearts subjected to an intracellular acid load leads to a significant decrease in cardiac efficiency^{14,15}. This is due to the exchange of H⁺ with extracelluar Na⁺ via the NHE1. The intracellular Na⁺ can then rapidly exchange with Ca^{2+} via the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger during reperfusion, resulting in Ca²⁺ overload and cell death. Previous studies have shown that reducing the source of H⁺ by stimulation of glucose oxidation or inhibition of excessive rates of glycolysis improves cardiac efficiency¹⁵⁻¹⁸. As a result, modifying glucose metabolism is one potential mechanism by which T₃ could potentially exert its cardioprotective effects. Previous studies have suggested that T₃ can modify both glycolysis and glucose oxidation in the heart^{19,20}. Whether the

cardioprotective effects of T_3 are attributable to changes in glucose metabolism or a switch in energy substrate preference has not been determined.

In this study we determined whether acute T_3 treatment could improve mechanical function and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion of ischemic hearts by modulation of glucose metabolism. Isolated working rat hearts perfused with a high level of fatty acid were subjected to a 30 min period of global no-flow ischemia, followed by 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. The effects of T_3 on the recovery of cardiac work, O_2 consumption (MVO₂), glycolysis, and oxidative metabolism of glucose and fatty acid were measured. Our results demonstrate that by reducing the production of H⁺ from glucose metabolism, T_3 significantly improves the recovery of mechanical function and cardiac efficiency in the postischemic heart.

2. Methods (for general experimental procedure, please see Chapter 2 for details)

Glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were measured simultaneously by perfusing hearts with [5-³H/U-¹⁴C]. Fatty acid oxidation rates were measured with perfusate containing [1-¹⁴C]palmitate. TCA cycle activity was determined by calculating the rate of acetyl-CoA entering the TCA cycle from both glucose oxidation and fatty acid oxidation. Overall rates of H⁺ production derived from glucose metabolism were determined by subtracting the rate of glucose oxidation

from the rate of glycolysis and multiplying by two. PDH analysis was performed using a radioisotopic-coupled enzyme assay.

3. Experimental Protocol

Isolated working rat hearts were initially perfused for a 30 min period under aerobic conditions. Global no-flow ischemia was then introduced by clamping both the left atrial inflow and aortic outflow lines. After 30 min of noflow ischemia, the left atrial and aortic flows were restored and the hearts were reperfused for a further 40-min period under aerobic conditions. T₃ was added at the onset of the 30 min aerobic working heart perfusion, at a final concentration of 10 nM (n=22). T₃ was diluted in 1 N NaOH (1 µl) immediately before use and the same amount of NaOH was added to the control group (n=17). Hearts were perfused with krebs-Henseleit solution containing 5.5 mM glucose, 1.2 mM palmitate and 100 µU • ml⁻¹ insulin.

4. Results

4.1 Effects of T₃ on cardiac mechanical function of isolated working hearts subjected to 30 min of global no-flow ischemia

Fig. 3-1A shows the effects of treatment with 10 nM T_3 on the recovery of cardiac work in hearts subjected to 30 min of global ischemia. After severe

ischemia, the recovery of cardiac work was deperessed in control hearts, returning to only $11\pm3\%$ of preischemic values after 40 min of reperfusion. During reperfusion, heart rate, peak systolic pressu re, developed pressure, cardiac output, coronary flow were all significantly depressed compared to preischemic values. MVO₂ in control hearts recovered to a greater extent during reperfusion than did cardiac work (Table 3-1), resulting in a significant decrease in cardiac efficiency throughout the entire 40 min reperfusion period (Fig. 3-1B).

When 10 nM T₃ was added at the onsect of the aerobic perfusion, there was no significant effect on the mechanical funiction of perfused hearts (Table 3-1, Fig. 3-1). However, at the end of 40 min of reperfusion, cardiac work recovered to $35\pm6\%$ of preischemic values in T₃-treated hearts, compared with only $11\pm3\%$ in control hearts (p < 0.05). Systolic pressure, developed pressure and cardiac output also recovered to significantly greater values than in control hearts (Table 3-1). T₃ had no effect on MWO₂ (Table 3-1), but due to the enhanced recovery of function, cardiac efficiency was increased during reperfusion compared with control (Fig. 3-1B).

Since T_3 has vasodilatory effects *in vitre* it is possible that the beneficial effects of T_3 could partly be explained by alterations in coronary flow. However, as shown in Table 3-1, T_3 did not significant in coronary flow during either the pre- or postischemia period. Furthermore, the increase in MVO₂ was less than the increase in contractile function postischemia, suggesting that the

beneficial effect of T_3 seen in these hearts is not due to its vasorelaxant properties.

4.2 Effects of T_3 on glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and palmitate oxidation during reperfusion of hearts after ischemia

Fig. 3-2 and 3-3 show the time-dependent metabolism of glucose by glycolysis (panel A) and glucose oxidation (panel B) and palmitate oxidation. T_3 did not have any significant effects on glycolysis (Fig. 3-2A) and palmitate oxidation (Fig. 3-3), but did result in a significant increase in glucose oxidation during the reperfusion period (Fig. 3-2B). PDH activity (the rate limiting enzyme for glucose oxidation) was also measured in hearts frozen at the end of the reperfusion period. T_3 -treatment significantly stimulated PDHa activity without affecting PDHt in post-ischemic hearts (Table 3-2). Although T_3 treatment stimulated glucose oxidation in the reperfusion period, no effect of T_3 on glucose oxidation was observed during the initial aerobic perfusion.

The effects of T_3 on steady state rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation and palmitate oxidation are shown in Table 3-3. Steady state rates were calculated for values between 10 and 30 min of the aerobic period and between 10 and 40 min of the reperfusion period (Fig. 3-2). In control hearts, glycolysis recovered to pre-ischemic rates. T_3 had no significant effects on the rates of glycolysis during either the aerobic or reperfusion period. The steady state rate of glucose

oxidation in control hearts was substantially lower than the rate of glycolysis (Table 3-3). This parallels previous observations in isolated working rat hearts perfused with high levels of fatty acid^{8,12,15,21}. During reperfusion of control hearts, glucose oxidation did not recover to preischemic rates (p < 0.05). Treatment with T₃ resulted in a marked increase in the rate of glucose oxidation during reperfusion compared with control hearts (p < 0.05).

The steady state rate of palmitate oxidation during reperfusion of control hearts did not return to preischemic levels (p <0.05). T_3 had no significant effect on palmitate oxidation rate during reperfusion compared with control hearts.

4.3 Effects of T₃ on H⁺ production rate from glucose metabolism

Steady state H^+ production in aerobic and reperfused ischemic hearts is shown in Table 3-3. A significant decrease in H^+ production was seen in T₃treated hearts, compared with control hearts. By selectively increasing the rate of glucose oxidation, T₃ improved the coupling between glycolysis and glucose oxidation, resulting in a significant decrease in H^+ production during reperfusion.

4.4 Effects of T₃ on rates of TCA cycle activity

To investigate TCA cycle activity during reperfusion, the rate of acetyl-CoA production from glucose oxidation and palmitate oxidation was calculated. As

102

shown in Table 3-4, the total rate of TCA acetyl CoA production in control hearts was significantly decreased during reperfusion compared with preischemic values. This was consistent with the poor recovery of cardiac work. Treatment with T_3 did not alter overall acetyl-CoA production from glucose and palmitate oxidation. However, during reperfusion T_3 increased acetyl-CoA production from glucose.

5. Discussion

Acute treatment with physiologic or supraphysiologic concentrations of T_3 has been shown to have cardioprotective actions in experimental models of ischemia and reperfusion, as well as in the rescue of myocardial function after human cardiopulmonary bypass surgery^{8-9,22}. Our data also show that acute T_3 can significantly improve the recovery of contractile function of isolated rat hearts subjected to a severe episode of no-flow ischemia. These effects of T_3 were associated with an improvement in the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation, thereby decreasing H⁺ production and increasing cardiac efficiency during reperfusion of the postischemic heart.

*T*₃ effects on cardiac energy metabolism

Few previous studies have determined directly the effects of acute T_3 treatment on energy metabolism in the heart. A study by Segal²⁰ showed that physiological concentrations of T_3 (1 pM to 10 nM) significantly stimulates 2-

deoxyglucose uptake in rat heart slices after as little as 10 min following treatment. However, in both aerobic and postischemic hearts, we observed that T_3 -treatment was not associated with any significant effects on glycolysis. Therefore, we suggest that the cardioprotective effects of T_3 are not associated with an increase in glucose uptake and metabolism by glycolysis. Possible reasons for the differences between our study and that performed in rat heart slices are: 1) relevant level of fatty acid was present in our perfusate and not in the rat heart slice studies, and 2) hearts in our study were subjected to a physiological workload. Since circulating fatty acid levels are elevated both during and following clinically relevant conditions of ischemia, and fatty acids have dramatic effects on glucose metabolism, we felt it necessary to perform our studies in the presence of a relevant level of fatty acid. In addition, as rates of glucose metabolism are related to workload, all experiments were performed in the working mode.

Our data show that the primary effect of T_3 on myocardial glucose metabolism is a stimulation of glucose oxidation during reperfusion. A previous study using rat cardiac myocytes also suggested that acute treatment of T_3 directly stimulates glucose oxidation¹⁹. The effects of T_3 on glucose oxidation are unlikely to be due to a generalized increase in oxidative metabolism, since the increase in glucose oxidation seen in T_3 -treated hearts was not accompanied by an increase in fatty acid oxidation. Of interest is that the effects of T_3 on glucose oxidation were only observed during reperfusion of ischemic hearts, and not under aerobic preischemic conditions.

T₃ treatment significantly increased non-phosphorylated PDHa activity in postischemic hearts. Since PDHa plays an important role in regulation of glucose oxidation²³, our data strongly suggest that T₃ stimulates glucose oxidation and improves coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation secondary to a stimulation of PDHa activity. In rat hearts, ischemia or reperfusion have previously been shown to lead to an inactivation of PDHa under conditions similar to those used in the present study^{24,25}. Ischemia is likely to increase intramitochondrial NADH/NAD⁺ and acetyl-CoA/CoA ratios, which would lead to inactivation of PDH: however, the reduced ATP/ADP would balance this to some extent by favoring activation²⁴. It has been reported that acute T_3 treatment can reduce intramitochondrial ATP/ADP^{26,27}, which may contribute to the observed activation of PDHa. However, the detailed mechanism whereby T₃ regulates PDH activity is still unclear. Future studies need to clarify whether acute T₃ treatment has any effect on PDH kinase or phosphatase, both of which also play an important role to regulate PDH activity^{28,29}. PDH activity has also been shown to be stimulated by hyperthyroidism³⁰, although this is probably due to transcriptional regulation. Since acute treatment with T₃ is unlikely to up-regulate protein synthesis and PDHt was not altered, the observed effects of T₃ on PDHa in our study were likely the result of changes in the phosphorylated state of PDH.

Recovery of contractile function, energy metabolism and cardiac efficiency in the postischemic heart

During reperfusion of the severely ischemic control hearts, a significant decrease in the recovery of cardiac function occurred which was associated with a decrease in cardiac efficiency (Fig. 3-1). This decrease in cardiac efficiency has also been observed in previous studies^{11,15}. However, unlike these previous studies, we did not observe a complete recovery of fatty acid oxidation in control hearts during reperfusion. This difference in the recovery of fatty acid oxidation may be related to the severity of ischemic injury observed in the present study. As shown in Fig. 3-1, cardiac work recovered to $11\pm3\%$ of the preischemic value in control hearts, compared to 30-40% in our previous studies^{11,15}. However, it should be recognized that despite this poor recovery of cardiac work, fatty acid oxidation in a marked increase in fatty acid oxidation per unit work, a finding consistent with our previous studies. Regardless of the degree of recovery of fatty acid oxidation in this study, our data suggest that the beneficial effects of T₃ are unlikely to be due to any direct effects on fatty acid oxidation.

It is well known that long-term hyperthyroidism is associated with high levels of MVO₂. However, with acute treatment of T₃, this is not the case. A recent study by Klemperer *et al*²² showed that acute T₃ treatment improves left ventricular function following ischemia without oxygen-wasting effects in isolated rat hearts. In the present study, we also found that T₃ significantly improves the

recovery of cardiac work without a concomitant increase in MVO₂. Therefore, an improved cardiac efficiency (ratio of cardiac work to MVO₂) was observed in the postischemic heart.

Previous studies⁸ suggest that combination of global ischemia and depletion of T₃ results in reduced mitochondrial function, inhibition of TCA cycle activity and increased anaerobic metabolism. T₃ replacement therapy leads to improved mitochondrial function and increased anaerobic metabolism. In the present study, we observed that acetyl-CoA production from glucose and fatty acid oxidation was significantly inhibited after 30 min of severe ischemia, whereas glycolysis was unaffected. Treatment with T₃ dramatically increased acetyl-CoA production from glucose oxidation with minor effects on fatty acid oxidation (Table 3-4). This suggests that T₃ may directly affect mitochondrial function. Overall acetyl-CoA production was not significantly increased, which suggests that T_3 has no effect on the efficiency of energy production. Rather, T_3 improves the efficiency of energy utilization. Thyroid hormone exerts two types of effects on mitochondria (see 31 for review). Within a few minutes of administration, T₃ causes a rapid activation of respiration, an effect that is preserved in isolated mitochondria. A direct control of oxidative phosphorylation through binding of T_3 to mitochondria is thought to occur³¹⁻³³. This control of oxidative phosphorylation is observed after administration of physiologic amounts of T_3 and is not altered by inhibition of protein synthesis^{26,31}. The mitochondrial binding site has been proposed to be the adenine nucleotide translocase^{32,33}, an

inner mitochondrial membrane carrier that catalyzes exchange between the extra- and intramitochondrial ADP and ATP^{26,34,35}. Of interest is the shift of the mitochondria ATP/ADP ratio also involved in the regulation of PDH activity, thereby controlling pyruvate oxidation and consequently glucose oxidation^{26,27}. However, studies identifying the adenine nucleotide translocase as a T₃ receptor (as well as the role of adenine nucleotide translocase in short-term activation of respiration) have been questioned (see 31 for review), and further studies are necessary to clarify this possibility.

In our study, the actual measured TCA cycle rates were lower than predicted TCA cycle rates calculated from measured oxygen consumption values shown in Fig. 3-1. This is likely the result of the significant proton leak that occurs in the mitochondrial membrane³⁶. Depending on the extent of proton leak, oxygen consumption rates can substantially overestimate actual TCA cycle activity. This raises the possibility that T₃ may increase cardiac efficiency by decreasing the mitochondrial proton leak. However, in this study we measured both parameters, and found that T₃ effects on TCA cycle activity (Table 3-4) and oxygen consumption during reperfusion of ischemic hearts (Fig. 3-1) were comparable. That is, T₃ increased TCA cycle during reperfusion by 27% (from 5.6 ± 0.5 to 7.1 ± 0.8 µmol • g dry wt⁻¹ • min⁻¹) and oxygen consumption by 30% (from 22.6 ± 6.7 to 29.4 ± 5.5 µmol • g dry wt⁻¹ • min⁻¹). This suggests that T₃ does not act by altering the mitochondrial H⁺ leak, and supports our hypothesis of

an increased cardiac efficiency secondary to decreasing proton production from glycolysis uncoupled from glucose oxidation.

Coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation in the postischemic heart

The production of H⁺ from glucose metabolism is an important contributor to the impaired recovery of mechanism function and to the decrease in cardiac efficiency seen following a severe ischemic episode^{11,12,15}. During reperfusion, treatment with T₃ dramatically stimulated glucose oxidation, with no effect on glycolysis. Each molecule of glucose that passes through glycolysis that is not subsequently oxidized results in the production of 2 H⁺ from the hydrolysis of glycolytically derived ATP^{11,15}. In the presence of high levels of fatty acids, glucose oxidation rates are 5-fold to 10-fold lower than glycolytic rates^{11,12,37}. Selective stimulation of glucose oxidation improves the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation, leading to a reduction in H^+ production. We have suggested that an increase in H⁺ accumulation during the critical period of reperfusion may contribute to cardiac inefficiency¹⁰ and the well-documented Ca²⁺ overload in the postischemic heart that occurs due to an increase in NHE1 activity coupled with Na^{+}/Ca^{2+} exchange¹⁴. Because T₃ reduced the H⁺ production from glucose utilization during reperfusion the driving force for the NHE1 is decreased, and $Na^{+}-Ca^{2+}$ exchange activity would thus be expected to be reduced during reperfusion. Decreased activity of this exchanger may be responsible for the significant improvement in cardiac efficiency observed during reperfusion.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

A number of other pharmacological agents also stimulates glucose oxidation and has a beneficial effect on the recovery of mechanical function during reperfusion of the postischemic heart ^{16,37}. One of these agents is DCA, a potent PDH activator, which also improves the coupling between glycolysis and glucose oxidation. This also results in a significant decrease in H⁺ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion, resulting in a significant increase in cardiac efficiency.

Summary

We demonstrate a significant improvement of recovery in postischemic cardiac function and efficiency in isolated rat hearts using moderately supraphysiological amounts of T_3 . The cardioprotective effect of T_3 may be due to its stimulation of glucose oxidation, secondary to an increase in PDHa activity, and therefore a reduction in the production of H⁺ by coupling glycolysis with glucose oxidation.



Figure 3-1. Effects of T_3 on the recovery of cardiac work (A), and cardiac efficiency (B) of isolated working hearts subjected to 30 min of global no-flow ischemia. Values are mean \pm SEM of 17 control hearts (O) and 22 hearts T_3 (10 nM)-treated hearts (\bullet).

*, Significantly different from control hearts.



Figure 3-2. The effects of T_3 on the time course of glycolysis (A), glucose oxidation (B), in hearts reperfused after 30 min of global no-flow ischemia. Values are mean \pm SEM. In panel A, control (O) n=12, T_3 (\bullet) n=16; In panel B, control (O) n=12, T_3 (\bullet) n=16. *, Significantly different from control hearts.



Figure 3-3. The effects of T_3 on the time course of palmitate in hearts reperfused after 30 min of global no-flow ischemia. Values are mean \pm SEM. control (O) n=5, T_3 (•) n=7.

Parameter measured	Control (n=17)	T₃ treated (n=22)
Aerobic		
Heart rate (beats • min ⁻¹)	246 ± 8	226 ± 5
Peak systolic pressure (mm Hg)	117 ± 3	110 ± 2
Developed pressure (mm Hg)	81 ± 8	79 ± 8
MVO ₂ (µmol glucose • dry wt ⁻¹)	58 ± 4	59 ± 3
Cardiac Output (ml • min ⁻¹)	49 ± 3	51 ± 2
Coronary flow (ml • min ⁻¹)	27 ± 2	26 ± 2
Reperfused after Ischemia		
Heart rate (beats • min ⁻¹)	96 ± 17⁺	126 ± 15⁺
Peak systolic pressure (mm Hg)	$30\pm7^{+}$	59 ± 9**
Developed pressure (mm Hg)	4 ± 7⁺	17 ± 15 ^{+*}
MVO ₂ (µmol glucose • dry wt ⁻¹)	$23\pm7^+$	$29\pm5^+$
Cardiac output (ml • min ⁻¹)	$10\pm3^{+}$	$20 \pm 4^{+*}$
Coronary flow (ml • min ⁻¹)	$8\pm3^{+}$	11 ± 2⁺

Table 3-1. Effects of T_3 on the recovery of mechanical function of postischemic working rat hearts.

* Significantly different from preischemic values.

* Significantly different from postischemic values in control hearts.

Table 3-2. Effect of T_3 on active and total pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in hearts reperfused following ischemia.

	PDHa (nmol g dry wt ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	PDHt (nmol g dry wt ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	PDHa/PDHt (%)
Control	2300 ± 508	9578 ± 664	23 ± 4
T ₃	3245 ± 439*	9585 ± 507	33 ± 4*

Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 30 min of global no-flow ischemia and 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. Values are mean \pm SEM of 11 hearts in each group. T₃ (10 nM) was added at the onset of aerobic perfusion.

* Significantly different from control hearts.

Table 3-3. Effects of T_3 on steady state rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and H^+ production from glucose utilization before and after ischemia.

Parameter measured (nmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	Control	T ₃
Aerobic		
Glycolysis	1270±190 (9)	1185±183 (13)
Glucose oxidation	160±18 (9)	142±17 (13)
H ⁺ production	2220±100 (9)	2086±365 (13)
Palmitate oxidation	1350±220 (5)	1140±106 (7)
		<u></u>
Reperfused after Ischemia		
Glycolysis	1465±153 (9)	1163±158 (13)
Glucose oxidation	95±8 ⁺ (9)	230±29 [•] (13)
H ⁺ production	2740±310 (9)	1867±311* (13)
Palmitate oxidation	680±70 ⁺ (5)	823±100 (7)

Values are means \pm SEM of the numbers shown in the brackets.

* Significantly different from preischemic values.

* Significantly different from postischemic values in control hearts.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Source of Acetyl-CoA (µmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	Control	T₃ treated
Acrohia		
Aerodic		
From Glucose Oxidation	0.32±0.04 (9)	0.28±0.03 (13)
From Palmitate Oxidation	10.8±1.7 (5)	9.1±0.8 (7)
Total TCA Cycle Activity	11.1±1.7	9.4±0.8
Reperfused after Ischemia		
From Glucose Oxidation	0.19±0.02 ⁺ (9)	0.46±0.06 ^{+*} (13)
From Palmitate Oxidation	5.4±0.5 ⁺ (5)	6.6±0.8 (7)
Total TCA cycle activity	5.6±0.5	7.1±0.8

Table 3-4. Effects of T_3 on the source of tricarboxylic acid cycle acetyl-CoA production from glucose and fatty oxidation in aerobic and postischemic hearts.

* Significantly different from postischemic values in control group.

* Significantly different from preischemic values.

Bibliography

- 1. Davis PJ and Davis FB. Acute cellular actions of thyroid hormone and myocardial function. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1993;56:S16-23.
- Moller N, Nielsen S, Nyholm B, Porksen N, Alberti KG, and Weeke J. Glucose turnover, fuel oxidation and forearm substrate exchange in patients with thyrotoxicosis before and after medical treatment. *Clin Endocrinol* 1996;4:453-459.
- 3. Opie LH. Myocardial ischemia-Metabolic pathways and implications of increased glycolysis. Cardiovasc *Drugs Ther* 1990;4:777-790.
- 4. Klemperer JD, Ojamaa K and Klein I. Thyroid hormone therapy in cardiovascular disease. *Prog. Cardiovas. Dis* 1996;4:329-336.
- 5. Klein I. Thyroid hormone and the cardiovascular system. Am J Med 1990;88:631-637.
- Hamilton MA. Prevalence and clinical implication of abnormal thyroid hormone metabolism in advanced heart failure. Ann Thorac Surg 1993;56:S48-53.
- Sinci V, Soncul H, Gunaydin S, Halit V, Gokgoz L, Tatlican O, Yener A, Bilgehan A, and Ersoz A. The effects of thyroid hormones on the heart following global ischemia: A clinical and experimental study. *Jpn. Heart J* 1994;35:443-454.

- Kadletz M, Mullen PG, Ding M, Wolf LG and Wechsler AS. Effect of triiodothyronine on postischemic myocardial function in the isolated heart. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994;57:657-62.
- Novitzky D, Human PA, and Cooper DKC. Inotropic effect of triiodothyronine following myocardlial ischemia and cardiopulmonary bypass: An experimental study in pigs. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1988;45: 50-55.
- 10. Lopaschuk GD, Belke DD, Gamble J, Itoi I and Schonekess BO. Regulation of fatty acid oxiciation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994;1213: 263-276.
- 11. Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R and Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after is chemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ. Res.* 1996;79: 940-948.
- 12. Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB and Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *J Pharmacol. Exp Ther* 1993;264:135-144.
- 13. Dennis SC, Geve rs W, and Opie LH. Protons in ischemia: Where do they come from; where do they go to ?. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1991;23:1077-1086.
- 14. Karmazyn M and Moffat MP. Role of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in cardiac ischemia and reperfusion imjury by the pH paradox. *Cardiovasc Res* 1993;27:915-924.
- 15.Liu B, Alaoui-Talib i Z, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, and Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of corntractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity and

MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. Am J Physiol 1996;270: H72-H80.

- 16. Broderick TL, Quinney HA, Barker CC, and Lopaschuk GD. Beneficial effect of carnitine on mechanical recovery of rat hearts reperfused after a transient period of global ischemia is accompanied by a stimulation of glucose oxidation. *Circulation* 1993;87:972-981.
- 17. Finegan BA., Lopaschuk GD, Coulson SC, and Clanachan AS. Adenosine alters glucose use during ischemia and reperfusion in isolated rat hearts. *Circulation.* 1993;87:900-908.
- Neely JR, and Morgan HE. Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1974;36:413-459.
- Burns AH, and Reddy WJ. Direct effects of thyroid hormones on glucose oxidation by isolated rat cardiac myocytes. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 1975;7: 553-561.
- 20. Segal J. Acute effect of thyroid hormone on the heart: An extranuclear increase in sugar uptake. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1989;21:323-334.
- 21. Collins-Nakai RL, Noseworthy D, and Lopaschuk GD. Epinephrine increases ATP production in hearts by preferentially increasing glucose metabolism. *Am J Physiol* 1994;267: H1862-H1871.
- 22. Klemperer JD, Zelano J, Helm RE, Berman K, Ojamaa K, Klein I, Isom OW, and Krieger K. Triiodothyronine improves left ventricular function without

oxygen wasting effects after global hypothermic ischemia. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1995;109: 457-65.

- 23. Clarke B, Spedding M, Patmore L, and McCormack JG. Protective effects of ranolazine in guinea-pig hearts during low-flow ischemia and their association with increases in active pyruvate dehydrogenases. *Br. J. Pharmacol* 1993;109:748-750.
- Kobayashi K, Neely JR. Effects of ischemia and reperfusion on pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in isolated rat hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1983;15: 359-367.
- 25. Patel TB. & Olson MS. Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in ischemic rat heart. *Am J Physiol.* 1984;343:H858-H864.
- Seitz HJ, Muller MJ, and Soboll S. Rapid thyroid-hormone effect on mitochondrial and cytosolic ATP/ADP ratios in the intact liver cell. *Biochem J* 1985;227:149-153.
- 27. Siess EA, and Wieland OH. Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase interconversion in isolated hepatocytes by the mitochondria ATP/ADP ratio. *FEBS Lett* 1975;52:226-230.
- 28.Constantin-Teodosiu D, Cederblad G and Hultman E. A sensitive radioisotopic assay of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in human muscle tissue. *Anal Biochem* 1991;198:347-351.
- 29.Constantin-Teodosiu D, Cederblad G and Hultman E. PDC activity and acetyl group accumulation in skeletal muscle during prolonged exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 1992;73:2403-2407.

- Orfali KA, Fryer GDL, Holness MJ, Sugden MC. Interactive effects of insulin and triiodothyronine on pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase activity in cardiac myocytes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1995;27:901-908.
- 31. Nelson BD. Thyroid hormone regulation of mitochondrial function. Comments on the mechanism of signal transduction. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1990;1018: 275-277.
- 32.Sterling K. Direct thyroid hormone activation of mitochondria: identification of adenine nucleotide translocase (AdNT) as the hormone receptor. *Transac Associ. Am Physici.* 1987;100:284-93.
- 33.Sterling K. Direct triiodothyronine (T₃) action by a primary mitochondrial pathway. *Endocrine Res* 1989;15(4): 683-715.
- 34. Hardy DL and Mowbray J. Direct thyroid hormone signalling via ADPribosylation controls mitochondrial nucleotide transport and membrane leakiness by changing the conformation of the adenine nucleotide transporter. *FEBS Letters* 1996;394(1): 61-5.
- 35.Sterling K, and Brenner MA. Thyroid hormone action: effect of triiodothyroine on mitochondrial adenine nucleotide translocase in vivo and in vitro. *Metabolism* 1995;44(2):193-9.
- 36. Brand MD, Chien LF, Ainscon GK, Rolfe DFS, and Porter RK. The cause and function of mitochondrial proton leak. *Biochim.Biophys Acta* 1994;1187:132-139.
37. McCormack JG, Barr RL, Wolff AA, Lopaschuk GD. Ranolazine stimulates glucose oxidation in normoxic, ischemic, and reperfused ischemic rat hearts. *Circulation* 1996;93:135-142.

Chapter 4

High levels of fatty acids delay the recovery of pH_i and cardiac efficiency in postischemic hearts by inhibiting glucose oxidation

(A version of this Chapter has been submitted for publication in Circulation

Research 2000)

1. Introduction

During ischemia, anaerobic glycolysis is an important source of ATP production¹. However, H⁺ production from the hydrolysis of glycolytically produced ATP can also become a major contributor to the acidosis that occurs in severely ischemic myocardium². Development of severe cellular acidosis decreases cardiac pressure development³ and provokes cardiac arrhythmias⁴. How either of these processes is mediated has not been fully elucidated. Acidosis decreases the response of contractile proteins to Ca²⁺, predominantly by a decrease in Ca²⁺ binding to troponin C as H⁺ compete with Ca²⁺ at Ca²⁺binding sites⁴. Intracellular acidosis during severe ischemia also increases sarcolemmal Na⁺/H⁺ exchange (NHE1)^{5,6}. If the myocardium is reperfused, extracellular pH quickly normalizes, creating a large pH gradient across the membrane, and the resultant activation of NHE1 increases intracellular Na⁺. Accumulation of intracellular Na⁺ may activate Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger and lead to intracellular Ca²⁺ overload and cell death^{5,6}. Inhibition of NHE1 can dramatically improves the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion⁷⁻⁹, emphasizing that the accumulation of intracellular H⁺ during ischemia is an important contributing factor to reperfusion injury. Whether continued production of H⁺ during the critical early period of reperfusion also has the potential to exacerbate ischemia-reperfusion injury has not been established.

125

In most clinical situations of reperfusion after ischemia, heart muscle is exposed to high levels of fatty acids¹⁰ and reperfusion of reversibly injured ischemic muscle under this condition results in a rapid recovery of fatty acid oxidation, with rates often exceeding preischemic levels^{11,12}. This high rate of fatty acid oxidation inhibits the rate of glucose oxidation to a much greater extent than the rate of glycolysis which results in a marked uncoupling between rates of alvcolvsis and alucose oxidation¹³⁻¹⁶. This uncoupling of alucose metabolism is a potentially important source of H⁺ production during reperfusion^{13,15,16}. If glycolysis is coupled to glucose oxidation, H⁺ production from hydrolysis of ATP derived from glucose metabolism is zero^{13,17}. However, if glycolysis is uncoupled from glucose metabolism (and pyruvate derived from glycolysis is not oxidized), there is a net production of 2H⁺ from each glucose molecule metabolized. As a result, high rates of fatty acid oxidation during the actual reperfusion period have the potential to increase H⁺ production from uncoupled glucose metabolism¹³⁻¹⁶. This increase in H⁺ production during reperfusion is associated with a poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Furthermore, reduction of H⁺ production by either inhibiting glycolysis or stimulating glucose oxidation can improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion^{15,16}. On the basis of these findings we speculate that high levels of fatty acids decrease cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion by increasing the production of H⁺ during the critical early period of reperfusion. Although there is evidence to indicate that fatty acid increases the calculated rate of H⁺ production

during reperfusion¹³⁻¹⁶, direct evidence demonstrating that a high level of fatty acid alters the rate of recovery of pH_i following ischemia is lacking.

Measurement of pH_i can be achieved with ³¹P-nuclear magnetic resonance (³¹P-NMR), which is considered to be the gold standard methodology for many years. However, to our knowledge no previous studies have used this technique to assess directly the effects of fatty acids on rates of pH_i recovery in working hearts following ischemia. In this study, we used ³¹P-NMR to measure directly pH_i in isolated working rat hearts in the presence and absence of a high level of fatty acid. Using this approach we were able to compare rates of recovery of pH_i following an episode of severe ischemia with rates of H⁺ production calculated from measurements of glycolysis and glucose oxidation. We also determined whether stimulation of glucose oxidation with dichloroacetate (DCA), a pyruvate dehydrogenase activator^{14,18}, could improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency by accelerating the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion.

2. Methods (for general experimental method, please see Chapter 2 for details)

Glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were measured simultaneously by perfusing hearts with [5-³H/U-¹⁴C]. Overall rates of H⁺ production derived from glucose metabolism were determined by subtracting the rate of glucose oxidation

from the rate of glycolysis and multiplying by two. pH_i and high energy phosphate were measured by ³¹P-NMR.

3. Experimental protocol

Isolated working rat hearts were subjected to 30 min aerobic perfusion (37 °C), 20 min of global no-flow ischemia (33 °C) and 40 min of reperfusion (37 °C). Experimental groups were: 1) 5.5 mM glucose throughout (Glucose), n=8, 2) 5.5 mM glucose and 1.2 mM palmitate throughout (Glucose+Palmitate), n=8 or 3) 5.5 mM glucose and 1.2 mM palmitate throughout with 3 mM DCA added immediately before postischemic reperfusion (Glucose+Palmitate+DCA), n=8. Hearts were perfused with Krebs-Henseleit solution containing 5.5 mM glucose, 1.2 mM palmitate.

4. Results

4.1 Effects of palmitate on baseline cardiac function

The effects of a high level of fatty acid (1.2 mM palmitate) on various measures of cardiac function in aerobic and reperfused ischemic hearts are shown in Table 4-1 and Fig. 4-1. Baseline preischemic values for heart rate, peak systolic pressure, developed pressure, cardiac output, cardiac work, MVO₂,

coronary flow and coronary vascular resistance (CVR) did not differ between Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose hearts. Baseline pH_i values in Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose hearts were also not different after 30 min aerobic perfusion (7.16±0.02 and 7.14±0.03, respectively, p>0.05).

4.2 Effects of palmitate on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency

Fig 4-1A shows the effects of palmitate on the recovery of cardiac work in hearts subjected to 20 min of global ischemia. This period of ischemia was chosen since it resulted in a near complete recovery of cardiac work in the Glucose group (83±8% of preischemic values). Similarly, MVO₂ recovered to preischemic level (94±5%)However, in Glucose+Palmitate hearts the recovery of cardiac work was dramatically depressed, returning to only 30±8% of preischemic values after 40 min of reperfusion. Heart rate, peak systolic pressure, developed pressure, cardiac output, and coronary flow were all significantly depressed during reperfusion in Glucose+Palmitate hearts compared with Glucose hearts (Table 4-1). However, CVR was not different between these two groups. In contrast, in the Glucose+Palmitate hearts MVO₂ recovered to a greater extent during reperfusion (Table 4-1) than cardiac work (Figure 4-1A), resulting in a significant decrease in cardiac efficiency throughout the entire 40-min reperfusion period (Fig 4-1B).

4.3 Effects of palmitate on glucose metabolism and H⁺ production

129

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Fig.4-2 shows amount of substrate metabolized versus time by glycolysis (panel A) or glucose oxidation (pane B) throughout the entire perfusion period. Rates of both glycolysis and glucose oxidation were linear in both the Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose hearts during the preischemic and postischemic periods. There was no difference in glycolysis and glucose oxidation between Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose hearts during preischemic period, respectively. Steady-state rates, calculated during the postischemic period, are shown in Table 4-2. No significant difference in glycolysis rates were observed during reperfusion between the Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose hearts. However, glucose oxidation was significantly lower in Glucose+Palmitate hearts compared with Glucose hearts. This resulted in a substantial uncoupling of glycolysis from glucose oxidation, leading to a significantly higher calculated rate of H⁺ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion in the Glucose+Palmitate hearts.

4.4 Effects of palmitate on the recovery of pH_i

The effects of palmitate on pH_i and high energy phosphates during ischemia and reperfusion periods are shown in Fig.4-3. As expected, pH_i decreased during ischemia, but there was no difference in pH_i between the Glucose+Palmitate and the Glucose hearts.

At the onset of reperfusion, pH_i began to recover in both groups. In Glucose hearts, recovery of pH_i was rapid and after 5 min of reperfusion, pH_i had recovered to preischemic values. In contrast, pH_i recovered slowly in the Glucose+Palmitate hearts to preischemic values after 40 min of reperfusion. Three phases of recovery of pH_i were seen in Glucose+Palmitate hearts. Within the first 3 min of reperfusion, there was a rapid recovery of pH_i in both groups and there was no difference in the rate of recovery of pH_i between Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate groups (0.11±0.02 vs 0.10±0.03 pH units • min⁻¹, respectively, p>0.05). In the Glucose group pH_i quickly recovered to a preischemic level after a further 2 min of reperfusion, while pH_i in the Glucose+Palmitate group recovered slowly during the next 27 min of reperfusion. The rate of recovery of pH_i in the Glucose+Palmitate group was significantly slower (0.01±0.005 vs 0.16±0.04 pH units • min⁻¹, in Glucose+Palmitate hearts and Glucose hearts, respectively, p<0.05). Within the final 10 min of reperfusion (30 to 40 min), the pH_i in Glucose+Palmitate hearts quickly recovered to the preischemic level. The rate of pH_i recovery in the Glucose+Palmitate group for the last 10 min of reperfusion was significantly higher than that for the previous 27 min of reperfusion (0.02 \pm 0.003 vs 0.01 \pm 0.005 pH units • min⁻¹, p<0.05).

4.5 Effects of DCA on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency

To determine if stimulating glucose oxidation could overcome the detrimental effects of palmitate on cardiac function and pH_i recovery, DCA was

added to the perfusate at the onset of reperfusion in Glucose+Palmitate hearts^{14,18}. Fig 4-4 shows the effects of DCA on the recovery of cardiac work (A) and cardiac efficiency (B) during reperfusion following ischemia. Similar to the results from Fig.4-1, the recovery of cardiac work was dramatically depressed in the Glucose+Palmitate group and returned to only 38±3% of preischemic values after 40 min of reperfusion. Heart rate, peak systolic pressure, developed pressure, cardiac output, and coronary flow were also significantly depressed in these hearts during the postischemic period (Table 4-3), as was cardiac efficiency (Fig. 4-4B). When DCA was present during reperfusion, cardiac work recovered to 74±6% of preischemic values by the end of reperfusion, which was significantly greater compared with 38±3% in untreated hearts (p<0.05). Heart rate, peak systolic pressure, developed pressure, cardiac output, coronary flow also recovered to a greater extent during reperfusion in DCA (Table 4-3). However, there was no difference in the recovery of CVR between Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts. Although the recovery of MVO₂ was also significantly improved in DCA-treated hearts, the improvement in cardiac efficiency observed in DCA-treated hearts was significantly greater compared with untreated hearts, due to the greater extent of recovery of cardiac work.

4.6 Effects of DCA on glucose metabolism, H⁺ production from glucose metabolism and pH_i recovery following ischemia

Fig.4-5 shows amount of substrate metabolized versus time by glycolysis (panel A) or glucose oxidation (panel B) throughout the entire perfusion period. Steady-state rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation and H⁺ production during reperfusion are shown in Table 4-4. During reperfusion, DCA increased the rate of glucose oxidation by 316%, with no significant effect on the glycolytic rate, resulting in a 35% decrease in H⁺ production (p<0.05).

The effect of DCA on pH_i during the reperfusion period is shown in Fig. 4-6. When DCA was present during reperfusion, a significant increase in the rate of recovery of pH_i following ischemia was observed, and complete recovery of pH_i was seen after 10 min of reperfusion. In contrast, pH_i recovered slowly in the Glucose+Palmitate hearts and reached preischemic values only after 40 min of reperfusion. Within the first 3 min of reperfusion, there was a rapid recovery of pH_i in both groups and there was no difference in the rate recovery of pH_i between Glucose+Palmitate+DCA and Glucose+Palmitate groups (0.10±0.03 vs 0.10 ± 0.04 pH units • min⁻¹, respectively, p>0.05). After a further 7 min of reperfusion pH_i in DCA group had recovered to the preischemic level, while pH_i in Glucose+Palmitate group recovered slowly after a further 27 min of reperfusion. The rate of pH_i recovery in the Glucose+Palmitate group was significantly slower than the DCA-treated hearts $(0.01\pm0.003 \text{ vs } 0.07\pm0.005 \text{ pH units } \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$, in Glucose+Palmitate hearts and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts, respectively, p<0.05). Within the final 10 min of reperfusion, the pH_i in Glucose+Palmitate hearts recovered to the preischemic level, the rate of recovery of pH_i being

significantly higher than for previous 27 min of reperfusion (0. 02 ± 0.005 vs 0.01 ± 0.003 pH units • min⁻¹, p<0.05).

4.7 Effects of palmitate and DCA on the recovery of energy phosphates

Phosphocreatine (PCr), ATP, and inorganic phosphate (Pi) contents during ischemia and reperfusion in the Glucose, Glucose+Palmitate, and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts are shown in Fig.4-7. During ischemia, PCr and ATP contents decreased, while Pi content increased, and there were no difference in above energy phosphate contents among these three groups. Recovery of PCr content during reperfusion was greatest in Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts, while recovery of PCr content in Glucose+Palmitate hearts was significantly poorer compared with Glucose hearts, in which PCr content recovered to the preischemic level. There was no significant difference in ATP or Pi content among these three groups during reperfusion, although a tendency for a better recovery of ATP in Glucose hearts was observed.

5. Discussion

A growing body of literature supports the notion that myocardial energy substrate preference is an important determinant of the ability of cardiac muscle to recovery following an ischemic episode^{15,16,19,21}. In this study we confirm

134

previous studies showing that a high level of fatty acid (which is seen in most clinically relevant conditions of ischemia) markedly inhibits glucose oxidation during reperfusion of ischemic hearts¹⁴⁻¹⁶. An important novel finding is that the resulting calculated increase in H⁺ production from glycolysis uncoupled from glucose oxidation does indeed delay the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion. This contributes to a fatty acid-induced decrease in recovery of both mechanical function and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion. The second important finding in this study is that directly stimulating glucose oxidation in fatty acid perfused hearts (with DCA), accelerates the rate of recovery of pH_i during reperfusion, secondary to a decrease in H⁺ production from glucose metabolism. Confirming our previous studies, this stimulation of glucose oxidation is accompanied by an significant improvement in mechanical function and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Of interest, is the demonstration that the beneficial effects of stimulating glucose oxidation occurred during the actual reperfusion period. It is well known that H⁺ accumulation during ischemia is an important contributing factor to ischemic injury (see reference 2,21 for reviews). Our results demonstrate that the continued production of H⁺ during the actual reperfusion period also contributes to cardiac injury.

Advantages of experimental approach

Despite widespread recognition that ³¹P-NMR is an effective approach to measure pH_i in the heart, only a few studies have used this technique *in vitro* to measure pH_i during and following ischemia in hearts perfused without the high

levels of fatty acid seen *in vivo* during and following ischemia. To our knowledge, no previous study has specifically investigated the effects of a high level of fatty acid on rates of recovery of pH_i, nor has pH_i recovery been directly compared with calculated rates of H⁺ production from glycolysis and glucose oxidation. Since metabolic rates are highly dependent on the work performed by the heart, we developed techniques that allowed the simultaneous measurement of mechanical function and pH_i in isolated working rat hearts perfused in the presence of a high level of fatty acid (1.2 mM palmitate). Although intensive modifications of the perfusion system were required, cardiac mechanical function in this study was not different to those of our previous studies (see Chapter 2 for details). Moreover, during an episode of global no-flow ischemia, the decrease in pH_i in glucose-perfused hearts was similar to the decrease observed in numerous previous studies ^{8,22-24}.

Effects of palmitate on H^+ production and recovery of pH_i , cardiac function and efficiency

Although a considerable research effort has concentrated on the fate of H⁺ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts, little attention has focused on whether H⁺ production during reperfusion contributes to ischemic injury. It is well recognized that hydrolysis of glycolytically produced ATP is a major source of acidosis in the severely ischemic heart^{1,2}. During ischemia, oxidative metabolism is decreased and pyruvate produced by glycolysis is directed towards lactate production. This results in the production of two H⁺ for every glucose molecule metabolized by

glycolysis². During reperfusion of ischemic hearts oxidative metabolism recovers, but high rates of fatty acid oxidation result in low rates of glucose oxidation¹³⁻¹⁶. As shown in Table 4-2, the marked inhibition of glucose oxidation in the presence of a high level of fatty acid is not accompanied by a similar decrease in glycolytic rates. As a result, glycolysis is further uncoupled from glucose oxidation and continues to be an important source of H⁺ during the actual reperfusion period. Our data strongly suggest that this is responsible for the slower rate of recovery of pH_i in Glucose+Pamitate hearts during reperfusion.

Interestingly, during ischemia, the presence of high levels of fatty acids had no effect on the rate or extent of the decrease in pH_i. During early phase of reperfusion (0 to 3 min), there was a rapid recovery of pH_i in Glucose, Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts. This may be because intracellular H⁺ were quickly washed out during the restoration of flow. In the late period of reperfusion, the marked slower recovery of pH_i in Glucose+Palmitate group may be due to fatty acid-induced increase in H⁺ production, as opposed to an alteration in the fate of the H⁺ produced. Our data also suggest that this increased H⁺ burden contributes to the decrease in cardiac work and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion, since preventing the fatty acid-induced increase in H⁺ production (by stimulating glucose oxidation or by omitting fatty acids) improved the recovery of both cardiac work and cardiac efficiency. Furthermore, our data in Chapter 5 show that inhibition of NHE1 by cariporide leads to a complete recovery of postischemic cardiac mechanical function and efficiency in

hearts perfused with both glucose and palmitate (see Chapter 5 for details), indicating that the increased H⁺ production activates NHE1 and causes ischemiareperfusion injury. Worthy of mention, during the final 10 min of reperfusion (30 to 40 min), pH_i in Glucose+Palmitate hearts recovered quickly to the preischemic level and the rate of recovery of pH_i was significantly higher than for the previous 27 min of reperfusion. This may be because there are at least four different transports that contribute to the recovery of pH_i in the heart: NHE1⁷, lactate-H⁺ co-transporter (MCT)²⁵, vacuolar–H⁺ ATPase^{26,29} and Na⁺/HCO₃⁻¹ cotransporter²⁷. It is possible that at least one of these H⁺ extrusion pathways is hyperactivated and accelerates the recovery of pH_i.

While the high level of fatty acid decreased the rate of pH_i recovery following ischemia in our study, this may not suggest it is the rate of pH_i recovery *per se* that is responsible for the detrimental effects of fatty acids. Rather, our evidence indicates that it is the H⁺ accumulation in the heart as well as the fate of this increased H⁺ load that contributes to injury. Previous studies have also shown that NHE1 inhibitors slow the rate of recovery of pH_i following ischemia ^{8,24,31,37}, although recovery of cardiac function and cardiac efficiency following ischemia is improved^{28,37}. As discussed above, inhibition of NHE1 prevents intracellular Na⁺ accumulation, and although H⁺ clearance rates are decreased, it is thought that, in the presence of NHE1 inhibitors, H⁺ are directed towards clearance pathways that do not lead to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload²⁶. If this is the case, then decreasing the actual production of H⁺ should have similar beneficial

effects as NHE1 inhibitors on cardiac function and efficiency. which is what we observed in this study. Furthermore, additional data (see Chapter 5 for details) also show that in the presence of specific NHE1 inhibitor, cariporide, treatment with DCA did not further improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency, although the rate recovery of pH_i was synergistically accelerated during reperfusion. However, it remains to be determined whether fatty acids affect intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ concentration during reperfusion, or whether inhibiting fatty acid-induced H⁺ production from glucose metabolism decreases Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload following ischemia.

Relationship between accumulation of H^+ production and pH_i

pH_i is the consequence of accumulated H⁺ load that overcomes the intracellular H⁺ buffering capacity (see 30 for review). Therefore, the concentration of accumulated H⁺ production calculated from glucose metabolism should be higher than pH_i. For example, in Glucose+Palmitate group, pH_i value at the first 10 min of reperfusion was 6.83 ± 0.06 (0.15 µM). The H⁺ production rate in Glucose+Palmitate group was 1136 ± 85 µmol • g dry wt⁻¹ • min⁻¹, which was equal to concentration of H⁺-2.2 mM after 10 min reperfusion (assuming: 1.2 g rat heart contains 1 ml of water, 0.2 g dry weight). Considering the intracellular H⁺ buffering power (β) is within mM range (see 30 for review), it is not surprising to find out the concentration of accumulation of H⁺ load is far more higher than pH_i. However, it is uncertain whether the change of accumulated H⁺ production is proportionally associated with the change of pH_i. This is because there are a

number of factors (such as H⁺ extrusion pathways) may change β (see 30 for review).

Effects of palmitate on high energy phosphate

While a high level of fatty acid increased H⁺ production in the heart, it is possible that the detrimental effects of fatty acids may be due to alterations in high energy phosphate production. However, in this study, palmitate did not have any significant effects on ATP, PCr or Pi content measured at the end of ischemia, and the content of ATP or Pi during reperfusion (Fig. 4-7) did not predict the extent of recovery. This lack of correlation between actual levels of high energy phosphates and the recovery of mechanical function parallels previously observed^{32,33}. In the present study, the recovery of ATP content was poor in all groups while the recovery of PCr content was significantly higher in Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA groups. A high level of PCr content suggests a high level of ATP resynthesis and indicates better preservation of mitochondrial function. Since better recovery of cardiac function and efficiency were found in Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts, it is possible that less Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload may have occurred in the above two groups and less ATP may be consumed for restoration of ion homeostasis. Therefore, even though ATP content did not recover in any of the groups, it appears that the efficiency of utilization of ATP was different.

Relationships between cardiac work, coronary flow and recovery of pH_i

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

In this study, coronary flow was no difference between Glucose+Palmitate and Glucose group during baseline aerobic perfusion, but was 59% lower in the Glucose+Palmitate group compared with the Glucose group during reperfusion. However, CVR data indicate that the poor coronary perfusion is a consequence of lower workload in the reperfused hearts. In the present study, CVR, a robust measure of coronary vascular tone is not different among Glucose, Glucose+Palmitate, and Glucose+Palmitate+DCA groups (Table 4-1,4-3). The lower coronary flow, in combination with an identical CVR, is due to a lower coronary perfusion pressure in the Glucose+Palmitate hearts. The hydrostatic afterload, against which all hearts had to eject, was fixed at 80 mmHg in all groups during baseline aerobic perfusion. However, during postischemic reperfusion the Glucose+Palmitate hearts has impaired contractility and cardiac output. Some hearts did not eject sufficient perfusate to maintain an aortic flow and a hydrostatic afterload of 80 mmHg. Thus, poor contractile function is the basis for the lower afterload and lower coronary flow. Furthermore, unpublished data from this research group has shown that, in hearts perfused for 80 min under normal aerobic conditions, there is no difference in coronary flow, afterload, and hence coronary perfusion pressure, between Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate groups. This indicates that the presence of palmitate has no significant effect on coronary flow. Therefore, the low coronary flow observed in the Glucose+Palmitate group is not simply due to a coronary occlusive action of palmitate, but appears due to the low level of cardiac function caused by fatty acid induced-H⁺ accumulation.

Clinical Implications

Manipulation of energy substrate metabolism is a novel approach to treating ischemic heart disease. Considerable interest has refocused on the use of glucose, insulin, and potassium (GIK) in both acute myocardial ischemia and cardiac surgery patients³⁴⁻³⁶. A recent study by Diaz et al³⁶ showed that for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction, patients receiving GIK therapy have a statistically significantly reduction in mortality. Although not directly determined, GIK should lower fatty acids levels in the blood¹⁹, which may result in a decreased H⁺ production in the heart. This possibility remains to be determined, although clinical studies are presently underway to assess this.

Summary

During reperfusion, a high level of fatty acid delays the recovery of pH_i by increasing intracellular H⁺ production from glycolysis uncoupled from glucose metabolism. This impairs the recovery of contractile function and cardiac efficiency in postischemic working rat hearts. Reducing H⁺ production by stimulation of glucose oxidation during reperfusion significantly improves the coupling of glucose metabolism, and therefore accelerates pH_i recovery. This leads to a significant improvement of the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency.





Values are mean \pm SEM of 8 Glucose hearts (O) and 8 Glucose+Palmitate (\bullet).

*, Significantly different from Glucose hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.



Figure 4-2. Effects of palmitate on the time-course of glycolysis (A) and glucose oxidation (B).

Values are mean \pm SEM of 8 Glucose hearts (O) and 8 Glucose+Palmitate hearts (\bullet). , Significantly different from Glucose hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.



Figure 4-3. Effect of palmitate on pH_i during ischemia and reperfusion in isolated working hearts.

Values are mean \pm SEM of 9 Glucose hearts (O) and 9 Glucose+Palmitate hearts (\bullet). *, Significantly different from Glucose hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.



Figure 4-4. Effects of DCA on the recovery of cardiac work (A) and cardiac efficiency (B).

Values are mean \pm SEM of 8 Glucose+Palmitate hearts (\bullet) and 8 Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts ($\mathbf{\nabla}$). , Significantly different from Glucose+Palmitate hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.

146



Figure 4-5. Effects of DCA on the time-course of glycolysis (A) and glucose oxidation (B).

Values are mean \pm SEM of 8 Glucose+Palmitate-perfused hearts (\bullet) and 8 Glucose+Palmitate+DCA-perfused hearts ($\mathbf{\nabla}$). , Significantly different from Glucose+Palmitate-perfused hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.



Figure 4-6. Effect of DCA on pH_i during ischemia and reperfusion.

Values are mean \pm SEM of 8 Glucose+Palmitate hearts (\bullet) and 8 Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts ($\mathbf{\nabla}$). DCA (3 mM) was added immediately before reperfusion. , Significant different from Glucose+Palmitate hearts at the corresponding perfusion time.



Figure 4-7. PCr, ATP and Pi as percent of baseline values in hearts.

Values are mean ± SEM for 8 Glucose hearts (O), 8 Glucose+Palmitate hearts

- (\bullet), and 8 Glucose+Palmitate+DCA hearts ($\mathbf{\nabla}$).
- *, Significantly different from Glucose+Palmitate hearts.
- ⁺, Significantly different between Glucose+Palmitate+DCA and Glucose hearts.
- ^{\$}, Significantly different from preischemic baseline value.

Table 4-1. Effect of 1.2 mM palmitate on the recovery of mechanical function of isolated working rat hearts subjected to global no-flow ischemia.

Parameters Measured	Glucose (8) Pre/Postischemic		Glucose+Palmitate (8) Pre/Postischemic	
Heart rate, beats • min ⁻¹	233±8	199±2	238±8	105±26*†
Peak systolic pressure, mmHg	130±13	123±17	124±12	68±13*†
Developed pressure, mmHg	70±13	67±15	71±17	23±11*†
Cardiac output, ml ∙ min⁻¹	50±4	44±5	45±4	25±4*†
MVO_2 , μ mol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹	48±4	45±8	47±5	24±4*†
Coronary flow, ml • min⁻¹	21±2	22±2	21±2	9±4*†
CVR, mmHg • min • ml ⁻¹	6.6±1.1	4.4±0.7	6.0±0.8	4.6±0.7

Values are means \pm SEM. Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia, and 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. Preischemic values were taken after 30 min of aerobic perfusion. Postischemic values were taken after 40 min of reperfusion.

- *, Significantly different from postischemic values in Glucose hearts.
- †, Significantly different from preischemic values

Table 4-2. Effects of 1.2 mM palmitate on rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and H^+ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic hearts.

Parameter Measured (nmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	Glucose (n=8)	Glucose+Palmitate (n=8)
Glycolysis	586±48	637±84
Glucose oxidation	319±49	69±26*
H ⁺ production	534±47	1136±85*

Values are means \pm SEM of the number of hearts indicated. Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia, and 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. Postischemic values were determined between 10 and 40 min of reperfusion.

*, Significantly different from postischemic values in Glucose hearts.

Table 4-3. Effects of DCA on the recovery of mechanical function of isolated working rat hearts subjected to global no-flow ischemia.

Parameters Measured	Glucose+Pa	almitate G	lucose+Palm	itate+DCA
	Pre/Postischemic		Pre/Postischemic	
	, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,,			
Heart rate, beats • min ⁻¹	234±7	106±22†	238±8	225±26
Peak systolic pressure, mmHg	120±13	70±12†	128±12	112±13*
Developed pressure, mmHg	71±13	22±12†	71±17	58±11*
Cardiac output, ml • min ⁻¹	42±4	26±3†	45±5	39±4*
MVO ₂ , µmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹	52±5	27±3†	62±6	38±13†*
Coronary flow, ml • min ⁻¹	21±2	10±2†	21±2	19±3*
CVR, mmHg • min • ml ⁻¹	5.8±0.6	4.6±0.8	5.0±0.2	5.1±0.5

Values are means ± SEM of the number of hearts indicated. Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia, and 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. Preischemic values were taken after 30 min of aerobic perfusion. Postischemic values were taken after 40 min of reperfusion. DCA (3 mM), when present, was added immediately before reperfusion.

*, Significantly different from postischemic values in Glucose+Palmitate hearts.

†, Significantly different from preischemic values.

Table 4-4. Effects of DCA on rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and H⁺ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic hearts perfused with glucose+palmitate.

Parameter Measured (nmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	Glucose+Palmiate (n=8)	Glucose+Palmitate+DCA (n=8)
Glycolysis	678±100	743±66
Glucose oxidation	86±13	358±31 [*]
H ⁺ production	1184±89	770±65 [*]

Values are means \pm SEM of the number of hearts indicated. Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia, and 40 min of aerobic reperfusion. Postischemic values were determined between 10 and 40 min of reperfusion. DCA (3 mM), when present, was added immediately before reperfusion.

*, Significantly different from postischemic values in Glucose+Palmitate hearts.

Bibliography

- Neely JR, Morgan HE. Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1974; 36:413-459.
- 2. Dennis SC, Gevers W, Opie LH. Protons in ischemia: where do they come from; where do they go? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1991; 23: 1077-1086.
- 3. Gaski W. On the tonicity of the heart and blood vessels. *J Physiol (Lond)* 1880; 3:48-75.
- Orchard C, Houser SR, Kort AA, Bahinski A, Capogrossi MC, Lakatta EG. Acidosis facilitates spontaneous sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release in rat myocardium. *J Gen Physiol* 1987; 90:145-165.
- Karmazyn M, Moffat MP. Role of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in cardiac physiology and pathophysiology: mediation of myocardial reperfusion injury by pH paradox. *Cardiovasc Res* 1993; 27:915-924.
- 6. Scholz W, Alus U. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange and its inhibition in cardiac ischemia and reperfusion. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1993; 88:443-455.
- 7. Karmazyn M. Amiloride enhances postischemic ventricular recovery: possible role of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. *Am J Physiol* 1988; 255: H608-H615.
- 8. Docherty JC, Yang L, Pierce GN and Deslauriers R. Na⁺-H⁺ exchange inhibition at reperfusion is cardioprotective during myocardial ischemia-reperfusion; ³¹P NMR studies. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1997;176:257-264

- Scholz W, Albus U, Lang HJ, Linz W, Martorana PA, Englert HC, Scholkens BA. Hoe 694, a new Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibitor and its effects in cardiac ischemia. *Br J Pharmacol* 1993: 109:563-568.
- 10. Lopaschuk GD, Belke DD, Gamble J, Itoi T, Schonekess BO. Regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; 1213: 263-276.
- Liedtke AJ, DeMaison L, Eggleston AM, Cohen LM, Nellis SH. Changes in substrate metabolism and effects of excess fatty acids in reperfused myocardium. *Cir Res* 1988;62:535-542.
- 12. Lerch R, Tamm C, Papageorgiou I, Benzi RH. Myocardial fatty acid oxidation during ischemia and reperfusion. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1992;116:103-109.
- 13. Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB, Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1993; 264:135-144.
- Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.
- Liu B, el Alaoui-Talibi Z, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of contractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity and MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1996; 270:H72-H80.

- Liu Q, Clanachan AS, Lopaschuk GD. Acute effects of triiodothyronine on glucose and fatty acid metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1998; 275: E392-E399.
- Allard MF, Schonekess BO, Henning SL, English DR, Lopaschuk GD.
 Contribution of oxidative metabolism and glycolysis to ATP production in hypertrophied hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1994; 267: H742-H750.
- 18. Stacpool PW. The pharmacology of dichloroacetate. *Metabolism* 1989;38:1124-1144.
- Taegtmeyer H, Goodwin GW, Doenst T, Frazier OH. Substrate metabolism as a Determinant for Postischemic Functional Recovery of the heart. *Am J Cardiol* 1997; 80(3A):3A-10A.
- Docherty JC. Yang L. Pierce GN. Deslauriers R. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibition at reperfusion is cardioprotective during myocardial ischemia-reperfusion; ³¹P NMR studies. *Mol & Cell Biochem* 1997; 176 (1-2):257-64.
- Taegtmeyer H, King LM, Jones BE. Energy substrate metabolism, myocardial ischemia, and targets for pharmacotherapy. *Am J Cardiol* 1998; 82: 54K-60K.
- 22. Hendrikx M, Mubagwa K, Verdonck F, Overloop K, Hecke PV, Vanstapel F, Lommel AV, Verbeken E, Lauweryns J, Flameng W. New Na⁺-H⁺ exchange inhibitor HOE 694 improves postischemic function and high-energy phosphate resynthesis and reduces Ca²⁺ overload in isolated perfused rabbit heart. *Circulation* 1994;89:2787-2798.

- 23. Geraldes C, Castro MM, Sherry A, Ramasamy R. Influence of vanadate on glycolysis, intracellular sodium, and pH in perfused rat hearts. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1997;170:53-64.
- 24. Pike MM, Clark C, Kirk KA, Kitakaze M, Madden MC, Cragoe EJ, Pohost GM. NMR measurements of Na⁺ and cellular energy in ischemic rat heart: role of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange. *Am J Physiol* 1993;265:H2017-H2026.
- 25. Halestrap AP, Wang X, Poole RC, Jackson VN, Price NT. Lactate transport heart in relation to myocardial ischemia. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;80(3A):17A-25A
- 26. Karwatowska-Prokopczuk E, Nordberg JA, Li HL, Engler RL, Gottlieb RA. Effect of vacuolar proton ATPase on pH_i, Ca²⁺, and apoptosis in neonatal cardiomyocytes during metabolic inhibition/recovery. *Circ Res* 1998;82:1139-1144.
- Prigent KL, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Mongodin E, Feuvray D. HCO₃⁻dependent alkalinizing transporter in adult rat ventricular myocytes: characterization and modulation. *Am J Physiol* 1997;273:H2596-H2603.
- 28. Hata K, Takasago T, Saeki A, Nishioka T, Goto Y. Stunned myocardium after rapid correction of acidosis:increased oxygen cost of contractility and the role of the Na⁺-H⁺ exchange system. *Circ Res* 1994;74:794-805.
- 29. Gottlieb RA, Gruol DL, Zhu JY, Engler RL. Preconditioning in rabbit cardiomyocytes. Role of pH, vacuolar proton ATPase, and apoptosis. *J Clin Invest* 1996;97:2391-2398.
- 30. Roos A and Boron WF. Intracellular pH. Physiol Rev 1981;61(2):296-308.

- 31.Vandenberg JI, Metcafe JC, Grace AA. Mechanisms of intracellular pH recovery following global ischemia in perfused heart. *Cir Res* 1993;72:993-1003.
- 32. Jeffrey FMH, Storey CJ, Malloy CR. Predicting functional recovery from ischemia in the rat myocardium. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1992; 87:548-558.
- 33. Taegmetyer H, Roberts AFC, Rayne AEG. Energy metabolism in reperfused rat heart: return of function before normalization of ATP content. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1985; 6:864-870.
- 34. Gradinak S, Coleman GM, Taegtmeyer H, Sweeney MS, Frazier OH. Improved cardiac function with glucose-insulin-potassium after coronary bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 1989;48:484-489
- 35. Taegtmeyer H, Villalobos DH. Metabolic support for the postischemic heart. *Lancet* 1995;345:1552-1555.
- 36. Diaz R, Paolasso EA, Piegas LS, Tajer CD, Moreno MG, Corvalan R, Isea JE, Romero G. Metabolic modulation of acute myocardial infarction. The ECLA (Estudios Cardiologicos Latinoamerica) Collaborative Group. *Circulation* 1998; 24:2227-223
- 37. Stromer H, Groot MCH, Horn M, Faul C, Leupold A, Morgan JP, Scholz W, Neubauer S. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibition with HOE642 improves postischemic recovery due to attenuation of Ca²⁺ overload and prolonged acidosis on reperfusion. *Circulation* 2000;101:2749-2755.
Chapter 5

Cardiac efficiency in postischemic hearts is improved by either inhibiting Na⁺/H⁺ exchange or reducing intracellular H⁺ production

1. Introduction

During ischemia, oxidative metabolism is suppressed and anaerobic glycolysis becomes an important source of ATP production¹. H⁺ production from the hydrolysis of glycolytically-derived ATP is a major contributor to the acidosis that occurs in the ischemic myocardium². Upon reperfusion, extracellular pH quickly recovers. This creates large pH gradients across the membrane and NHE1 is activated^{3.4}. The subsequent increase in intracellular Na⁺ may exchange with Ca²⁺ via the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCE) leading to intracellular Ca²⁺ overload and cell death^{5,6}. A number of studies have demonstrated that NHE1 inhibitors improve the recovery of cardiac function and attenuate intracellular Ca²⁺ overload during reperfusion⁷⁻⁹. Therefore, accumulation of intracellular H⁺ during ischemia is an important contributing factor to ischemia/reperfusion injury. As discussed in the previous Chapter, continued production of H⁺ during the critical early period of reperfusion also have the potential to exacerbate this injury^{10,11}.

In most clinical situations of reperfusion, the heart muscle is exposed to high levels of fatty acids¹². Our previous studies have shown that high rates of fatty acid oxidation inhibit glucose oxidation, which results in a marked imbalance between rates of glycolysis and glucose oxidation^{11,13,14}. This is associated with a poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. This uncoupling of glucose metabolism is a major source of H⁺ production for intracellular acidosis during

ischemia and reperfusion^{10,13,14}. If glycolysis is coupled to glucose oxidation, H⁺ production from glucose metabolism is zero^{10,15}. However, if glycolysis is uncoupled from glucose oxidation (and pyruvate derived from glycolysis is not oxidized), the hydrolysis of alycolytically derived ATP results in a net production of 2H⁺ for each glucose molecule. Data in Chapter 4 showed that in the presence of a high level of fatty acid, an increased H⁺ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism occurs, which significantly delays the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion¹⁶ (see chapter 4 for details). Reduction of H⁺ production by stimulating glucose oxidation accelerates the recovery of pH_i and improves the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency after ischemia¹⁶. Thus, besides intracellular acidosis generated during ischemia, the continually generated H⁺ production during reperfusion may also contribute to the reperfusion injury via activation of NHE1. In the present study, we further investigated, in the presence of a high level of fatty acid which generates H⁺ load, the effects of inhibiting NHE1 and reducing the rate of H⁺ production on the recovery of pH_i and cardiac efficiency during reperfusion in postischemic working hearts. We proposed that the continually generated H⁺ production during reperfusion plays an important role in the activation of NHE1 and is detrimental for the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency.

2. Methods (For general experimental methods, please see Chapter 2)

Glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were measured simultaneously by perfusing hearts with [5-³H/U-¹⁴C]. Overall rates of H⁺ production derived from glucose metabolism were determined by subtracting the rate of glucose oxidation from the rate of glycolysis and multiplying by two. pH_i and high energy phosphate were measured by ³¹P-NMR.

3. Experimental Protocol

Isolated working rat hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia (33 °C) and 50 min of reperfusion. CAR (cariporide) was added 5 min before ischemia at a final concentration of 5 μ M. DCA was added immediately before reperfusion of ischemic hearts at a 3 mM final concentration. Hearts were divided into 4 groups: 1) Control (5.5 mM glucose + 1.2 mM palmitate), n=8; 2) CAR (5.5 mM glucose + 1.2 mM palmitate + CAR 5 μ M), n=8; 3) DCA (5.5 mM glucose + 1.2 mM palmitate + DCA 3 mM), n=8; 4) CAR+DCA (5.5 mM glucose + 1.2 mM palmitate + CAR 5 μ M + DCA 3 mM), n=8. Hearts were perfused with krebs-Henseleit solution containing 5.5 mM glucose, 1.2 mM palmitate.

4. Results

4.1 Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency

Fig 5-1A shows the effects of 5 μM CAR and 3 mM DCA on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency in hearts subjected to 20 min of global ischemia. After ischemia, the recovery of cardiac work was depressed in control hearts, returning to only 38±6% of the preischemic value at 50 min of reperfusion. In DCA-treated hearts, cardiac work recovered to 80±6% of preischemic levels (p<0.05 compared with recovery in control). Although in CARor CAR+DCA-treated hearts, a complete recovery of cardiac work was seen, this recovery was slower than DCA-treated hearts. For instance, the recovery of cardiac work in CAR- or CAR+DCA-treated hearts was not significantly improved in the first 30 min of reperfusion, while the recovery of cardiac work in DCAtreated hearts was significantly greater than control during the first 30 min of reperfusion(p<0.05).

MVO₂ in CAR-, DCA- or CAR+DCA-treated hearts did not recover to the same extent as cardiac work (Table 5-1), resulting in a dramatic increase in cardiac efficiency at the end of reperfusion (Fig. 5-1B). Therefore, treatment with CAR, DCA or CAR+DCA significantly improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion.

4.2 Effects of CAR and DCA on glucose metabolism and calculated H⁺ production

Fig 5-2 shows the amount of substrate metabolized versus time for glycolysis (panel A) or glucose oxidation (pane B). The effects of CAR, DCA and CAR+DCA on steady-state rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation and calculated H^+ production are shown in Table 5-2. There was no significant difference in glycolysis among control, CAR-, DCA-, and CAR+DCA-treated hearts (Fig. 5-2A). Although treatment with CAR did not significantly affect glucose oxidation rate (Table 5-2), cumulative glucose oxidation was increased compared with control (p<0.05) at the end of reperfusion period (Fig. 5-2B). This is possibly because glucose metabolism is closely associated with the status of cardiac work. In this study, cardiac work completely recovered at the end of reperfusion in the CAR-treated hearts.

Glucose oxidation rate was significantly increased in DCA- or CAR+DCAtreated hearts during reperfusion. This led to a significant increase in the rate of glucose oxidation and a significant reduction in H⁺ production rate calculated from glucose metabolism during the 50 min of reperfusion (Table 5-2). Since the steady-state rate of either glycolysis or glucose oxidation was not significantly increased in CAR-treated hearts, the calculated H⁺ production rate was not significantly altered during reperfusion.

4.3 Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of pH_i and high energy phosphates

The effects of CAR and DCA on pH_i during the ischemia and reperfusion periods are shown in Fig. 5-3. A greater acidosis occurred in CAR and CAR+DCA groups compared with control during ischemia. Since DCA was added immediately before reperfusion, there was no difference in pHi during ischemia between CAR and CAR+DCA groups. During reperfusion, treatment with CAR or CAR+DCA significantly delayed the recovery of pH_i compared with control hearts. However, although rates of recovery of pHi were delayed, pHi did recover to preischemic level at the end of reperfusion in control, CAR and CAR+DCA groups. In contrast, pHi quickly recovered to preischemic level within 10 min of reperfusion in DCA-treated hearts. Although there was no difference in the rate of recovery of pH_i among control, CAR and CAR+DCA groups (0.022±0.003, 0.017±0.003, 0.023±0.004 pH unit • min⁻¹, respectively) during the first 30 min of reperfusion, the absolute pH_i value in the CAR group was significantly lower than in control group. During the last 20 min of reperfusion, the rate of recovery of pH_i in CAR-treated hearts was faster than control and CAR+DCA groups (0.021±0.003 vs 0.004±0.0005, 0.008±0.003 pH unit • min⁻¹, p<0.05, respectively). Although within the first 10 min of reperfusion, there was no difference in pH_i between the CAR and CAR+DCA groups, the rate of recovery of pH_i was faster in the CAR+DCA group between 10 and 30 min (60 to 80 min) of reperfusion compared with the CAR group (0.014±0.002 vs 0.005 ± 0.0006 pH unit • min⁻¹, p<0.05). This may be due to the increased glucose oxidation rate and reduced H⁺ production observed in the CAR+DCA-treated hearts.

The changes of high energy phosphate contents among control, CAR, DCA and CAR+DCA groups during ischemia and reperfusion are shown in Fig. 5-4. During ischemia, PCr content quickly decreased and was not different among the 4 groups. During reperfusion, PCr content in the control hearts only partially recovered. In CAR-, DCA- and CAR+DCA-treated hearts, PCr content completely recovered during reperfusion and was higher than preischemic levels (p>0.05). The recovery of PCr content in DCA-treated hearts was the fastest among all the 4 groups (p<0.05). Compared with control and DCA groups, ATP content was significantly lower in CAR-treated hearts during the first 10 min of reperfusion. At the end of reperfusion, there was no difference in ATP content did not completely recover. There was no significant difference in inorganic phosphate (Pi) content among these 4 groups at any time point during ischemia or during reperfusion.

5. Discussion

We demonstrated that in the presence of a high level of fatty acid, inhibition of NHE1 with cariporide (CAR, 5 μ M) improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency although this was associated with a significant slower recovery of pH_i during reperfusion. Improving the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation by stimulation of glucose oxidation with dichloroacetate (DCA, 3 mM), a pyruvate dehydrogenase activator¹⁸, accelerated the rate recovery of pH_i. This was due to a decrease in H⁺ production from glucose metabolism, and resulted in a significant recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Combination of DCA with CAR increased the rate recovery of pH_i, although there was no further improvement in cardiac efficiency during reperfusion. Our results suggest that it is not the rate of recovery of pH_i *per se* but rather the source and the fate of H⁺ that is important for the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion.

An attractive mechanism proposed for ischemia-reperfusion injury implicates intracellular acidosis as a trigger^{8,21,22}. Previous studies have suggested that H⁺ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism stimulates NHE1, adding to Na⁺ influx^{8,21,22}. Increased intracellular Na⁺ load can subsequently cause intracellular Ca²⁺ overload via NCE^{21,22}. A number of studies have demonstrated that NHE1 plays an important role in the maintenance of pH_i, as well as Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ homeostasis. It is clear now that inhibition of NHE1 can attenuate ischemic-reperfusion injury and improve the recovery of cardiac function. This beneficial effect of NHE1 inhibitor was also observed in our study.

Although intracellular acidosis generated during ischemia seems to play an important role in the pathogenesis of ischemia-reperfusion injury, several studies offer evidence to dissociate ischemic acidosis from postischemic

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

recovery^{23,24}. These studies emphasize that the pH_i value at the end of ischemia does not predict postischemic recovery^{23,24}. For example, NHE1 inhibitors significantly decrease pH_i during ischemia²⁵ and delay the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion²⁶, although they significantly attenuate myocardial stunning in postischemic hearts. This was also observed in our study in which CAR improved functional recovery of postischemic hearts, although the recovery of pH_i was significantly slower during reperfusion and pH_i was significantly decreased during ischemia compared to control hearts. Thus, intracellular acidosis itself may be a lesser problem compared to the consequences of NHE1-driven Na⁺ entry during ischemia and reperfusion. Furthermore, upon reperfusion, NHE1 activity is stimulated due to rapid normalization of extracellular pH and the generation of H⁺ gradient^{3,4}. A number of studies²⁻⁹ have demonstrated that Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload occurs in the early period of reperfusion and plays an important role in the ischemia-reperfusion injury.

In the present study, we focused on the effects of H⁺ production generated during reperfusion on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. We propose that a decrease in intracellular H⁺ production during reperfusion can reduce H⁺ gradient and result in a lesser activation of NHE1, subsequently resulting in improvement of cardiac function and efficiency. Our previous studies (see Chapter 4 for details) have suggested that in the presence of high levels of fatty acids, H⁺ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism during reperfusion is an important contributor to the impaired recovery of mechanical

168

function and to the decrease in cardiac efficiency¹¹⁻¹³. Our recent study further showed that, during reperfusion, this continually increased H⁺ production delayed the rate recovery of pH_i and depressed the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency¹⁶ (also see Chapter 4 for details). Reducing H⁺ production by stimulating glucose oxidation accelerated the rate of recovery of pH_i and improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency¹⁶. In the present study, we addressed the issue that whether altering both the fate and source of H⁺ production can affect the recovery of cardiac efficiency during reperfusion. We also determined whether the recovery of pH_i *per se* during reperfusion is important to the recovery of cardiac efficiency.

In this study, treatment with either CAR or DCA improved the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency in postischemic isolated working rat hearts subjected to 20 min of global ischemia (Fig. 5-1). Treatment with DCA (1-5 mM) has been shown by a number of investigators to improve the functional recovery of hearts after ischemia^{11,13,27,28}. Recent studies have shown that stimulation of glucose oxidation by treatment with DCA during reperfusion improved the coupling of glycolysis to glucose oxidation^{11,13}. This results in a decrease in H⁺ production, a more rapid recovery of pH_i and a significant improvement in cardiac efficiency¹⁶. Treatment with DCA during reperfusion does not affect glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation^{11,13}. To our knowledge, the beneficial effect of DCA on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency is mainly due to activation of PDH. In this study, glucose oxidation rate was 6.9-fold lower than glycolytic

169

rate in control hearts (Table 5-2). In contrast, glucose oxidation was significantly increased by 2.2-fold in DCA-treated hearts during reperfusion compared with control (Fig.5-2). Glucose oxidation rate was $56\pm5\%$ of glycolytic rate in DCA-treated hearts. This uncoupled glucose metabolism in control hearts generated a substantial H⁺ load during the critical period of reperfusion compared with DCA-treated hearts (1184±89 vs 564 ± 65 nmol • g dry wt⁻¹ • min⁻¹, p<0.05). In CAR-treated hearts, glucose metabolism and H⁺ production were not significantly changed compared with control. Thus, the recoveries of pH_i in control hearts and in CAR-treated hearts were significantly slower than in DCA-treated hearts (Fig. 5-3).

Although NHE1 plays an important role in the regulation of pH_i^{7-9} , it is uncertain whether inhibiting NHE1 during ischemia accentuates intracellular acidosis (see 29 for review). In rat cardiac myocytes CAR inhibited pH_i recovery after intracellular acidification with an IC₅₀ between 1 and 0.1 μ M³⁰. A recent study has also shown that CAR (1 μ M) does not affect pH_i during ischemia in isolated rat hearts^{31.} In this study, we first showed that pH_i decreased by a greater extent in CAR-treated hearts (5 μ M) during ischemia. Of interest is that although the pH_i values in CAR group were significantly lower than in control, there was no difference in the rates of recovery of pH_i between control and CAR groups during the initial 30 min of reperfusion. However, for the last 20 min of reperfusion, the rate of recovery of pH_i in CAR group was significant faster than in the control group. Since there are at least four mechanisms responsible for the compensation of myocardial acidosis during reperfusion:NHE1⁷, lactate-H⁺ co-transporter (MCT)³², vacuolar–H⁺ ATPase³³, and Na⁺/HCO₃⁻¹ cotransporter³⁴, at least one of the other H⁺ extrusion pathways may be hyperactivated during the last 20 min of reperfusion, which caused a quick recovery of pH_i in the CAR-treated group. However, it is not clear why the rate of recovery of pH_i in CAR-treated hearts is similar to the control hearts during the initial 30 min of reperfusion, although the absolute pH_i value in the CAR group was significantly lower in the control group. Despite the slow recovery of pH_i, cardiac function and efficiency in CAR-treated hearts recovered completely by the end of reperfusion. Of interest is that the slow recovery of pH_i in the CAR-treated hearts was associated with the depressed cardiac function and efficiency during early period of reperfusion. This may be because intracellular acidosis induced by inhibition of NHE1 inhibits cardiac contractile function^{35,36}.

Treatment with DCA led to a faster recovery of pH_i and better recovery of mechanical function and efficiency compared with control. This fits with results of our previous studies (see Chapter 4 for details). However, in CAR-treated hearts, a slower recovery of pH_i was associated with a complete recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. These data indicate that: 1) the recovery of pH_i *per se* is not important for the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency; 2) inhibition of NHE1, despite slowing the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion, is an important for the improvement of cardiac function and efficiency; 3) H⁺ production generated during reperfusion activates NHE1 and may drive Na⁺ and

 Ca^{2+} influx. Reducing H⁺ production can reduce NHE1 activation and improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Therefore, it is the amount of intracellular H⁺ load cleared by the NHE1 that is important for the depressed recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Either reducing H⁺ production with DCA or inhibition of NHE1 with CAR may attenuate intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload and improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency.

The slower recovery of pH_i observed in the CAR-treated hearts compared to previous studies^{26,31} may be due to 1) the presence of a high level of fatty acid, which is the major fuel for the heart and generates H⁺ production by inhibiting glucose oxidation; or 2) a working heart model, which was employed to measure pH_i instead of isolated cells or Langendorff perfused (non working) hearts (see Chapter 1 &7 for details).

In the present study, we found that, in CAR+DCA-treated hearts, the rate of recovery of pH_i was significantly accelerated compared with CAR-treated hearts (Fig. 5-3). This was due to a significant decrease in H⁺ production calculated from glucose metabolism in CAR+DCA-treated hearts since glucose oxidation was significantly increased during reperfusion (Fig.5-2, Table 5-2). Since cardiac function and efficiency completely recovered at the end of reperfusion in both CAR and CAR+DCA-treated groups (Fig.5-1) we could not determine whether the combination of CAR with DCA had any synergistic effect. Similar to the CAR-treated hearts, the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency in CAR+DCA-treated hearts was poor during the initial 30 min of reperfusion. This could reflect the fact that under a low pH_i condition due to inhibition of NHE1, treatment with DCA during the early period of reperfusion could not effectively activate PDH, stimulate glucose oxidation or reduce H⁺ production. This is supported by the observation that during the initial 30 min period of reperfusion no difference in glucose oxidation was observed between control and CAR+DCA-treated hearts (Fig. 5-2). Although at 30 min of reperfusion, the recovery of pH_i in the CAR+DCA group was significantly higher than the CAR group (6.95±0.09 vs 6.70±0.06 unit, p<0.05), no significant changes in cardiac function and efficiency were found. This may be because low pH_i can inhibit contractile function^{3,17}. In contrast, the rapid recovery of pH_i in the DCA group was associated with a rapid recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. In a future study, we will optimize the concentration of CAR and administer CAR only during reperfusion. This may be a better protocol to investigate the combined effects of CAR+DCA on the recovery of pH_i and cardiac efficiency.

It is important to recognize that pH_i, ATP and Pi content measured before reperfusion do not predict the extent of recovery²⁴, nor does ATP content correlate with contractile function during reperfusion³⁷. In this study, ATP contents in the CAR+DCA and CAR-treated hearts were not higher than in control hearts during reperfusion. However, ATP content in the CAR-treated hearts was lower than control hearts during the first 10 min of reperfusion. This may be due to a relatively lower pH_i in CAR-treated hearts. In contrast, PCr

contents in DCA-, CAR+DCA- and CAR-treated hearts were higher than in control hearts during reperfusion. At the end of reperfusion, PCr contents in CAR- or CAR+DCA-treated hearts were also higher than preischemic levels. The mechanisms of the improved recovery of PCr contents in CAR- or CAR+DCA-treated hearts are not clear. In the present study, cardiac efficiencies in CAR-, DCA- and CAR+DCA-groups were significantly improved while ATP contents were not significantly different from control hearts. This may indicate an increased efficiency in the utilization of ATP. Therefore, even though the ATP level did not recover, the efficiency of utilization of ATP may be different. As the intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload after activation of the NHE1 and NCE requires ATP to restore ion homeostasis^{3,4}, either inhibition of NHE1 or reducing H⁺ production may lead to a greater efficiency in the utilization of ATP. The high level of PCr content observed in CAR, DCA and CAR+DCA groups suggests high levels of ATP resynthesis and indicates better recovery of mitochondrial function^{3,4}. Worth mentioning, the high level of PCr and low level of ATP content observed in CAR-, DCA- and CAR+DCA-treated hearts during reperfusion are consistent with previous studies in which NHE1 is inhibited in the postischemic hearts^{3,4,38}.

MVO₂ in postischemic hearts is relatively high compared with the depressed cardiac function^{11,13}, an observation observed in this study. The mechanism of this "oxygen paradox" could occur at different levels: basal metabolism, excitation-contraction coupling, and energy production. However,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

basal MVO₂ in postischemic hearts is not elevated³⁹. Thus, this O₂-consuming portion of total MVO₂ may be not responsible for the cardiac inefficiency in postischemic hearts. The fraction of MVO₂ attributable to excitation-contraction coupling is disproportionately high in stunned myocardium and, in fact, impairment of Ca²⁺ handling appears to be responsible for decreased cardiac efficiency in the postischemic hearts (see 40,41 for review). Recently, the abnormality of total Ca²⁺ handling in the postischemic hearts has been characterized⁴¹. The abnormality consists of a decreased internal Ca²⁺ recirculation, some futile Ca²⁺ cycling, and a decreased Ca²⁺ reactivity of contractility. These changes can account for the energy-wasteful total Ca²⁺ handling and high MVO₂ in postischemic hearts⁴². A report of Hata et al⁴³ has shown that activation of NHE1 decreases MVO₂ and depresses myocardial contractility and cardiac efficiency. Thus, inhibition of NHE1 or less activation of NHE1 by treatment with DCA may lead to less MVO₂ consumed for heart muscle contractility. The total MVO₂ may not necessary recover to preischemic level but more MVO₂ contributes to the synthesis of ATP or PCr.

In summary, in the presence of a high level of fatty acids which leads to the generation of an increased H⁺ load, inhibition of NHE1 dramatically improves the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency during reperfusion. The beneficial effect of NHE1 inhibition is accompanied by a slower recovery of pH_i. Reducing H⁺ production by stimulation of glucose oxidation with DCA during reperfusion can also significantly improve the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency, but in contrast to NHE1 inhibition, an accelerated pH_i recovery occurs during reperfusion. This is because the decrease in H⁺ production may attenuate Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ influx by lessening the activation of NHE1. Combination of DCA with CAR did not show a synergistic effect on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Thus, it is the fate and source of H⁺ instead of the recovery of pH_i *per se* that is important for the recovery of cardiac efficiency during reperfusion.



Figure 5-1. Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of cardiac work (A) and cardiac efficiency (B) of isolated working hearts reperfused after global no-flow ischemia. Values are mean \pm SEM. Control (O), n=11;CAR (\bullet), n=8; DCA ($\mathbf{\nabla}$), n=8; CAR+DCA ($\mathbf{\Delta}$), n=8. *, Significantly different from control; ⁺, Significantly different between DCA and CAR/CAR+DCA; [@], Significantly different between DCA and CAR+DCA; [#], Significantly different between CAR/CAR+DCA and control/DCA, respectively.



Figure 5-2. Effects of CAR and DCA on the time-course of glycolysis (A) and glucose oxidation (B). Values are mean \pm SEM. Control (O), n=8; CAR (\bullet), n=8; DCA (\blacktriangledown), n=8; CAR + DCA (\blacktriangle), n=8. *, Significantly different from control [@], Significantly different between DCA and CAR; *, Significantly different between DCA and Significantly differen



Figure 5-3. Effects of CAR and DCA on pH_i during ischemia and reperfusion. Values are mean±SEM. Control (O), n=11; CAR (●), n=8; DCA (▼), n=8; CAR+DCA (▲), n=8. , Significantly different from control; , Significantly different between CAR/CAR+DCA and DCA/control, respectively; , Significantly different between CAR+DCA and CAR; , Significantly different from CAR+DCA and CAR.

179



Figure 5-4. PCr, ATP and Pi as percent of baseline values versus time for 11 control (O), 8 CAR (\bullet), 8 DCA (∇), 8 CAR+DCA (\blacktriangle) in ischemic and postischemic hearts. , Significantly different from control; , Significantly different between DCA and CAR/CAR+DCA; , Significantly different between CAR+DCA and CAR.

Table 5-1. Effects of CAR and DCA on the recovery of mechanical function following ischemia of isolated working rat hearts.

Parameter measured	Control	CAR	DCA	CAR+DCA
	(n=11)	(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=8)
Preischemic	·		<u></u>	
Heart rate, beats • min ⁻¹	248±8	238±19	235±10	256±17
Peak systolic pressure, mmHg	122±12	125±17	130±12	123±18
Developed pressure, mmHg	71±13	75±8	72±6	75±10
Cardiac output, ml •min ⁻¹	45±3	45±4	43±7	48±5
MVO ₂ , µmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹	52±5	50±5	62±2	58±5
Coronary flow, ml • min ⁻¹	21±2	20±3	22±7	20±4
Postischemic				
Heart rate, beats • min ⁻¹	100±22†	201±23*	212±18	229±26*
Peak systolic pressure, mmHg	70±12†	120±12	100±12	122±18
Developed pressure, mmHg	22±12†	74±12	71±17	58±11
Cardiac output, ml • min ⁻¹	28±3†	48±3*	45±5*	48±4*
MVO ₂ , µmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹	28±3†	34±5†*	44±5† `	36±3†"
Coronary flow, ml • min ⁻¹	7±2†	20±2*	21±2*	19±3*

Values are means \pm SEM. Preischemic values were taken after 30 min of aerobic perfusion. Postischemic values were taken after 50 min of reperfusion.

*,Significantly different from postischemic values in control hearts; †, Significantly different from preischemic values.

Table 5-2. Effects of CAR and DCA on rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and H^+ production from glucose metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic hearts.

Parameter Measured	Control	CAR	DCA	CAR+DCA
(nmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	(n=11)	(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=8)
				·
Glycolysis	688±82	642±72	640±66	624±81
Glucose Oxidation	93±15	168±42	358±31 [*]	215±25
H ⁺ Production	1190±73	958±73	564±65 [*]	818±82

Values are means \pm SEM of the number of hearts indicated. Hearts were subjected to 30 min of aerobic perfusion, 20 min of global no-flow ischemia, and 50 min of aerobic reperfusion. Values were determined between 10 and 50 min of reperfusion.

*, Significantly different from postischemic values in control group.

⁺, Significantly different from postischemic values in control, CAR and CAR+DCA groups.

- Neely JR, Morgan HE. Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1974; 36:413-459.
- 2. Dennis SC, Gevers W, Opie LH. Protons in ischemia: where do they come from; where do they go? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1991;23:1077-1086.
- 3. Hendrikx M., Mubagwa K., Verdonck F., Overloop K., Van Hecke P.V., Vanstapel F., Van Lommel A., Verbeken E., Lauweryns J., Flameng W. New Na⁺-H⁺ exchange inhibitor HOE 694 improves postischemic function and highenergy phosphate resynthesis and reduces Ca²⁺ overload in isolated perfused rabbit heart. *Circulation* 1994;89:2787-2798.
- Pike MM, Luo CS, Clark MD, Kirk KA, Kitakaze M, Madden MC, Cragoe E., Pohost GM. NMR measurements of Na⁺ and cellular energy in ischemic rat heart: role of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange. *Am J Physiol.* 1993, 265:H2017-H2026.
- Karmazyn M, Moffat MP. Role of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in cardiac physiology and pathophysiology: mediation of myocardial reperfusion injury by pH paradox. *Cardiovasc Res* 1993;27:915-924.
- 6. Scholz W, Alus U. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange and its inhibition in cardiac ischemia and reperfusion. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1993;88:443-455.
- 7. Karmazyn M. Amiloride enhances postischemic ventricular recovery: possible role of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. *Am J Physiol* 1988;255:H608-H615.

- Docherty JC, Yang L, Pierce GN and Deslauriers R. Na⁺-H⁺ exchange inhibition at reperfusion is cardioprotective during myocardial ischemiareperfusion; ³¹P NMR studies. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1997;176:257-264
- Scholz W, Albus U, Lang HJ, Linz W, Martorana PA, Englert HC, Scholkens BA. HOE 694, a new Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibitor and its effects in cardiac ischemia. *Br J Pharmacol.* 1993:109:563-568.
- 10. Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB, Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1993; 264:135-144.
- 11. Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.
- Lopaschuk GD, Belke DD, Gamble J, Itoi T, Schonekess BO. Regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994; 1213:263-276.
- Liu B, el Alaoui-Talibi Z, Clanachan AS, Schulz R, Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of contractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity and MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:H72-H80.
- Liu Q, Clanachan AS, Lopaschuk GD. Acute effects of triiodothyronine on glucose and fatty acid metabolism during reperfusion of ischemic rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1998;275:E392-E399.

- 15. Allard MF, Schonekess BO, Henning SL, English DR, Lopaschuk GD. Contribution of oxidative metabolism and glycolysis to ATP production in hypertrophied hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1994; 267: H742-H750.
- 16. Liu Q., Docherty JC, Rendell J., Clanachan AS, Lopaschuk GD. High levels of fatty acids decrease the rate of recovery of intracellular pH in isolated rat hearts reperfused after ischemia. *Circulation* 1999; 100: I-345.
- 17.Russ U, Balser C, Scholz W, Albus U, Lang HJ, Weichert A, Scholkens BA, Gogelein H. Effects of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger inhibitor HOE-642 on intracellular pH, calcium and sodium in isolated rat ventricular myocytes. *Pfugers Arch* 1996;433:26-34.
- 18.Stacpool PW. The pharmacology of dichloroacetate. *Metabolism* 1989;38:1124-1144.
- 19.Saddik M, Lopaschuk GD. Myocardial triglyceride turnover during reperfusion of isolated rat hearts subjected to a transient period of global ischemia. *J Bio Chem* 1992; 267:3825-3831.
- 20.Lopaschuk GD., Barr RL. Measurements of fatty acid and carbohydrate metabolism in the isolated working rat heart. *Mol & Cell Biochem* 1997;172: 137-47.
- 21.Taegtmeyer H, Goodwin GW, Doenst T, Frazier OH. Substrate metabolism as a determinant for postischemic functional recovery of the heart. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;80(3A):3A-10A.
- 22.Taegtmeyer H, King LM, Jones BE. Energy substrate metabolism, myocardial ischemia, and targets for pharmacotherapy. *Am J Cardiol* 1998; 82: 54K-60K.

- 23. Cross HR, Clark K, Radda G. Is lactate-induced myocardial ischemic injury mediated by decreased pH or increased intracellular lactate?. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1995;27:1369-1381.
- 24.Jeffrey FMH, Storey CJ, Malloy CR. Predicting functional recovery from ischemia in the rate myocardium. *Basic Res Cardiol*. 1992;87:548-558.
- 25. Koike A, Akita T, Hotta Y, Takeyka K, Kodama I, Murase M, Abe T, Toyama J. Protective effects of dimethyl amiloride against postischemic myocardial dysfunction in rabbit hearts: ³¹P-nuclear magnetic resonance measurements of intracellular pH and cellular energy. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996;112:765-775.
- 26.Schaefer S., Ramasamy R. Short-term inhibition of the Na-H exchanger limits acidosis and reduces ischemic injury in the rat heart. *Cardiovac Res* 1997;34:329-336.
- McVeigh JJ, Lopaschuk GD. Dichloroacetate stimulation of glucose oxidation improves recovery of ischemic rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1990;259:H1079-H1085.
- 28.Lewandowski ED, White LT. Pyruvate dehydrogenase influences postischemic heart function. *Circulation.* 1995; 91:2071-2079.
- 29.Karmazyn M, Gan XT, Humphreys RA, Yoshida H, Kusumoto K. The myocardial Na⁺-H⁺ exchange: structure, regulation, and its role in heart disease. *Circ Res* 1999;85:777-786.

- 30. Scholz W, Albus U, Scholkens BA. Protective effects of HOE642, a selective sodium-hydrogen exchange subtype 1 inhibitor, on cardiac ischemia and reperfusion. *Cardiovas Res* 1995;29:260-268.
- 31. Stromer H, Groot MCH, Neubauer S. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibition with HOE642 improves postischemic recovery due to attenuation of Ca²⁺ overload and prolonged acidosis on reperfusion. *Circulation* 2000;101:2749-2755.
- Halestrap AP, Wang X, Poole RC, Jackson VN, Price NT. Lactate transport in heart in relation to myocardial ischemia. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;80(3A):17A-25A
- 33. Forgact M. The vacular H⁺-ATPase of clathrin-coated vesicles is reversibly inhibited by S-Nitrosoglutathione. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:1301-1305.
- 34. Prigent KL, Lagadic-Gossmann D, Mongodin E, Feuvray D. HCO₃⁻⁻ dependent alkalinizing transporter in adult rat ventricular myocytes: characterization and modulation. *Am J Physiol* 1997;273:H2596-H2603.
- 35. Gaski W. On the tonicity of the heart and blood vessels. *J Physiol (Lond)* 1880;3:48-75.
- 36. Orchard C, Houser SR, Kort AA, Bahinski A, Capogrossi MC, Lakatta EG. Acidosis facilitates spontaneous sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release in rat myocardium. *J Gen Physiol* 1987;90:145-165.
- 37. Taegmetyer H, Roberts AFC, Rayne AEG. Energy metabolism in reperfused rat heart: return of function before normalization of ATP content. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1985; 6:864-870.

- 38. Sugiyama A, Aye NN, Sawada N, and Hashimoto K. Cariporide, a highly selective Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibitor, suppresses the reperfusion-induced lethal arrhythmias and "Overshoot" phenomenon of creatine phosphate in situ rat heart. *J Cardio Pharmacol* 1999;33:116-121.
- Schipke JD, Korbmacher B, Schwanke U, Frehen D, Schmidt T, Arnold AG.
 Basal metabolism does not account for high O₂ consumption in stunned myocardium. *Am J Physiol* 1998;274:H743-H746.
- 40.Opie LH. Postischemic stunning: the case for calcium as the ultimate culprit. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 1991;5:895-900.
- 41.Kusuoka H, Marban E. Cellular mechanisms of myocardial stunning. *Annu Rev Physiol* 1992;54:243-256.
- 42.Lee S, Araki J, Imaoka T, Maesako M, Suga H. Energy-wasteful total Ca²⁺ handling underlies increased O₂ cost of contractility in canine stunned heart. *Am J Physiol* 2000;278:H1464-H1472.
- 43. Hata K, Takasago T, Saeki A, Nishioka T, Goto Y. Stunned myocardium after rapid correction of acidosis:increased oxygen cost of contractility and the role of the Na⁺-H⁺ exchange system. *Circ Res* 1994;74:794-805.

Chapter 6

Effects of H_2O_2 on energy metabolism and pH_i in

isolated working rat hearts

1. Introduction

It is well known that myocardial ischemia and reperfusion imposes an oxidant burden on myocardial tissue (see reference 1 for review). The twoelectron reduction product of molecular oxygen, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), is an important mediator of cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury^{1,2}. Although a number of studies have demonstrated that H_2O_2 overload inhibits cardiac function, the effects of H_2O_2 on cardiac energy metabolism (fatty acid oxidation, glycolysis and glucose oxidation) are still unknown.

Recent studies have shown that under normal aerobic conditions, acute treatment with H_2O_2 induces intracellular acidosis in several cell types, including isolated rat cardiac myocytes³, renal epithelial cells⁴ and human aortic endothelial cells (HAEC)⁵. This is suggested to be due to inhibition of NHE1 activity by depletion of intracellular ATP content⁵⁻⁹. In intact cells, ATP is required for optimal function of NHE1⁶ and half maximal activation of NHE1 is obtained at about 5 mM ATP⁶. Depletion of ATP induces a marked depression of NHE1 activity in a variety of cell systems^{7,9,10}. The mechanism whereby ATP modulates NHE1 remains obscure. Kinetic analysis showed that the predominant effect of ATP depletion is to alter the sensitivity of this exchanger to H⁺ activation^{6,7}.

One of the reasons for H_2O_2 induced-ATP depletion in isolated myocytes is due to its inhibitory effect on glycolysis^{11,12}. However, inhibition of glycolysis

190

will also improve the coupling of glucose metabolism, reduce H⁺ production and attenuate intracellular acidosis (see 28 for review and Chapter 4 and 5). Therefore, the net effects of H₂O₂ on pH_i may be determined by the relative effects on inhibition of glycolysis and depletion of ATP. Our previous studies have shown that H⁺ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism, due to the presence of a high level of fatty acid, contributes to ischemia-reperfusion injury by activation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE1)¹³⁻¹⁵. Thus, the possibility that H₂O₂, generated during ischemia and reperfusion alters H⁺ production and pH_i can not be excluded.

Fatty acids are the major energy source of the heart, and normally provide 60-70% of the hearts energy requirement (see reference 1 for review). During reperfusion, fatty acid oxidation rates quickly recover and provide 90-100% of heart energy requirements¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) is an important rate-controlling enzyme in the regulation of fatty acid oxidation by generating intracellular malonyl-CoA, a potent inhibitor of mitochondrial fatty acid uptake^{16,19}. 5'AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is a major regulator of ACC, phosphorylating the enzyme at unique sites (Ser-77, Ser-1200, and Ser-1215)^{16,19} and resulting in enzyme inhibition. Previous studies^{19,20} have shown that in reperfused ischemic hearts AMPK activity increases, resulting in a phosphorylation and inhibition of ACC and subsequently reduction of malonyl-CoA production. Since AMPK is a stress-activated protein and can be activated by ATP depletion (see 21 for review), it is reasonable to suggest that H₂O₂

induced-oxidative stress might activate AMPK and up-regulate fatty acid oxidation. Since malonyl-CoA can be decarboxylated by malonyl CoA decarboxylase $(MCD)^{22,23}$, it is also possible that H₂O₂ might affect MCD activity and thereby alter fatty acid oxidation. Our previous study has shown that a high rate of fatty acid oxidation inhibits glucose oxidation and delays the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion by increasing H⁺ production from uncoupled glucose metabolism (see Chapter 4 for details). Cardiac function and efficiency are subsequently depressed. This is because H⁺, generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism, may induce intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload via activation of NHE1 and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ (NCE). Thus, it is possible that regulation of fatty acid oxidation by H₂O₂ may also affect glucose metabolism and pH_i.

In this chapter, the effects of H_2O_2 on glucose metabolism, fatty acid oxidation and intracellular ATP content were investigated in isolated working rat hearts under normal aerobic conditions. We determined whether alteration of the source of H⁺ and ATP content by acute treatment with H_2O_2 can affect pH_i.

2. Methods (for general experimental procedures, please see Chapter 2)

Glycolysis and glucose oxidation were measured simultaneously by perfusing hearts with [5-³H/U-¹⁴C]. Fatty acid oxidation rates were measured by perfusing hearts with [1-¹⁴C]palmitate. TCA cycle activity was determined by calculating the rate of acetyl-CoA entering the TCA cycle from both glucose

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

oxidation and fatty acid oxidation. Overall rates of H⁺ production derived from glucose metabolism were determined by subtracting the rate of glucose oxidation from the rate of glycolysis and multiplying by two. pH_i and high energy phosphate were measured by ³¹P-NMR. AMPK activity was measured by following the incorporation of ³²P into a synthetic peptide and ACC activity was measured using the CO₂ fixation method. Malonyl CoA content was measured by HPLC (see Chapter 2 for details).

3. Experimental Protocol

Isolated working rat hearts were subjected to 70 min of aerobic perfusion. Hearts were randomly assigned to control and H_2O_2 treated-groups. In the control group, working hearts were perfused for a 70-min period under aerobic conditions. In H_2O_2 -treated groups, H_2O_2 was added to the perfusate after 30 min aerobic perfusion at a final concentration of either 225 or 450 μ M (75 or 150 μ M H_2O_2 did not affect cardiac function at any time point and were not included). The hearts were perfused for a further 40-min aerobic period. However, pH_i was monitored for 45 min after the start of 450 μ M H_2O_2 treatment. Hearts were perfused with Krebs-Henseleit solution containing 11 mM glucose, 1.2 mM palmitate and 100 μ U • ml⁻¹ insulin.

4. Results

4.1 Effects of H₂O₂ on cardiac mechanical function

In control hearts, cardiac function was not significantly different throughout the 70 min aerobic perfusion period (Fig. 6-1). However, exposure of hearts to 450 μ M H₂O₂ induced a significant decrease in mechanical function. Cardiac work was inhibited by 96±6% after 40-min treatment (Table 6-1, Fig. 6-1). Exposure of hearts to 225 μ M H₂O₂ significantly increased coronary flow without affecting other parameters (Table 6-1, Fig. 6-1, and Fig. 6-2). Perfusion with 450 μ M H₂O₂ caused a 72±4% decrease in MVO₂ (Table 6-1) and a 82±4% decrease in cardiac efficiency (Fig. 6-1B). In contrast, treatment with 225 μ M H₂O₂ did not affect cardiac function and efficiency.

4.2 Effects of H₂O₂ on glycolysis and glucose and palmitate oxidation

Fig. 6-3 shows the amount of substrates metabolized versus time via glycolysis (panel A), glucose oxidation (panel B) and palmitate oxidation (panel C) during 70 min of perfusion. The effects of H_2O_2 on rates of glycolysis and glucose and palmitate oxidation are shown in Table 6-2. The rate of glucose oxidation in control hearts was substantially lower than the rate of glycolysis. This parallels previous observations in isolated working rat hearts perfused with this level of fatty acid^{21,22}. Treatment with 450 μ M H_2O_2 (but not 225 μ M) significantly inhibited glycolysis and palmitate oxidation (Fig 6-3). Of interest, 225 or 450 μ M H_2O_2 also increased glucose oxidation rates (Table 6-2).
4.3 Effects of H₂O₂ on pH_i

During 40-min perfusion (30 min to 70 min), treatment with H_2O_2 (225 or 450 µM) did not significantly affect pH_i (Fig 6-4A). However, when cardiac work and coronary flow were completely inhibited after a further 5-min perfusion with 450 µM H_2O_2 , pH_i was significantly decreased (Fig 6-4B). In the 450 µM H_2O_2 treatment group, PCr and ATP contents decreased to 51±11% and 46±11% of pretreatment levels, respectively (p<0.05), during 40-min perfusion (Fig. 6-5) and a 1.2-fold increase in Pi content was also observed (p>0.05). After a further 5-min perfusion with H_2O_2 450 µM, PCr and ATP contents decreased to 10±5% and 21±11% of pretreatment levels, respectively, respectively (p<0.05). This was associated with a 3-fold increase in Pi content (p<0.05). Treatment with 225 µM H_2O_2 did not significantly affect PCr, ATP or Pi contents (Fig. 6-5).

4.4 Effects of H₂O₂ on malonyl-CoA content and MCD activity

Figs. 6-6 and 6-7 show the effects of 40-min perfusion with H_2O_2 (225 or 450 μ M) on malonyl-CoA content and MCD activity, respectively. Treatment with 450 μ M H_2O_2 (but not 225 μ M) significantly increased malonyl-CoA content by 1.8-fold. However, H_2O_2 did not affect MCD activity.

4.5 Effects of H₂O₂ on AMPK and ACC activity

Since AMPK and ACC activity play an important role in the regulation of fatty acid oxidation by regulation of malonyl-CoA content¹⁶, we further investigated whether H₂O₂-mediated inhibition of fatty acid oxidation is related to alteration of these two enzymes. Fig. 6-8 shows that in 450 μ M H₂O₂ group, AMPK was increased at the end of 40-min perfusion compared with the control group (630±65 vs 381±77 pmol • min⁻¹ • mg protein⁻¹, p<0.05). This was paralleled by a decrease in ACC activity (6.7±1.4 vs 11.6±1.1 nmol • min⁻¹ • mg protein⁻¹, p<0.05). Treatment with 225 μ M H₂O₂ did not significantly alter AMPK or ACC activity.

4.6 Effects of H₂O₂ on ratio of TCA cycle activity to cardiac work

The effect of H₂O₂ (225 or 450 μ M) on the ratios of TCA cycle activity per cardiac work is shown in Table 6-3. Since cardiac work was almost completely inhibited by 40 min treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂, the ratios of TCA acetyl-CoA production per cardiac work (from glucose and palmitate) in 450 μ M H₂O₂ treated hearts were dramatically higher than that in control or 225 μ M H₂O₂ treated hearts. This resulted in 13-fold increase in the total ratio of TCA acetyl-CoA production per cardiac work in 450 μ M H₂O₂ treated group compared with control.

5. Discussion

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

In the present study, the effects of H_2O_2 on glycolysis, glucose oxidation, fatty acid oxidation, H⁺ production and pH_i were investigated in isolated working rat hearts. Although we found that H_2O_2 inhibited cardiac function and depleted intracellular ATP content, in contrast to previous studies, H_2O_2 did not affect pH_i by reducing H⁺ production. This was because H_2O_2 inhibited fatty acid oxidation and improved the coupling of glucose metabolism. A decrease in pH_i was only observed after cardiac work and coronary flow had ceased. As a result, we conclude that the adverse effects of H_2O_2 on cardiac function and efficiency are not due to effects on either H⁺ production or pH_i.

 H_2O_2 is an important mediator in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury^{1,2}. Previous studies have demonstrated that H_2O_2 is not only produced during reperfusion, but also generated during ischemia, and contributes to ischemic injury¹. Perfusion of isolated rat hearts with H_2O_2 is a well-established experimental model of cardiac dysfunction caused by reactive oxygen species²⁴. In the present study, the effects on H_2O_2 on cardiac function and metabolism in isolated working rat heart perfused with both glucose and fatty acid were investigated. The lower concentration of H_2O_2 (225 µM) caused coronary vasodilatation, which was not accompanied by an increase in cardiac function and MVO₂. In contrast, treatment with 450 µM H_2O_2 almost completely inhibited cardiac function and coronary flow was significantly decreased. A recent study³¹ has shown that low concentration of H_2O_2 (25-50 µM) induced vasodilatation and

197

improved the recovery of cardiac function during reperfusion in ischemic rat hearts, while high concentration of H_2O_2 (200 µM) caused an immediate vasodilatation followed by vasoconstriction and inhibited the recovery of cardiac function. The vasodilatation effect observed in above study was proposed to be due to an elevated cGMP level caused by H_2O_2 treatment³⁰. Our results suggest that H_2O_2 -induced vasodilatation may be dependent on its concentration. The concentrations of H_2O_2 used in this study are actually low. This is because 3% BSA, which was used to bind fatty acids, has a strong scavenging activity against $H_2O_2^{31,32}$. Thus, the actual free concentrations of H_2O_2 in this study may be comparable to those used in previous studies, which did not use fatty acid and BSA in their perfusion^{24,32}.

Previous studies^{3,11,12} have shown that H_2O_2 -induced oxidative stress impairs glycolysis and glucose oxidation in rat cardiomyocytes by inhibition of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and PDH. However, the sensitivity of PDH to H_2O_2 overload is markedly less than that of GAPDH¹¹. In the present study, our data also showed that the most significant effect of H_2O_2 on myocardial glucose metabolism was an inhibition of glycolysis. This is consistent with previous studies using rat cardiac myocytes or isolated hearts models^{3,11,12,26}. Since glucose oxidation is closely associated with cardiac work²⁷ and H_2O_2 significantly inhibited cardiac mechanical function, it would be expected that glucose oxidation would also decrease. Surprisingly, in contrast to previous studies^{11,26}, we found that in the isolated working heart model, glucose oxidation was stimulated after acute treatment with H_2O_2 . It is widely accepted that downregulation of fatty acid oxidation can up-regulate glucose oxidation and improve coupling of glucose metabolism in isolated rat hearts (see 16,28 for review). Thus, it is possible that the up-regulated glucose oxidation observed in this study is related to an inhibitory effect of H_2O_2 on fatty acid oxidation.

It is well known that treatment with H₂O₂ induces intracellular ATP depletion. Hu et al⁵ have shown that decreasing 40% of intracellular ATP content by H_2O_2 decreases pH_i of HAEC by 0.22 pH unit (p<0.05). In the present studies, although PCr, ATP contents and coronary flow decreased to 51±11%, 46±11% and 22±8%, respectively, of pretreatment levels (p<0.05), there was no significant change in pH_i. This is not consistent with previous studies demonstrating that H_2O_2 induces intracellular acidosis³⁻⁹. Besides the different experimental model used in this study (isolated working hearts vs cultured cells), the major reason for above disparity may be related to the presence of palmitate, the major fuel for the heart that was missing in previous studies³⁻⁹. In the present study, glycolysis was inhibited, while glucose oxidation was increased, resulting in lower H⁺ production generated from an improved coupling of glucose metabolism. After 40 min treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂, H⁺ production rate was reduced by 62±14% (p<0.05). Therefore, treatment with H₂O₂ actually improved the coupling of glycolysis with glucose oxidation, resulting in a low H⁺ production rate and this may offset a low pH_i induced by depletion of ATP and reduced coronary flow.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Interestingly, after a further 5-min treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂, cardiac work and coronary flow had completely ceased and pH_i quickly decreased (from 7.16±0.04 to 6.72±0.09, p<0.05). This was associated with markedly low levels of PCr and ATP contents (10±5% and 21±11% of pretreatment levels, respectively, p<0.05) and a 3-fold increase in Pi content (p<0.05). We could not measure glucose or fatty acid metabolism and calculate H⁺ production between 40 and 45 min of treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂ since there was no coronary flow. During this period, since the oxidation pathway is completely inhibited, ATP production from glycolysis is the only fuel for the heart and H⁺ production generated from hydrolysis of glycolytically derived ATP becomes a major source for intracellular acidosis (see 29 for review). Thus, it is not surprising to demonstrate that pH_i quickly decreased during this period.

Hydroxyl-radical (•OH) or superoxide anion radical ($O_2^{-\bullet}$) generators have been reported to elicit adenylate loss and contractile failure in isolated hearts^{25,26}. It is well known that H₂O₂ inhibits cardiac mitochondrial respiration^{33,34}, inhibits sarcoplasmic reticulum-Ca²⁺ ATPase³⁵ and alters contractile proteins³⁶. All the above mechanisms potentially contribute to H₂O₂-induced cardiac injury. Although a decrease in cardiac function (energy demand) induced by H₂O₂ may decrease fatty acid oxidation, the direct effect of H₂O₂ on fatty acid oxidation can not be ignored. In the present study, we further investigated the mechanisms that H₂O₂ down-regulated fatty acid oxidation. Previous studies have shown that

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

malonyl-CoA, the product of ACC, is a potent inhibitor of mitochondrial fatty acid uptake^{16,19,20}. AMPK phosphorylates ACC and decreases its activity, resulting in an increase in fatty acid oxidation^{16,19,20}. It was possible that H₂O₂ could have up-regulated fatty acid oxidation by activating AMPK and inhibiting ACC activity. Indeed, AMPK activity was activated and ACC activity was inhibited by 450 µM H₂O₂. However, fatty acid oxidation was inhibited. This may be due to a 1.8-fold increase in malonyl-CoA content. Therefore, the effects of H₂O₂ on AMPK and ACC activities can not explain inhibited fatty acid oxidation in this study. We further investigated whether H₂O₂ could affect the malonyl-CoA degradation However, MCD activity was not affected. Previous studies pathway. demonstrated that malonyl-CoA is widely distributed within different intracellular compartments (including mitochondrial) (see reference 23 for review). It is possible that H₂O₂ generated free radicals can damage intracellular compartments and thus more malonyl-CoA is released. This may overshadow the decreased malonyl-CoA production due to low activity of ACC. Regardless, our results suggest that the inhibitory effect of H₂O₂ on fatty acid oxidation is independent on malonyl-CoA generation or degradation pathways.

Myocardial metabolism is normally finely matched to myocardial performance and changes in contractile function can induce alterations in metabolism. However, Schulz et al³⁷ found that infusion of peroxynitrite in aerobic perfused working rat hearts (without fatty acid substrate) depressed cardiac efficiency and this was associated with an uncoupling of contractile

function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity. This suggests that mitochondrial ATP production is not efficiently translated into mechanical function. In 450 μ M H₂O₂-treated hearts, cardiac function was inhibited 96±6%, while 46±11% of pretreatment level of ATP remained after 40-min perfusion. As a result, there was a marked inefficiency of the heart to utilize the ATP synthesized for mechanical work. This was associated with a 13-fold increase in the total ratio of TCA acetyl-CoA production per cardiac work compared with control. Thus, similar to the effect of peroxynitrite³⁷, H₂O₂ can also induce an uncoupling of utilization of cardiac energy with contractile function.

One limitation in the present study is that we did not determine whether specific inhibition of NHE1 by cariporide could affect pH_i after depletion of the intracellular ATP. A previous study⁵ has shown that inhibition of NHE1 did not further affect H₂O₂-induced intracellular acidosis in HAEC. However, it has been shown that cariporide, a specific inhibitor of NHE1, may have direct antioxidant effects, since the detrimental effects of H₂O₂ on cardiac function can be reversed by treatment with cariporide in isolated rat hearts³⁸. A recent study has shown that treatment with cariporide during ischemia does not affect pH_i but attenuates intracellular Ca²⁺ overload³⁹. Thus, cariporide may have effects other than inhibition of NHE1.

Summary

Acute treatment with H_2O_2 for 40 min caused a concentration-dependent cardiac depression and decreases in PCr and ATP contents in isolated working rat hearts despite no changes in pH_i. This was associated with an uncoupling of contractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity. H_2O_2 significantly reduced H⁺ production via improvement of coupling of glucose metabolism. This may be a major reason that acute treatment with 450 µM H_2O_2 for 40 min did not affect pH_i despite the occurrence of significant reduction in coronary perfusion. However, intracellular acidosis occurred only after cessation of cardiac work and coronary perfusion induced by H_2O_2 . This was associated with marked low levels of intracellular PCr and ATP. Fatty acid oxidation was significantly inhibited in H_2O_2 (450 µM)-treated hearts. This may be due to a non-specific release of malonyl-CoA from intracellular compartments. The inhibitory effect of H_2O_2 on fatty acid oxidation may be responsible for the stimulated glucose oxidation in H_2O_2 -treated hearts.





Values are mean \pm SEM. Control, n=8, (O); 225 μ M H₂O₂, n=8 (\blacktriangle); 450 μ M H₂O₂, n=8 (\odot). *, Significantly different from control hearts. ⁺, Significantly different from 225 μ M H₂O₂-treated hearts.



Figure 6-2. The effect of H_2O_2 on coronary flow during aerobic perfusion in isolated working rat hearts.

Values are mean \pm SEM. Control, n=8, (O); 225 μ M H₂O₂, n=8 (\blacktriangle);450 μ M H₂O₂, n=8,(\odot). *, Significantly different from control hearts. ⁺, Significantly different from 225 μ M H₂O₂ treated hearts.





Values are mean \pm SEM. Conterol, n=8, (O); 225 μ M H₂O₂, n=8 (\blacktriangle); 450 μ M H₂O₂, n=8, (\odot). *, Significantly different from control hearts. *, Significantly different from 225 μ M H₂O₂ -treated hearts.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Figure 6-4. Effect of treatment with H_2O_2 on pH_i in isolated working rat hearts. Values are mean \pm SEM, n=6. After 30 min aerobic perfusion, (A) hearts were subjected to 40 min treatment with different concentrations of H_2O_2 ; (B) Hearts were subjected to 45 min treatment with 450 μ M H_2O_2 . *, Significantly different from pretreatment pH_i value.





Values are mean \pm SEM, n=6. Hearts were subjected to 40 min treatment with H₂O₂ (0, 225 or 450 μ M) or 45 min treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂.

*, Significantly different from postreatment values in control and 225 μ M H₂O₂ groups. ^{\$}, Significantly different from postreatment values in 40 min treatment with 450 μ M H₂O₂ group.



Figure 6-6. Effect of H_2O_2 on malonyl-CoA level in isolated working rat hearts. Values are mean \pm SEM, n=8. After 30 min of aerobic perfusion, hearts were subjected to 40 min treatment with 0 (control), 225 or 450 μ M H_2O_2 , respectively.

*, Significantly different from control.



Figure 6-7. Effects of H₂O₂ on MCD activity in isolated working rat hearts.

Values are mean \pm SEM, n=8. After 30 min of aerobic perfusion, hearts were subjected to 40 min treatment with 0 (control), 225 or 450 μ M H₂O₂, respectively.



Figure 6-8. Effects of H_2O_2 on AMPK and ACC activities in isolated working rat hearts.

Values are mean \pm SEM, n=8. After 30 min aerobic perfusion, hearts were subjected to 40 min treatment with 0 (control), 225 or 450 μ M H₂O₂, respectively.

* Significantly different from control hearts.

		Control	225 µM	450 µM
Parameter measured		(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=8)
Heart rate	Pretreatment	249±13	239±12	220±20
(beats • min ⁻¹)	Postreatment	241±27	211±27	88±11 ^{s+*}
Peak systolic pressure	Pretreatment	130±2	126±4	136±4
(mm Hg)	Postreatment	124±4	108±14	36±14 ^{s+*}
Developed pressure	Pretreatment	74±4	74±4	70±4
(mm Hg)	Postreatment	$38\pm4^+$	34±6⁺	14±6 ^{s+-}
Cardiac output	Pretreatment	48±4	50±5	45±5
(ml • min ⁻¹)	Postreatment	43±6	42±7	6±3 ^{s+*}
MVO ₂	Pretreatment	44±3	50±5	54±4
(µmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹)	Postreatment	40±3	51±3	15±8 ^{s+*}
Coronary flow	Pretreatment	21±1	21±1	23±1
(ml • min ⁻¹)	Postreatment	1 8±1	27±2*	5±3 ^{s+*}

Table 6-1. Effects of H_2O_2 on the mechanical function of isolated working rat hearts.

Pretreatment values were taken after 30 min perfusion. Postreatment values were taken after 40 min treatment. Values are mean \pm SEM; n=8.

* Significantly different from postreatment values in control hearts.

⁺ Significantly different from pretreatment values in H₂O₂-treated hearts.

^{\$} Significantly different from postreatment values in H_2O_2 225 μ M-treated hearts.

Table 6-2.	Effects of H	12O2 on ste	ady-state r	ates of g	lucose	oxidation,	glycolysis
palmitate c	oxidation and	d H⁺ produc	tion in isola	ated work	king hea	arts.	

Parameter measured		Control	225 µM	450 µM
(nmol • g dry wt ⁻¹ • min ⁻¹	¹)	(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=8)
Glucose oxidation	Pretreatment	156±25	145±35	135±28
	Postreatment	204±47	532±70 ^{*+}	542 <u>+</u> 42 ^{+*}
Glycolysis	Pretreatment	3100±687	2805±467	2655±236
	Postreatment	3213±413	2063±401	1504±220 ⁻ +
Palmitate oxidation	Pretreatment	456±45	498±56	442±35
	Postreatment	509±69	404±42	242±23*+
H ⁺ production	Pretreatment	5888±612	5320±457	5040±225
	Postreatment	5738±762	3062±443*+	1924±443*+

Pretreatment values were determined between 10 and 30 min. Postreatment values were determined between 40 and 70 min of perfusion. Values are means \pm SEM.

* Significantly different from postreatment values in control group.

⁺ Significantly different from corresponding pretreatment values.

Table 6-3. Effects of H_2O_2 on TCA acetyl-CoA production per cardiac work (CW) from glucose oxidation and palmitate oxidation in isolated working hearts.

TCA acetyl-CoA		Control	225 µM	450 μM
production per CW from:		(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=8)
Glucose oxidation	Pretreatment	5±1	5±1	4±1
	Postreatment	13±2⁺	21±3*	462±46 ^{*+}
Palmitate oxidation	Pretreatment	45±5	50±7	45±4
	Postreatment	50±8	44±6	598±96 ^{*+}
Total	Pretreatment	50	55	49
	Postreatment	81	65	1060

Pretreatment values were determined between 10 and 30 min. Postreatment values were determined between 40 and 70 min of perfusion. Values are means \pm SEM.

* Significantly different from postreatment values in control group.

⁺ Significantly different from pretreatment values.

Bibliography

- 1. Vanden HTL, Shao LTZ, Schumacker PT and Becker LB.. Significant levels of oxidants are generated by isolated cardiomyocytes during ischemia prior to reperfusion. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1997;29:2571-2583.
- 2. Takemura GT, Millard OR and Ashraf M. Demonstration of hydroxyl radical and its role in hydrogen peroxide-induced myocardial injury: Hydroxyl radical dependent and independent mechanisms. *Free Rad Biol Med* 1993;15:13-25.
- 3. Wu ML, Tsai KL, Wang SM, Wu JC, Wang BS, Lee YT. Mechanism of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl free radical-induced intracellular acidification in cultured rat cardiac myoblasts. *Circ Res* 1996;78:564-572.
- Kaufman DS, Goligorsky MS, Nord EP, Graber ML. Perturbation of cell pH regulation by H₂O₂ in renal epithelial cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 1993;302:245-254.
- Hu QH, Xia Y, Corda S, Zweier JL, Ziegelstein RC. Hydrogen peroxide depresses pH_i in human aortic endothelial cells by inhibiting Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. *Circ Res* 1998;83:644-651.
- Demaurex N, Romanek RR, Orlowski J, Grinstein S. ATP dependence of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange: Nucleotide specificity and assessment of the role of phospholipids. *J Gen Physiol* 1997;109:117-128.
- 7. Aharonovitz O, Demaurex N, Woodside M, and Grinstein S. ATP dependence is not an intrinsic property of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger NHE1: requirement for an ancillary factor. *Am J Physiol* 1999;276:C1303-C1311.

- B. Goss GG, Woodside M, Wakabayashi S and Grinstein S. ATP-dependence of NHE-1, the ubiquitous isoform of the Na⁺/H⁺, antiporter. Analysis of phosphorylation and subcellular localization. *J Biol Chem* 1994;269:8741-8748.
- Burns KD, Homma T, and Harris RC. Regulation of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by ATP depletion and calmodulin antagonism in renal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol* 1991;261:F607-F616.
- Weissberg PL, Little PJ, Cragoe EJ Jr, Bobik A. The pH of spontaneously beating cultured rat heart cells is regulated by an ATP-calmodulin-dependent Na⁺/H⁺ antiport. *Circ Res* 1989;64:676-685.
- 11. Janero DR, Hreniuk D and Sharif HM. Hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress impairs heart muscle cell carbohydrate metabolism. *Am J Physiol* 1994;35:C179-C188.
- McDonough KH, Henry JJ.and Spitzer JJ. Effects of oxygen radicals on substrate oxidation by cardiac myocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1987;926:127-131.
- Liu B, Alaoui-Talibi ZE, Clanachan AS, Schuilz R and Lopaschuk GD. Uncoupling of contractile function from mitochondrial TCA cycle activity and MVO₂ during reperfusion of ischemic hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:H72-H80.
- 14. Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R and Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.

- 15. Liu Q., Docherty JC, Rendell J., Clanachan AS, Lopaschuk GD. High levels of fatty acids decrease the rate of recovery of intracellular pH in isolated rat hearts reperfused after ischemia. *Circulation* 1999;100:I-345.
- 16. Lopaschuk G D, Belke DD, Gamble J, Itoi I, and Schonekess BO. Regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. *Biochim. Biophys Acta* 1994;1213: 263-276.
- 17. Lopaschuk GD, Spafford MA, Davies NJ, and Wall SR. Glucose and palmitate oxidation in isolated working rat hearts reperfused after a period of transient global ischemia. *Circ Res* 66: 546-553, 1990.
- Saddik, M. and G. D. Lopaschuk. Myocardial triglyceride turnover during reperfusion of isolated rat hearts subjected to a transient period of global ischemia. *J Biol Chem* 1992;267:3825-3831.
- 19. Saddik M, Gamble J, Witters LA, and Lopaschuk GD. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the heart. *J Biol Chem* 1993;268:25836-25845.
- 20. Kudo N., Barr AJ, Barr RL., Desai S, and Lopaschuk GD. High rates of fatty acid oxidation during reperfusion of ischemic hearts are associated with a decrease in malonyl-CoA levels due to an increase in 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase. *J Biol Chem* 1995;270:17513-17520.
- 21.Hardie DG. Roles of the AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase family in the response to cellular stress. *Biochem Soci Sym* 1999;64:13-27.

- 22. Dyck JRB, Barr AJ, Barr RL. Characterization of cardiac malonyl-CoA decarboxylase and its putative role in regulating fatty acid oxidation. *Am J Physiol* 1998;275:H2122-H2129.
- 23. Scholte HR. The intracellular and intramitochondrial distribution of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase and propionyl-CoA carboxylase in rat liver. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1969;178:137-144.
- 24. Skjelbakken T, Valen G, Vaage J. Perfusing isolated rat hearts with hydrogen peroxide: an experimental model of cardiac dysfunction caused by reactive oxygen species. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1996;56:431-439.
- 25. Chatham, J. C., H. F. Gilbert, and G. K. Radda. The metabolic consequences of hydroperoxide perfusion on the isolated heart. *Eur J Biochem* 1989;184: 657-662,.
- Corretti, M. C., Y. Koretsunne, H. Kusuoka, V. P. Chacko, J. L. Zweier, and E. Marban. Glycolytic inhibition and calcium overload as consequences of exogenously generated free radicals in rabbit hearts. *J Clin Invest* 1991;88:1014-1025.
- 27.Schonekess BO, Brindley PG, Lopaschuk GD. Calcium regulation of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, and fatty acid oxidation in the aerobic and ischemic heart. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1995;73(11):1632-1640.
- 28. Taegmeyer H, Hems R, Krebs HA. Utilization of energy providing substrates in the isolated working rat heart. *Biochem J* 1980;186:701-711.
- 29.Dennis SC, Gevers W, Opie LH. Protons in ischemia: where do they come from; where do they go to? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1991;23:1077-1086.

- 30. Hegstad AO, Antonsen H and Ytrehus K. Low concentration of hydrogen peroxide improve post-ischemic metabolic and functional recovery in isolated perfused rat hearts. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1997;29:2779-2787.
- 31. Dumoulin MJ, Chahine R, Atanasiu R, Nadeau R., Mateescu MA. Comparative antioxidant and cardioprotective effects of ceruloplasmin, superoxide dismutase and albumin. *Arzneimittel-Forschung* 1996;46(9): 855-861.
- 32. Ogino T, Okada S. Oxidative damage of bovine serum albumin and other enzyme proteins by iron-chelate complexes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1995;1245(3):359-365.
- 33. Tatsumi T and Kako KJ. Effects of hydrogen peroxide on mitochondrial enzyme function studied in situ in rat heart myocytes. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1992;87:239-249.
- 34. Zhang Y, Marcillat O, Giulivi C, Ernster L, Davies KJ. The oxidative inactivation of mitochondrial electron transport chain components and ATPase. *J Biol Chem* 1990;265(27):16330-16336.
- 35. XU KY, Zweier JL, Becker LC. Hydroxyl radical inhibits sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase function by direct attack on the ATP binding site. *Circ Res* 1997;80(1):76-81.
- 36.Nag AC, Sreepathi P, Lee ML, Reddan JR. Effect of oxidative insult on young and adult cardiac muscle cells in vitro. *Cytobios* 1996;85(340):7-27.

- 37.Schulz R, Dodge KL, Lopaschuk GD and Clanachan AS. Peroxynitrite impairs cardiac contractile function by decreasing cardiac efficiency. *Am J Physiol* 1996;272: H1212-H1219.
- 38. Ehsanul AN, Karmazyn M. Effect of sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibition on functional and metabolic impairment produced by oxidative stress in the isolated rat heart. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1997;75:326-334.
- 39.Stromer H, Groot MCH, Horn M, Faul C, Leupold A, Morgan JP, Scholz W, Neubauer S. Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger inhibition with HOE642 improves postischemic recovery due to attenuation of Ca²⁺ overload and prolonged acidosis on reperfusion. *Circulation* 2000;101:2749-2755.

Chapter 7

General discussion & conclusions

•

Despite the fact that H^+ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism during reperfusion has been implicated as a contributing factor to the pathophysiology of ischemia-reperfusion injury, a direct determination of whether H^+ production can delay the recovery of pH_i has not previously been made. In the present studies, the impact of both the source and fate of H^+ on the recovery of pH_i, cardiac function and efficiency in postischemic rat hearts was investigated.

Methodology

The continuous contractile activity of heart muscle requires that the myocytes produce large amounts of ATP. The heart meets this ATP demand primarily by metabolizing carbohydrates and fatty acids. Flux through glycolysis, glucose oxidation, lactate oxidation, fatty acid oxidation, TCA cycle activity, and electron transport chain activity are critically dependent on the work performed by the heart. It is therefore critical to use experimental models in which the heart functions at physiologically relevant workloads. For example, oxidative metabolism in isolated cardiomyocytes can be 50 to 100 times lower than rates in intact working hearts due to the quiescent nature of the isolated cardiomyocytes^{1,2}.

Another important consideration in the measurement of energy metabolism in the heart is the supply of energy substrates to the heart. Due to the complex interrelation among the various metabolic pathways in the heart, altering the supply of a particular energy substrate has considerable impact on flux through the other pathways. For example, removal of fatty acids as a source of energy substrate results in a 5-fold increase in glucose oxidation rates in isolated working rat hearts (see Chapter 4 for details). Although this potential problem is less relevant with *in vivo* studies, it is particularly important in *in vitro* studies. Most *in vitro* heart studies do not provide fatty acids as an energy substrate. As a result, omission of fatty acids artificially increases rates of myocardial glucose metabolism and complicates measurement of energy substrate metabolism and cardiac performance. Thus, in the present studies, measurements of energy metabolism and cardiac function were performed in isolated working rat hearts perfused with both glucose and fatty acid (palmitate).

Use of ³¹P-NMR allows noninvasive measurement of high energy phosphates (ATP, PCr) and pH_i in the intact heart. However, ³¹P-NMR does not provide information about which metabolic pathways are responsible for the generation of high energy phosphates. Furthermore, it is well known that levels of ATP are not a good indicator of the recovery of cardiac function in postischemic hearts. In contrast, measurement of energy metabolism using ³Hor ¹⁴C-labeled substrates allows direct measurement of flux through the various energy-yielding pathways (carbohydrates and fatty acids, etc.) in the heart. This includes direct measurement of rates of glycolysis, glucose oxidation, lactate oxidation, and fatty acid oxidation. One of the advantages of this approach is that intracellular H⁺ production can be calculated from glucose metabolism (see Chapter 1 for details). Previous studies have indicated that H⁺ production in postischemic hearts is detrimental for the recovery of cardiac function in postischemic hearts^{3,4}. In the present studies, an isolated working rat heart model for ³¹P-NMR was developed. Combination of ³¹P-NMR with ³H- or ¹⁴C-labeled radioisotope technique provided us more detail about the relationship between energy substrate metabolism, H⁺ production and pH_i in postischemic hearts.

H^{+} production, pH_i and regulation of glucose metabolism

In the present studies, T_3 (10 nM) activated PDH, stimulated glucose oxidation and reduced H⁺ production. This was associated with significantly improved recovery of cardiac function in postischemic hearts (see Chapter 3 for details). Although this is consistent with previous studies demonstrating that a decreased H⁺ production in response to an improvement of the coupling of glucose metabolism is important for the recovery of cardiac function, there was no direct evidence to show that the alteration of calculated H⁺ production accounts for the change of pH_i.

Therefore, we investigated whether reduction of H^+ production by stimulating glucose oxidation (omission of fatty acid or stimulation of PDH by DCA) can accelerate pH_i recovery. We found that this is indeed the case. The recovery of pH_i in glucose-perfused or DCA-treated hearts was faster than in glucose+palmitate-perfused hearts during reperfusion (see Chapter 4 for details).

On the other hand, inhibition of NHE1 significantly prolonged intracellular acidosis in postischemic hearts perfused with a high level of fatty acid (Chapter 5). Furthermore, improvement of coupling of glucose metabolism (inhibition of glycolysis and stimulation of glucose oxidation) by H_2O_2 in isolated aerobic working rat hearts also lessened the decrease in pH_i (see Chapter 6 for details). On the basis of the above studies, we propose that an increase in H⁺ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism, due to the presence of fatty acids, delays the recovery of pH_i in postischemic rat hearts. Reduction of H⁺ production by alteration of glucose and fatty acid metabolism can improve the recovery of cardiac function and accelerate the recovery of pH_i. However, the recovery of pHi per se is not the critical factor determining overall recovery of cardiac function. Stimulation of glucose oxidation by DCA did improve the recovery of cardiac function, reduced H⁺ production and accelerated the recovery of pH_i during reperfusion. However, inhibition of NHE1 by CAR led to a complete recovery of cardiac function, despite a slower recovery of pH_i during reperfusion. Thus, we conclude it is the clearance of H^+ that is responsible for the ischemia/reperfusion injury during reperfusion (see Chapter 5 for detail). Activation of NHE1 by acidosis generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism may induce intracellular Ca²⁺ overload via NCE during reperfusion.

In the present studies, we have shown that the metabolic generation of H⁺ from hydrolysis of glycolytically derived ATP is a major source for intracellular acidosis not only during ischemia (see reference 5 for review), but also during

reperfusion. However, the question also arises as to whether H^+ production from hydrolysis of ATP derived from mitochondrial oxidation also contributes to the intracellular acidosis during reperfusion? This is unlikely since that H^+ produced by hydrolysis of ATP, derived from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, are utilized in the re-synthesis of ATP under aerobic condition^{5,6}. As a result, there is no net production of H^+ under conditions of oxidative phosphorylation⁷.

Inhibition of NHE1 during ischemia and reperfusion

Results from Chapter 5 show that inhibiting NHE1 during ischemia resulted in greater acidification. This suggests that NHE1 is also activated during ischemia. However, some other investigators^{7,8} have failed to demonstrate this effect despite the fact that Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ loading is attenuated and better recovery of cardiac function occurs. Although a number of studies have shown that inhibition of NHE1 before ischemia can improve the recovery of cardiac function, in the present studies treatment with CAR (5 min before ischemia) led to delayed recovery of mechanical function and efficiency during the first 30 min of reperfusion, despite the fact that cardiac function completely recovered by 50 min of reperfusion (Chapter 5). This may be because pretreatment with CAR significantly slowed the recovery of pH_i, during reperfusion. Furthermore the combination of DCA with CAR prevented the stimulatory effect of DCA on glucose oxidation during the early period of reperfusion. This may be because low pH_i due to pretreatment with CAR may inhibit PDH. In contrast, treatment with DCA alone during reperfusion led to a

quick recovery of pH_i, as well as an improvement in glucose oxidation and mechanical function. In future studies it will be necessary to investigate the combined effects of DCA with a lower concentration of CAR administered during reperfusion.

Cause and effect: the relationships between coronary flow, cardiac function and pH_i

It is feasible to argue that low levels of coronary flow observed in the Glucose+Palmitate group (Chapter 4 and 5) during reperfusion may be also responsible for the slow recovery of pH_i and poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. However, a report from Schonekess⁹ indicates that 1.2 mM palmitate perfusion does not affect coronary flow and cardiac function during 100 min of aerobic perfusion. Furthermore, increasing concentration of palmitate from 0.4 to 1.2 mM does not affect coronary flow and cardiac function during 60¹⁰ or 100⁹ min of aerobic perfusion. In the present studies, CVR was not different between Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate groups (see Chapter 4 for details). Thus, it is unlikely that perfusion of 1.2 mM palmitate can directly affect coronary flow in the present studies. Rather, it is the increased H⁺ production from uncoupled glucose metabolism, due to the presence of 1.2 mM palmitate, that delays the recovery of pH_i. Clearance of these H⁺ via NHE1 leads to a poor recovery of cardiac function and coronary flow.

Limitations of this thesis

Although energy substrate metabolism from exogenous substrates was measured in isolated working rat hearts, the contributions of endogenous stores of triacylglycerol and glycogen were not considered. The mobilization of endogenous triacylglycerol stores occurs in rat hearts perfused in the absence of fatty acids¹¹. However, mobilization decreases when fatty acid concentration in the perfusate is increased¹¹. This reduces the likely contribution of triacylglycerol stores to energy production in these studies (except in glucose-perfused group). Although glycogen mobilization can also contribute to energy production and H⁺ production in the heart, it is unlikely to play a significant role in the present studies because there was no difference in pH_i between Glucose and Glucose+Palmitate groups, suggesting that glycogen mobilization could not account for our results.

Summary and conclusion

On the basis of the results presented in this thesis, it is concluded that H^+ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism due to the presence of a high level of fatty acid delays the recovery of pH_i in the postischemic heart. Clearance of H^+ by activation of NHE1 leads to a poor recovery of cardiac mechanical function and efficiency during reperfusion. This is because: 1) in the presence of high level of fatty acid, glucose oxidation is inhibited, resulting in an increased H^+ production generated from uncoupled glucose metabolism. This is associated with a slower recovery of pH_i and a poor recovery of cardiac function and efficiency 2 reduction of H^+ production, by either

activating glucose oxidation or inhibiting glycolysis, accelerates the recovery of pH_i ; 3) either inhibiting NHE1 or decreasing H⁺ production by activating glucose oxidation improves the recovery of cardiac work and efficiency. Thus, decreased H⁺ production by optimizing energy substrate preference by the heart during reperfusion is a potentially exciting new approach to treating ischemic heart disease.

Bibliography

- 1. Awaan AA, Saggerson ED. Malonyl-CoA metabolism in cardiac myocytes and its relevance to the control of fatty acid oxidation. *Biochem J* 1993;295:61-66.
- 2. Saddik M, Gamble J, Witters LA, Lopaschuk GD. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase regulation of fatty acid oxidation. *J Biol Chem* 1993;268:25836-25845.
- 3. Liu B, Clanachan AS, Schulz R and Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac efficiency is improved after ischemia by altering both the source and fate of protons. *Circ Res* 1996;79:940-948.
- 4. Lopaschuk GD, Wambolt RB, Barr RL. An imbalance between glycolysis and glucose oxidation is a possible explanation for the detrimental effects of high levels of fatty acids during aerobic reperfusion of ischemic hearts. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1993; 264:135-144.
- 5. Dennis SC, Gevers W and Opie LH. Protons in ischemia: Where do they come from; where do they go to? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1991;23:1077-1086.
- 6. Vaghy P. Role of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in the maintenance of intracellular pH. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1979;11:325-330.
- 7. Navon G, Wermann JG, Maron R, Cohen SM. ³¹P NMR and triple quantum filtered ²³Na NMR studies of the effects of inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange on intracellular sodium and pH in working and ischemic hearts. *Magn Reson Med* 1994;32:556-564.
- 8. Hendrikx M, Mubagwa K, Verdonck F, Overloop K, Hecke PV, Vanstapel F, Lommel AV, Verbeken E, Lauweryns J, Flameng W. New Na⁺-H⁺ exchange
- Schonekess BO. Competition between lactate and fatty acids as sources of ATP in the isolated working rat heart. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1997;29(10):2725-33.
- 10. Belke DD, Larsen TS, Lopaschuk GD, Severson DL.. Glucose and fatty acid metabolism in the isolated working mouse heart. *Am J Physiol* 1999;277:R1210-7.
- 11. Saddik M, Lopaschuk GD. Myocardial triglyceride turnover and contribution to energy substrate utilization in isolated working rat hearts. *J Biol Chem* 1991;266:8162-8170.

Chapter 8

Future directions

From the data revealed in my thesis research, there are several questions that remain to be answered regarding the regulation of energy metabolism and intracellular ionic homeostasis in postischemic hearts.

Measurement of intracellular Na⁺and Ca²⁺

From the present studies the question arises as to whether the decrease in H⁺ production, by improving the coupling of glucose metabolism, can attenuate the increase in intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ concentrations? It is well known that inhibition of NHE1 during reperfusion attenuates intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload in postischemic rat hearts. As discussed in Chapter 5, reduction in H⁺ production may result in less activation of NHE1. It is therefore reasonable to assume that similar to the effects of inhibition of NHE1, a reduction in H⁺ production by improvement of the coupling of glucose metabolism may also attenuate intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ can be measured by ²³Na-NMR and ¹⁹F-NMR, respectively.

Down-regulation of fatty acid oxidation and the recovery of pH_i and cardiac function

It is well known that down-regulation of cardiac fatty acid oxidation leads to up-regulation of glucose oxidation (see Chapter 1 for details). Thus, it is feasible to assume that inhibition of fatty acid oxidation can improve the coupling of glucose metabolism, reduce H⁺ production and accelerate pH_i recovery and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

improve the recovery of cardiac function in postischemic hearts. Future studies will be required to address the issue that whether inhibition of fatty acid oxidation can accelerate the recovery of pH_i , attenuate Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ overload and improve the recovery of cardiac function during reperfusion.

Roles of other H^{\dagger} extrusion pathways (MCT and vacuolar- H^{\dagger} ATPase) on cardiac function and pH_{i}

It is well documented that MCT and vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase play an important role in maintaining pH_i within the normal range (see Chapter 1 for details). Unlike NHE1, these two H⁺ extrusion pathways clear H⁺ from the cell without causing Na⁺ accumulation. Since there is a close relationship between cardiac energy metabolism and MCT (see Chapter 1 for details), it would be interesting to investigate the impact of MCT (inhibition or activation) on the recovery of pH_i, cardiac energy metabolism and cardiac function in postischemic hearts.

Recently, the Gottlieb's group¹ demonstrated vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase plays an important accessory role in cardioprotection by reducing acidosis and NHE1induced Ca²⁺ overload. It is estimated that inhibition of vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase can delay the recovery of pH_i and enhance activation of NHE1, resulting in poor recovery of cardiac function in postischemic working hearts. Future studies should address the role of vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase on the recovery of pH_i and cardiac function in our model. It would also be interesting to investigate the relationships between cardiac energy metabolism and vacuolar-H⁺ ATPase, particularly as ATP content plays an important role in the regulation of its activity^{2,3}.

Roles of free radicals in regulation of energy metabolism and pH_i

Although the effect of H_2O_2 -induced acidosis is well documented, it is not clear whether peroxynitrite, which is one of the major free radicals generated during reperfusion, also causes intracellular acidosis. It has been shown that peroxynitrite stimulates glycolysis during reperfusion⁴. It is therefore reasonable to assume that peroxynitrite can induce intracellular acidosis and subsequently stimulate NHE1. This may contribute to its detrimental effects on the recovery of cardiac function and efficiency. Since free radicals play important roles in ischemia and reperfusion injury and it appears that H_2O_2 and peroxynitrite may affect cardiac pH_i by different mechanisms, it would be interesting to investigate how they affect cardiac energy metabolism and recovery of pH_i during reperfusion.

Bibliography

- 1.Prokopczuk EK, Nordberg JA, Li HL, Engler RL, Gottlieb RA. Effect of vacuolar proton ATPase on pH_i, Ca²⁺, and apoptosis in neonatal cardiomyocytes during metabolic inhibition/recovery. *Circ Res* 1998;82:1139-1144.
- Goss GG, Woodside M, Wakabayashi S and Grinstein S. ATP-dependence of NHE-1, the ubiquitous isoform of the Na⁺/H⁺, antiporter. Analysis of phosphorylation and subcellular localization. *J Biol Chem* 1994;269:8741-8748.
- Demaurex N, Romanek RR, Orlowski J, Grinstein S. ATP dependence of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange: Nucleotide specificity and assessment of the role of phospholipids. *J Gen Physiol* 1997;109:117-128.
- Schulz R, Dodge KL, Lopaschuk GD and Clanachan AS. Peroxynitrite impairs cardiac contractile function by decreasing cardiac efficiency. *Am J Physiol* 1996;272: H1212-H1219.